# **University of Lynchburg**

# Digital Showcase @ University of Lynchburg

**Graduate Dissertations and Theses** 

Winter 12-2020

# Peeling Back the Layers - Perceptions of Parents of Urban **Elementary Students**

Kellie Scruggs Baldwin

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalshowcase.lynchburg.edu/etd



# PEELING BACK THE LAYERS-PERCEPTIONS OF PARENTS OF URBAN ELEMENTARY STUDENTS

## A Dissertation

## Presented to

The Faculty of the University of Lynchburg



In Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree
Doctor of Education (Ed. D.)

by

Kellie Baldwin, Ed. S.

December 2020

# University of Lynchburg Lynchburg, Virginia

## APPROVAL OF THE DISSERTATION

This dissertation- Peeling Back the Layers- Perceptions of Parents has been approved by the Ed. D. Faculty of the University of Lynchburg in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Ed. D. degree.

Mary Ann Mayhew		
Name of Chair		
Jeanna & Cash		
Committee Member Name		
John Walker		
Committee Member Name		
	December 9, 2020	_ Date

## DEDICATION

This manuscript is dedicated, in loving memory, to my dad, J. Wayne Scruggs, who encouraged the advancement of my education.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The dissertation process has been a challenging journey with many ups and downs. I want to express appreciation to those individuals that helped me to make this dream possible.

Above all else, thank you Jesus for your love, gifts, and blessings in my life. I am thankful for the opportunity to explore my passions! Your word gave me hope on days in which I felt hopeless. Romans 12:12 (NIV) "Be joyful in hope, patient in affliction, faithful in prayer."

Thank you for the valuable time, guidance, and wisdom provided by my dissertation committee. Dr. Mary Ann Mayhew, committee chair, we first crossed paths during Santa Cruz Mentoring. Thank you for allowing me to complete this research under your leadership. Dr. Deanne Cash, committee member, this paper started in your class. I appreciate your support and guidance throughout the process. Dr. John Walker, committee member and my former high school principal, thank you for your professionalism and critical eye as you reminded me I have survived, thrived, and arrived (finally)!

To my participants: Thank you for your time and for opening up to share part of your lives with me- without you- there would be no study!

Thank you, Mom, for your encouragement and love with every dream and goal I have set since I was a child! I appreciate you staying up late just to make sure I made it home safely after long evenings of classwork or writing!

To my husband, Trey, thank you for your love and commitment to me and our family. Without your support and nagging I still would be working on this document. We had to give up many evenings and weekends to meet this goal but it is SO worth it!

To my kiddos, I have pursued my educational goals for about 20 years, longer than most of you have been alive. I am finally finished with course work...I think! Tristen, thank you for the Monday night chats after many hours at the University of Lynchburg. Sierra, your loving spirit and own perseverance encouraged me to stay the course. Jessa, thank you for helping your dad out with meals, laundry, and the household duties during my absence. Lilianna, you always protected my writing time while encouraging your siblings to "Be quiet, Mom is working." Isabella, my little mother hen, your spunky spirit kept the family in line! Kaden, I appreciate your hugs and humor throughout my long days and nights at the computer.

To my Aunt Joan, Tim, and Veronica, thank you for being understanding when college work took priority over family time! Thank you Monroe for calling me Dr.

Baldwin just to remind me that one day this dream would be a reality!

Thank you to the many colleagues that checked in to see how things were going with the dissertation process. Dr. Jordan, I appreciate your summer biweekly check-ins that helped to keep me motivated. Dr. Smith, thank you for your friendship and support with Temi, Dedoose, and the last leg of the journey. Mr. Jones, I appreciate the

encouragement and your reminder "It's your season!" Ms. Maass, your thoughtful and consistent prayers for me are appreciated!

Finally, Susan, Tracy, Ben and Cohort 3, thank you for thoughtful discussions, encouragement, laughter, friendship, food, and FUN. You all rock!!

Education is the most powerful weapon which you can use to change the world.
-Nelson Mandela

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	xiii
CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION	14
Background of the Problem	15
Statement of the Problem	17
Rationale	19
Research Problem	20
Significance of the Study	21
Definitions of Terms.	21
CHAPTER TWO LITERATURE REVIEW	25
Relationships	26
Parent Involvement.	27
Parents as Partners	32
Lack of Parent Support and Student Success	34

	Reasons for Lack of Parental Involvement	35
	Implications for Lack of Parental Involvement.	37
	Poverty	38
	Effects of Poverty on Children	40
	Importance of Early Reading Development	43
	Interventions for Increased Parent Support	.45
	Teacher/Parent Collaboration.	45
	Home Visits	46
	Family Literacy Program	48
	Discussion.	49
СН	APTER THREE METHODOLOGY	52
	Qualitative Study	52
	Phenomenology	.53
	Research Question	.55
	Setting	55
	Participant/Data Collection	.56
	Data Analysis	.58
	Limitations.	59

Conclusion
CHAPTER FOUR RESULTS61
Emergent Theme 4: Transmitting Values
Exhaustive Description96
CHAPTER FIVE DISCUSSION
Review of the Problem100
Research Question
Relationship to the Literature
Findings112
Recommendations for Practice
Limitations of the Study116
Conclusion
REFERENCES
APPENDICES
Appendix A: Letter to the Superintendent
Appendix B: Letter to the Housing Manager132
Appendix C: Letter to the XXX Development Center Manager
Appendix D: Email Message to Participant

Appendix E: Interview Questions and Probing Stems for Participants	.135
Appendix F: Informed Consent Agreement (In Person)	.137
Appendix G: Informed Consent Agreement (Zoom)	.139
Appendix H: Significant Statements	.142
Appendix I: Development of Clusters and Emergent Themes	.170

# LIST OF TABLES

	Page
1.	Table 1: Participant Demographic Information
2.	Table 2: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Time Constraints
3.	Table 3: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Self-Determination64
4.	Table 4: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Positive Influence
5.	Table 5: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Transmitting Values72
6.	Table 6: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Parent Partners81
7.	Table 7: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Disengaged Caregiver86
8.	Table 8: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Adverse Situations89

#### CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION

Our society is fast paced and individuals continually battle the clock to manage the many tasks, activities, and goals of the day. Gone are the days where the father was the breadwinner and the mother the homemaker. In today's society many families struggle to pay the expenses that accumulate over the month. In addition, education has changed dramatically over the past fifty years and students are expected to come to school with many of the skills that were historically taught in kindergarten. Many students enter school being technology savvy and full of energy, but lack many foundational, social, emotional, and academic skills to begin school with success.

Educating the next generation of doctors, lawyers, electricians, and store clerks is a challenging, yet rewarding endeavor. When coupled with the obstacles of poverty and what can appear to be the lack of academic parental support, children can get caught in a web of insufficiencies. However, the opportunities garnered from a rigorous academic education can be life changing for students.

Currently, the poverty rate exceeds 20% within a city in Central Virginia (United States Census Bureau, 2013) that is the subject of this study. Many of the city's students suffer from the challenges that poverty places on this community and those who reside in it. Children raised in low-income families are at risk of academic struggles, social problems, and poor health which can interfere with educational growth and success (Engle, & Black, 2008). Students with weak social skills struggle to conform to the structures of their classrooms. Poor health leads to a child's inability to focus and attendance issues. According to Ryan, Fauth, and Brooks-Gunn (2006), "growing up in poverty can seriously compromise a young child's readiness to enter school and her performance thereafter" (p. 329). If a student enters school in the fall unprepared, he or she is at a disadvantage from the beginning of the school year.

Students who have an adult involved in their academic studies tend to achieve at higher levels. According to Larocque, Kleiman, and Darling (2011) an "increased level of parental involvement in schools and in the education of their children is positively correlated with increasing educational achievement" (p.115). Parents are a vital ingredient in the recipe for success in the classroom and are essential to bridging the home and school. El Nokali, Bachman, and Votruba-Drzal (2010) found "parent involvement bridges two key contexts in children's early development, namely, the home and the school settings" (p. 989). As the rigor of the state standards continues to rise, now more than ever, parent involvement within the educational arena is needed. When students experience the benefits of a solid education and parental involvement, success is accelerated.

Chapter One provides an introduction to the study, explains the purpose of the study and provides definitions to relevant terms.

### **Background of the Problem**

According to the U.S. Department of Education (2015), "In 2013, the percentage of American public and private 4th-grade students performing at or above the *Basic* reading achievement level (68 percent) was not measurably different from the percentage in 2011 but was higher than the percentage in 1992 (62 percent)" (p. 1). This data shows that 32 percent of 4<sup>th</sup> grade students have below basic reading abilities. This data indicates that many of the students are unable to read and this impacts all areas of academic growth. Many students throughout Virginia school divisions struggle to proficiently master the Virginia Standards of Learning tests (SOL), lack basic life skills, and struggle to maintain emotional and social norms. As a result, many of these students are deficient in their overall ability to enter the workforce career ready. Many students in an identified urban school division in Central Virginia lack basic reading and math skills, educational competencies, acquisition of skills, basic life skills, and

principles including self-respect, persistence, and perseverance. According to the Virginia

Department of Education data (2016), an urban school district within Central Virginia is below
the state average for on time graduation. The division had approximately 86% of all students
graduate on time in 2016 with only 80% on time graduation for black students (Virginia

Department of Education, 2016). This is below the Virginia state average of 91% for all students
and 88% for black students (Virginia Department of Education, 2016). Many students are not
leaving high school ready for college or career success. Although the schools work hard to
provide additional opportunities and interventions within the school day as well as outside of the
school day, many students still fall below the expectations academically, emotionally, and
socially. It is a daily struggle for many students to demonstrate proficiency in the area of reading
or other core subjects.

Also, many students have low parent support due to various factors. The U.S.

Department of Education (2015) notes that only 67 percent of American public and private students had an adult in the household who checked to ensure student's homework was completed. This is one area of concern in regards to parent involvement and academic support. When coupled with the deficits some students may have in reading and other academic areas such as mathematics the probability of academic success is further reduced. A child's elementary school years, grades pre kindergarten to fifth grade, is a critical time for parents to develop structures, routines, and relationships in regards to education.

The foundational building blocks are established in the early elementary school years and parent support and parental academic involvement are key. The work conducted by Leithwood and Patrician (2015) note that the educational culture of the home directly influences the social and intellectual success of students. The study describes educational culture as "parenting style,"

parental expectations for children's work at school, direct instructional support for school learning (e.g., parents reading with their children at home), active parent interest in the school's curriculum, and the monitoring of children's engagement with school work" (Leithwood, & Patrician, 2015, p. 665).

Students that experience consistency with home school routines typically have a more successful educational experience. Additionally, Epstein (2010) notes "families reinforce the importance of school, homework, and activities that build student skills and feelings of success" (p. 83). When children see the value of education at home with their families and within the school community education may become important to the child. According to El Nokali, Bachman, and Votruba-Drzal (2010), "parent involvement typically involves parents' behaviors in home and school settings meant to support their children's educational progress" (p. 989). The benefits of parent involvement on the school, students, teachers, and parents are clear but, there is uncertainty as to why schools are not more successful at engaging many urban parents in low socioeconomic schools.

#### **Statement of the Problem**

Children living in poverty often struggle with the academic skills needed to be successful in school. According to Ryan, Fauth, and Brooks-Gunn (2006), "growing up in poverty can seriously compromise a young child's readiness to enter school and her performance thereafter" (p. 329). Children of poverty experience challenges from the moment they walk in the school door due to lack of experience with language, literacy, routines, and the formalities of the educational school day. Children raised in low-income families are at risk of academic struggles, social problems, and poor health which can interfere with educational growth and success (Engle, & Black, 2008). Many times parents' decisions unknowingly drive these challenges. Several factors can increase the student's probability of educational success for children

including having access to preschool, literacy exposure, and beneficial, frequent, conversations with adults.

Family background and a parent's prior educational experiences can also have an impact on student success. According to Egalite (2016), better educated parents are more likely to consider the area's schools when selecting where to reside, participating in school activities and conferences, and reading to their child than less educated parents. Brooks-Gunn and Duncan (1997) note "children living below the poverty threshold are 1.3 times as likely as nonpoor children to experience learning disabilities and developmental delays" (p. 61). Often parents are unaware of the challenges and deficits that their child may present and early interventions are not put in place to support the child or identify the child within the special education process.

Community outreach programs and formal preschool programs can be an effective way to provide children with the support needed to ensure that each student enters kindergarten ready to learn.

Once children are enrolled in school, parent teacher communication is essential in advancing the student's knowledge. According to Minke and Anderson (2005), "trusting, respectful relationships among teachers and families appear to be the foundation of successful interventions" (p.184). Unfortunately, for children of poverty, many parents and teachers fail to maintain a relationship that enhances the educational process for the child. This is a critical component of the educational process, one that cannot be ignored. The impact that a teacher and parent relationship can have on a student's growth over the course of a year is immeasurable.

Positive teacher and family relationships can benefit the learning environment.

According to James Comer (1995), "No significant learning occurs without a significant relationship". Without a strong sense of understanding and meaning within the classroom,

students often do not put forth the effort needed to succeed. "The first step in developing significant relationships with students is to interact with students to get to know them both academically and personally" (Edwards & Edick, 2013, p. 3). In order to best meet the needs of the student, the teacher must extend this meaningful relationship to the family. Comer (2005) notes "It is the positive relationships and sense of belonging that a good school culture provides that give these children the comfort, confidence, competence, and motivation to learn." (p. 758). Once parents truly believe that educators care about their child and their family they may better engage in the school community. "If children see that their parents have a great relationship with their teachers, there's a level of respect and a bond that develops for everyone" (Martucci, Dealey, Chase, Miller, & Lopez, 2016 p. 54). Children often model the behaviors of their parents. If students notice that the teacher and their parents have a positive working relationship more willing behaviors may be noted in the classroom.

#### Rationale

At the time of the study the researcher was an administrator at an urban elementary school in Central Virginia. The elementary school enrolled approximately 380 PreK-5 neighborhood students or students zoned for the school according to their address. Of these students, more than 63% were considered economically disadvantaged or at-risk. Many of the students struggled with the challenges of poverty and their parents often worked multiple jobs to make ends meet. In addition to the students that were zoned for the school, the school was home to many division-wide programs. The division wide programs included students in three special education classrooms and a program for students with gifted abilities. During the 2017-18 school year, many of the at-risk students struggled to meet grade-level expectations with reading and math skills at the specific elementary school. According to the school's SOL data, 46% of the students from the surrounding neighborhood failed to meet the state expectations for reading.

In addition, 47% of these students fell below the state expectations for math. Although instructional practices in the classrooms are differentiated often, behavioral challenges present roadblocks for learning in the classroom. School data also noted a lack of parent attendance at conferences. During the 2017-18 and 2018-19 school years' fall parent-teacher conferences, approximately 70 parents attended from the identified an urban elementary school in Central Virginia. The 2017-18 Back-to-School Night had poor neighborhood attendance with only 32 K-5 parents attending and this number dropped to 27 for the 2018-19 school year. The local Parent Teacher Organization (PTO) struggled with parent attendance at meetings as well. Monthly meetings averaged well under 15 parents, including the 12 PTO officers for the 2017-18 school year and eight PTO officers for the 2018-19 school year. The lack of parent involvement and attendance at these events was problematic at the identified urban elementary school in Central Virginia.

The purpose of this study was to determine the educational experiences of an identified urban elementary school in Central Virginia parents (similar to the researcher's school's parents) as lived through their own experience and how these educational experiences determine their academic parent involvement for their child. By examining parents' educational experiences, educational professionals may be able to bridge the home and school communities and determine support needed to aid families in educating children.

#### **Research Problem**

The purpose of this study was to determine the educational experiences of parents as lived through their own experience and how these educational experiences determine their academic parent involvement for their child. Utilizing a phenomenological approach, the research question was explored. The research question was:

From parents' perceptions, what dynamics determine educational parent support for urban elementary school children?

The study determined common themes by gaining insights of the lived educational experience of parents.

### Significance of the Study

This study provided additional research and information related to the elementary education field. The study was valuable to the teachers and administrators within an urban elementary school where poverty often places educational challenges on the students and their families. The parents were given voice by having the opportunity to share their lived experiences. This study provided common themes to more fully showcase how parents perceived educational opportunities. With the knowledge gained from this study the educational professionals may be able to build bridges by better understanding parents' educational experiences. By peeling back the layers of parents' perceptions, educators may be able to gain an understanding of parent perceptions thus leading to strengthened relationships with our most vital partner, the parent.

#### **Definitions of Terms**

The study explored the perceptions of parents based on their lived educational experiences. In order to ensure understanding throughout the study, several terms were defined to ensure clarity.

- 1. *Parent-* Parent refers to the main caregiver of the child. This could be mother, father, guardian, foster parent, grandmother, grandfather, or another relative.
- 2. *Poverty* Poverty is "the extent to which an individual does without resources" (Payne, 2005, p.7).

- 3. Parent involvement- Parental involvement refers "to the amount of participation a parent has when it comes to schooling and her child's life" (Ireland, 2014, p.1), "parent involvement typically involves parents' behaviors in home and school settings meant to support their children's educational progress", "parent involvement bridges two key contexts in children's early development, namely, the home and the school settings" (El Nokali, Bachman & Votruba-Drzal, 2010, p. 989).
- 4. Academic success- Academic success is composed of "academic achievement, satisfaction, acquisition of skills and competencies, persistence, attainment of learning objectives, and career success" (York, Gibson, & Rankin, 2015, p. 9).
- 5. Standards of Learning (SOL)- Virginia Department of Education notes the "expectations for student learning and success" (Virginia Department of Education, 2019).
- 6. *Home-school relationship-* Teachers and parent "partners share joint responsibilities and rights, are seen as equals, and can jointly contribute to the process" of educating the student (Vosler-Hunter, 1989).
- 7. *COVID-19 Pandemic* Coronavirus (COVID-19) is an illness caused by a virus that can spread from person to person and symptoms can range from mild (or no symptoms) to severe illness. The illness impacted the world beginning in late 2019. At the time of this research study, very little information was available about the illness and there was no vaccine available to prevent the spread of the illness (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, n.d.).
- 8. *Class Dojo* Class Dojo is a two way communication platform that allows teachers, students, and families to share photos, videos, and messages (Class Dojo, Inc., n.d).

Parent involvement and poverty are key factors in determining academic success. Students who have an adult involved in their academic studies tend to achieve at higher levels. An increased level of parental involvement in schools and in the education of children is positively correlated (Larocque, Kleiman, & Darling, 2011). Parents are a vital ingredient in the recipe for success in the classroom. Many teachers appreciate a positive working relationship with a student's family. El Nokali, Bachman, and Votruba-Drzal (2010) found "parent involvement bridges two key contexts in children's early development, namely, the home and the school settings" (p. 989). Students that experience consistency with home school routines typically have a more successful educational experience. Additionally, Epstein (2010) notes "families reinforce the importance of school, homework, and activities that build student skills and feelings of success" (p. 83). Simple family conversations that encourage academic interest and high school expectations can motivate a child's willingness to work hard in class. When students are not equipped with solid parental support the possibility of failure may arise.

According to Devaney and Milstein (1998), "school failure may increase among children at risk who lack parental involvement" (p. 131). Students may show a disinterest in education if their parents do not show an interest in learning or school activities. Finally, poverty can challenge the hopes and dreams of many young students. According to Ryan, Fauth, and Brooks-Gunn (2006), "growing up in poverty can seriously compromise a young child's readiness to enter school and her performance thereafter" (p. 329). The community of poverty breeds many challenges which place undue stress on young students and their educational aspirations. Children that grow up in poverty experience risks in their homes and community, family stress and illnesses, limited resources and lack psychosocial stimulation (Engle & Black, 2008). Poverty does not have to be a barrier for students' academic opportunities. Parental

involvement and support of schooling can bolster a child's interest and motivation in academic tasks.

## **Chapter Summary**

Chapter One provided an introduction to the study, explained the purpose of the study, and provided definitions to relevant terms. By peeling back the layers of parents' perceptions, the educational professionals may be able to gain an understanding of parent perceptions thus leading to strengthened relationships with our most vital partner, the parent.

#### CHAPTER TWO LITERATURE REVIEW

The purpose of this chapter was to review the literature related to teacher/student and teacher/parent relationships, parent involvement, the impacts of poverty on children, their families, and overall child development. This chapter examined the importance of literacy awareness and interventions for increased parent support.

Parental involvement is an essential element of the educational process. Parents are the child's first teacher and vital to the home-school partnership. One of the first academic foundational blocks cultivated by many parents is literacy. Children that are spoken to and read to early in life typically develop language skills necessary for reading later in their youth. This skill can be fostered by a parent long before the child ever reaches the school doors. Since parents are a necessary and preferred partner in education, it is important to review interventions and to examine ways to promote and bridge the gap between home and school. The literature review section was categorized in the following manner: relationships, parent support and student success, strategies to encourage parental support, lack of parent support and student success, reasons for the lack of parental involvement, implications for the lack of parental involvement, the impacts of poverty on children, their families, and overall child development, importance of early reading development, parent school relationships, and interventions for increased parent support.

Within the research, there were gaps noted in understanding the perceptions of parents' educational experiences. This was a critical component and was explored to better understand the situation at the school that was the subject of this research. Since there were similarities in educational patterns and parental involvement with the researcher's school and the school of study, this study allowed for a deeper understanding of the home school partnership.

Additionally, this research study provided information to contribute to the body of research currently available for urban education.

### Relationships

Building positive relationships within the school building is a critical component of educating students. Within the school community many relationships are valuable and essential to the education of students. These relationships include those between the teacher and student and those between the teacher and the parent.

A positive teacher-student relationship can be powerful within the classroom setting. A research study conducted in a large, public elementary school within a southeast metropolitan area examined 61 at risk African-American students in grades three through five (Baker, 1999). The study focused on examining teacher-student interactions and relationships of students with high and low satisfaction with school (Baker, 1999). Students participated in semi-structured interviews and self-reported questionnaires. Additionally, academic observations were conducted by trained research students. According to Baker (1999), "results suggested that perceptions of a caring, supportive relationship with a teacher and a positive classroom environment were related to school satisfaction by as early as third grade" (p. 57).

The teacher-parent relationship is an important aspect to examine when looking to improve parent involvement. Santiago, Garbacz, Beattie, and Moore (2016) conducted a study to determine the influence of demographic variables on parent trust, student behavior, and parent involvement for elementary students. Participants in the study included 212 parents of kindergarten through fourth grade children enrolled in the Pacific Northwest region of the United States (Santiago, Garbacz, Beattie, & Moore, 2016). Forty-seven percent of the participants were eligible for free or reduced-price lunch (Santiago, Garbacz, Beattie, & Moore, 2016). The participants were surveyed using two scales, Family School Relationship Survey and Parent

Trust in Schools Scale, to measure parent trust. According to Santiago, Garbacz, Beattie, and Moore (2016), "A student's eligibility for free or reduced-price lunch significantly predicted a decrease in parent trust in their child's teacher and their child's school" (p. 1012). Additionally, higher levels of parent teacher trust and parent school trust were associated with decreased peer conflicts and decreased total difficulties. Finally, "higher levels of parent trust in teachers significantly predicted increased parent educational involvement" (Santiago, Garbacz, Beattie, & Moore, 2016, p.1013).

#### **Parent Involvement**

Parents and caregivers have a unique role in the educational process. Parents have the opportunity to begin learning the personalities of their children when they are born. Kalb and van Ours (2014) found "parents can play an important role in the development of reading skills and cognitive skills of their children by reading to them at a young age" (p. 20). Parents and caregivers know first-hand their child's likes, dislikes, strengths, and weaknesses. When caregivers support their child's educational needs the likelihood of academic success is increased. Parent involvement in the early school years may continue to promote school success in later years (Miedel & Reynolds, 2000). Miedel and Reynolds conducted an inner-city longitudinal study investigating the association of early parent involvement and children's later school competence. Their study included 704 participants and concluded that early parental involvement in prekindergarten and kindergarten activities resulted in higher reading achievement, lower retention rates, and fewer years in special education up to age 14 (2000).

Parent support is vital to the student's academic growth and success. In essence, a parent's willingness to provide encouragement, help, and understanding throughout the educational process can boost school attendance, promote homework completion, and create a drive within the student to be successful. According to Matuszny, Banda, and Coleman (2007),

Parent involvement has a positive effect on: student achievement, students' educational aspirations, the length of time students stay in school, teachers' perceived efficacy of their own teaching habits, teacher's perception of parent effectiveness, parents' rating of schools, parents' ambition to increase or improve their own educational training, parents' own perceived efficacy about their parenting skills, students' drive to increase their independence (p. 25). The benefits of parent involvement for the school, students, teachers, and parents are clear. According to El Nokali, Bachman, and Votruba-Drzal (2010), "parent involvement typically involves parents' behaviors in home and school settings meant to support their children's educational progress" (p. 989). As the classroom instruction and state mandates increase in rigor, parents need to support student learning now more than ever. Many school children lack sufficient foundational social, emotional, and academic skills to be successful. Minke and Anderson (2005) note "collaboration approaches also emphasize the importance of empowerment, which builds the capacity of families to serve as life-long advocates for their children" (p. 182). When parents invest in their children's education, the children feel pushed to succeed.

Gonzalez-DeHass, Willems, and Doan Holbein (2005) found "students whose parents are involved are more likely to take personal responsibility for their learning" (p. 117). Gonzalez-DeHass, Willems, and Doan Holbein conducted a literature review on 13 research studies focusing on parent involvement and K-12 student motivation. These studies examined various populations including elementary, middle, and high school students, and elementary teachers. After examining these studies, it was determined that "when parents are involved, students report more effort, concentration, and attention" (Gonzalez-DeHass, Willems, & Doan Holbein, 2005, p. 117). Additionally, this study noted, "when parents show an interest in their child's education

by getting involved, students adopt a mastery goal orientation to learning where they are more likely to seek challenging tasks, persist through academic challenges, and experience satisfaction in their schoolwork" (Gonzalez-DeHass, Willems, & Doan Holbein, 2005, p. 118).

An increased level of parental involvement in schools and in the education of children is positively correlated (Larocque, Kleiman, & Darling, 2011). When parents become involved in the process of educating their child academic learning experiences are enhanced. Parents and caregivers create a culture of collaborative partnerships when they work together (Larocque, Kleiman, & Darling, 2011). Schools cannot educate children on their own. Parents are an essential and valued part of the team. Families, community groups, and educators all play a role in the success of the students (Larocque, Kleiman, & Darling, 2011). In addition, regardless of the background or income, students with involved parents earn higher grades and test scores, pass their classes, have better school attendance, show improved behavior and social skills, graduate high school, and continue their education (Henderson & Mapp, 2002).

Jeynes (2005) conducted a meta-analysis of 41 studies examining the relationship between parental involvement and the academic achievement of urban elementary school children. The study examined the following components: general parental involvement, specific parent involvement, communication, homework, parent expectations, the parent's ability to read, attendance and participation, and parenting style (Jeynes, 2005). After reviewing the studies Jeynes (2005) noted that the "results indicate a significant relationship between parental involvement overall and academic achievement" (p. 237). Jeynes notes this relationship held firm for males, females, white, and minority students (2005). According to Jeynes (2005), "nearly all of the individual components of parental involvement were positively and significantly related to educational outcomes" (p. 261).

Parent involvement or support within the context of education can be defined in various ways. El Nokali, Bachman, and Votruba-Drzal (2010) note "parent involvement bridges two key contexts in children's early development, namely, the home and the school settings" (p. 989). Students that have parent support typically come to school with the needed supplies, have materials ready for the day, complete homework, and have an ongoing parent and student conversations about the daily school routines and happenings.

According to Epstein (2010) there are six types of involvement: "parenting, communicating, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, and collaborating with community" (p. 85). These types of involvement impact the partnership of parents, teachers, and schools in significant ways. Parenting is the process of schools helping families with their parenting skills by providing child development information to support children as learners (Epstein, n.d). Children of poverty often lack a support system at home to model expected outcomes and behaviors. Some ways the schools may assist with parenting are to guide parents in creating home routines to support the learner, provide families with information on grade level topics, and connect families with health and nutrition programs (Epstein, n.d).

Communication between the home and school community is essential to building relationships and providing support for academic success. Two-way communication between home and school promotes parent involvement. Communicating is the design of effective school-to-home and home-to-school dialogue in relation to the student's progress or school programming (Epstein, n.d). When teachers and parents communicate on a regular basis a team-like approach is developed and this can be effective in reaching the struggling student. Parents can engage in effective communication systems by reading and discussing school newsletters,

attending parent-teacher conferences, or reviewing their child's weekly work folder (Epstein, n.d).

Another area of involvement includes volunteering. Volunteering is the recruitment of, and exercise of, parent help and support for the school (Epstein, n.d). Both teachers and administration encourage this involvement by enlisting classroom volunteers or the use of parent talents or skills (Epstein, n.d). Volunteering allows parents to see first-hand the opportunities within the school provided to support student learning. Oftentimes, parents develop school relationships through volunteering which enhances the educational setting. It is important to note that for children of poverty, volunteering can be problematic, as oftentimes the parent struggles to make this commitment to the school due to family obligations or work, educational inadequacies, or a lack of transportation (Trotman, 2001).

The final type of parent involvement explored by Epstein is collaborating with community. By collaborating with the community, resources and services are integrated to strengthen the school programming (Epstein, n.d). Through collaboration, parents can be connected to community resources that may aid the overall family or their child's specific needs. Some types of resources available in the community may include food pantries, counseling services, mentoring services, and support groups for parents of students with challenging behaviors or disabilities. Epstein (2010) found "when parents, teachers, students, and others view one another as partners in education, a caring community forms around students and begins its work" (p. 82). Once a foundational relationship is built between the parent and teacher, the parent can be more abreast of strategies to guide their children through the educational process. El Nokali, Bachman, and Votruba-Drzal (2010) note an example of this "if parents are aware of teacher's instructional goals, they may provide resources and support for those learning aims at

home" (p. 989). Families will gain insights that will enable them to advocate for the best practices for their child. Knowledge is a powerful tool that can be utilized to maximize growth.

#### **Parents as Partners**

There are numerous ways to build, enhance, and foster working relationships with parents. Students will perform to the best of their abilities academically and behaviorally when they attend school regularly and when they receive regular support from their parents or guardians (Trotman, 2001). Michelle Trotman's study of African-Americans' parental involvement provided information on the importance of parental involvement as well as the factors that contribute to the lack of parent involvement. Trotman notes that "parents can no longer be ignored" (2017, p. 282). They are a vital piece to the puzzle and the school community must put in the effort to better understand the parents within the school community. African American parents are very interested in their children and their academic success but situational barriers often establish roadblocks. According to Trotman (2017), "Teachers and administrators must also realize that several barriers contribute to the low level of involvement of urban parents (e.g. family structure/socio economic status; parents' work schedule, educational level; and the expectations of administrators and teachers)- all of which can be overcome" (p. 282). Intentional practices and routines must be established to ensure children receive a solid educational future.

By utilizing various approaches to parent involvement, the needs of most parents and primary caregivers will be met. Devaney and Milstein (1998) state "it is important that the school be viewed by the community as a friendly and positive place where all are welcomed and valued" (p. 138). A program created at Park Early Childhood Center in Ossining, New York aimed to "encourage the families of at-risk youngsters to become involved with the teaching and clinical staff to actively participate in their children's education" (Devaney & Milstein, 1998,

p.131). The community of Ossining is a multicultural, diverse socioeconomic suburban community with a high percentage of at-risk children being raised in single parent families. These families struggle with many obstacles including poverty, joblessness, domestic violence, and chemical dependence (Devaney & Milstein, 1998). The Kids + Family + School = Success program had three goals: to create a welcoming environment for families, encourage parent confidence, and enhance the positive parenting skills (Devaney & Milstein, 1998). The program included an academic workshop, dinner, babysitting services, and a session with the school social worker. Following program completion, parents expressed a positive experience and the teachers concluded that the program met its goals and families were more connected to the school (Devaney & Milstein, 1998).

A few practical ideas to increase parent involvement with academics include but are not limited to hosting a Back to School Night with an opportunity to learn more about volunteer opportunities and organizing workshops driven to aid parents and primary caregivers in building educational skills. Many times, educators utilize strategies vastly different from a parent's own educational experience. When workshops are provided to teach the parents educational strategies, parents' anxieties are reduced. This breaks down a barrier which may impact parent involvement. According to Epstein (2010), "families reinforce the importance of school, homework, and activities that build student skills and feelings of success" (p. 83). When parents and the educational community collaborate all stakeholders benefit. Bryk and Schneider (2003) explain, "Effective urban schools need teachers who not only know their students well but also have an empathetic understanding of their parents' situations and the interpersonal skills needed to engage adults effectively" (p. 44). Relationship development within the school community is a process that must be carefully cultivated. Trotman (2017) notes ways to increase the presence

of urban African-American parents within the school community: establish rapport and develop a history with the family, give parents authority, ask parents about their interests, ask parents to spread the word about activities at the school, allow parents to be teaching partners, and refrain from judging parents.

Providing parents with information and tools to aid in homework and school related curriculum encourages learning at home (Epstein, n.d). By modeling parent engagement activities with their child, parents can replicate the activities and foster a sense of learning throughout life, not just within the school building. Decision making is a vital part of parent involvement. Including parents in decision making within the school community validates the importance of the parents in the educational partnership as leaders and representatives (Epstein, n.d.). After-school functions with family engagement opportunities can provide parents with instructional tips to better inform parents of meaningful instructional practices. Parents of poverty may find this environment less intimidating since their child is actively part of this process.

## **Lack of Parent Support and Student Success**

In education the involvement of parents varies by student. Some parents are actively involved within the school on a weekly, biweekly, or monthly basis. Other parents are rarely, if ever, seen within the four walls of the school building. Teachers and building administrators have the challenging job of ensuring that the parents are welcomed and involved in various aspects of their child's education. When parents are not available or do not make education a priority there can be difficulties. Englund, Luckner, Whaley, and Egeland (2004) note that "Parent involvement is an important predictor of children's achievement in school" (p.723). According to Devaney and Milstein (1998), "school failure may increase among children at risk who lack parental involvement" (p. 131). The lack of parental involvement and educational

awareness hinders a child's academic progress. While some parents are not involved within the school setting due to family obligations or work, others may be embarrassed by their lack of education or simply do not have a means of transportation to engage in school functions (Trotman, 2001). In order to combat challenges like these teachers need to promote relational trust by recognizing parents' vulnerabilities and reach out to support them (Bryk & Schnider, 2003). Pena (2000) notes that "parents' limited education and personal difficulties with the school lead to fear and mistrust" (p. 4). This compounds the situation and creates a tainted parent teacher relationship.

A challenge facing educators in today's schools is the academically uninvolved parent.

Academically uninvolved parents are parents that rarely, if ever, participate in school activities, support educational initiatives, or conferences. These parents also do not provide guidance with homework nor do they ensure that school assignments are completed. Communications with teachers or other personnel at the school is extremely limited and for some parents the communication is nonexistent. The lack of involvement is costly in the educational arena.

#### **Reasons for Lack of Parental Involvement**

The reasons for uninvolved parents within the school setting vary. Some parents do not believe they have the educational background to successfully aid their child. Many parents are aware of their academic inadequacies and stay away from the school (Trotman, 2001).

According to Minke and Anderson (2005), "some families' attempts to comply with demands from the school to help with homework resulted in increased conflict between parents and children or embarrassment when parents themselves did not know how to do the homework" (p.181). When this happens, parents often determine that engaging in school activities or any school involvement is not worth the challenges or the additional stresses that homework brings.

In addition to this, some parents remember the difficulties they faced as a student. Whether the difficulties were due to low grades or a learning disability, poor behavior, friendship issues or bullying, the pain still is present. Williams and Sanchez (2012) state "negative interactions with school personnel and negative experiences during childhood also serve as potential barriers to parent involvement" (p. 629). The challenges that were experienced during their educational process prevents many parents from engaging in school activities.

Another reason parents may be unsupportive in the school setting is due to the lack of time or energy. According to Kalenkoski and Hamrick (2013), "time poverty is defined as not having enough discretionary time" (p. 89). People in general do not have the time to engage in the tasks needed. Individuals are faced with different discretionary time constraints based on life circumstances and life choices (Kalenkoski & Hamrick, 2013). Some of these circumstances include marriage, birth of a child, and employment. According to Williams and Sanchez (2012), "low income parents may experience *time poverty*" (p. 629). This time poverty impacts the educational setting as well. Parents struggle with balancing time to provide the educational support needed for their children because of time constraints. Parents that work multiple jobs or inconsistent schedules do not have the time for family dinners, consistent bedtimes, or routine homework structures (Egalite, 2016). Thus, the ongoing daily demands of life, multiple jobs, or late shifts may prevent parents from engaging with the school or school related tasks like homework. Parents do not have time to embark on the additional time challenges placed on them from the educational arena (Trotman, 2001).

A further concern noted regarding parental involvement is financially based. Many uninvolved parents have financial situations that prevent them from being actively involved in their child's education. Many times, parents from low-income neighborhoods lack access to the

financial and educational resources that middle-class individuals have access to (William & Sanchez, 2012). A child born in the bottom 20% of family incomes is ten times more likely to stay there than a child in the top 20% is of falling to the bottom 20% (Greenstone, et. al., 2013). Additionally, the financial issues are compounded by the lack of knowledge regarding the educational process. According to LaRocque, Kleiman, and Darling (2011), "For some families competing factors such as employment issues, whereby they have hourly jobs with inadequate health insurance and other benefits, thus not allowing them to participate in the amount and in the ways that their counterparts that have salaried, more stable employment can" (p. 116). Regardless of the reasons, these barriers can leave parents that want to participate in their child's education feeling hopeless, inadequate, and reluctant to be involved.

# **Implications for Lack of Parental Involvement**

When parents are not involved with the educational process of their child there can be negative implications. Oftentimes, children will suffer from the disconnection between home and school. In many cases, homework is not completed on time, preparation for tests, quizzes, or projects is nonexistent, and ongoing parent/teacher communication is lacking. This prevents the student from arriving to class each day ready to learn. Without the preparation needed to get ready for the daily instruction, the student falls behind peers in the class. In some cases, children may suffer with behavioral and developmental problems (Engle & Black, 2008). These children often lack the socio-emotional skills needed to regulate their behaviors in an appropriate manner. Over time, this can lead to withdrawn behaviors or behaviors of avoidance due to the classwork being too difficult for the student to complete successfully.

Without the support needed to be successful in school, some students drop out of high school. High-school dropouts are 63 times more likely to be incarcerated than those that complete high school (Breslow, 2012). Incarcerated individuals pose a concern for society for

many reasons. For example, in the Commonwealth of Virginia, on average, incarcerated individuals cost the Virginia taxpayers \$748,642 each year (Henrichson & Delaney, 2012). This is approximately \$25,129 per inmate annually (Henrichson & Delaney, 2012). People who are incarcerated experience problems of financial instability and severed family relationships.

Wakefield and Garcia-Hallett (2017) note "incarceration weakens families and causes mental and physical health problems in the partners and children left behind" (p. 12). The children of incarcerated parents experience difficulties in school including behavioral concerns.

"School-age children of incarcerated parents exhibit school-related problems and problems with peer relationships" (Parke & Clarke-Stewart, 2002, p. 5). According to Wakefield and Garcia-Hallett (2017), "Paternal incarceration is harmful for children's wellbeing, mental health, behavioral problems, levels of aggression, risks of homelessness, and school readiness and performance" (p. 6). When a male is removed from the home setting due to incarceration, children, often, lack a positive male influence and this impacts the future educational trajectory for many young students. Additionally, incarnation removes a wage earner from the home lowering the household income level (Egalite, 2016). This places another burden on the financial stability of the family which often leads to poverty.

# **Poverty**

Poverty is "the extent to which an individual does without resources" (Payne, 2005, p. 7). These resources include: financial, emotional, mental, spiritual, physical, support systems, relationships/role models, and the knowledge of hidden rules (Payne, 2005). There are two types of poverty which impact the lives of individuals, generational poverty and situational poverty. According to Ruby Payne (2005), "generational poverty is defined as being in poverty for two generations or longer" and "situational poverty is a shorter time and is caused by circumstance (i.e., death, illness, divorce etc.)" (p. 3).

According to Paul Gorksi (2008), "There is no such thing as a culture of poverty.

Differences in values and behaviors among poor people are just as great as those between poor and wealthy people" (p. 3). Often time's poverty is misunderstood and myths are assumed.

These myths include statements describing those in poverty as lacking positive work ethics, low parent involvement due to a lack of value in education, and a tendency of those in poverty to abuse drugs and alcohol (Gorski, 2008). Gorski (2008) argues that classism is a problem for society. In order for our society to move forward, individuals must make a commitment to have the best educational opportunities for all students including higher order pedagogies, innovative learning opportunities, and all-inclusive teaching and learning (Gorski, 2008).

Poverty may result from a number of factors. Many individuals are born into poverty and remain in poverty their entire lives. Others experience poverty for a short time period due to a situation or event that caused a strain or burden on their lives. People stay in poverty because they do not realize that there is an alternative and/or they lack the resources needed to move out of poverty. According to Payne (2005), "the ability to leave poverty is more dependent upon other resources than it is upon financial resources" (p. 8). Living in poverty does not mean that you only lack financially. Individuals in poverty often lack a positive role model to follow, are burdened by a physical condition, or lack the knowledge of the unspoken culture in a particular place (Payne, 2005).

Low educational attainment of individuals also causes many people to remain in poverty. Douglas-Hall and Chau (2007) note "higher education is one of the most effective ways that parents can raise their families' incomes" (p. 1). Even with a full-time job, families of poverty struggle to make ends meet. From 1986 to 2006, the percent of children in low-income families increased from 65% to 73% for families where parents had less than a high school diploma. As

families grow in size it becomes more difficult for a parent to obtain a General Education

Diploma (GED) or further their educational careers. Poverty is far reaching and affects families
and children in numerous ways.

# **Effects of Poverty on Children**

The impacts of poverty are numerous and affect the individual's or family's life in significant ways. According to Ryan, Fauth, and Brooks-Gunn (2006), "growing up in poverty can seriously compromise a young child's readiness to enter school and her performance thereafter" (p. 329). Children that grow up in poverty lack educational resources: computers, books, and games that enhance learning at a young age. Additionally, these children may not be provided the opportunities of visiting museums, libraries, or performances that promote educational themes.

Children that grow up in poverty also lack the daily benefits of quality conversations with adults within the home and exposure to literature in the home. According to Payne, Whitehurst, & Angell (1994), "there are substantial differences among low-income families in literacy environment and that these differences have strong effects on children's language development." (p. 438). Children that engage in meaningful, two-way conversations show growth in language skills which transfer to reading readiness. Fernald, Marchman, and Weisleder (2013) conducted a longitudinal research study with 48 English learning infants and concluded that "significant disparities in vocabulary and language processing efficiency were already evident at 18 months between infants from higher- and lower-SES families, and by 24 months there was a 6-month gap between SES groups in processing skills critical to language development" (p. 234).

In addition to this, children that are raised in poverty lack foundational building blocks, which hinders growth in reading development. According to Brown (2014), "most children follow a similar pattern and sequence of reading behaviors as they learn how to read: from

appreciation for and awareness of print to phonological and phonemic awareness to phonics and word recognition" (p. 35). Students, having mastered the foundational skills, are able to comprehend and understand what is read. By mastering reading skills, children can begin to develop high-level cognitive skills necessary to be successful members of society. By establishing strong reading skills, students are able to attack other subject areas with confidence.

Poverty impacts the academic growth and overall health of children due to the many challenges faced, which may include a lack of community resources, lack of nutritious meals, and the stress of day to day living. Violence, conflict, and social unrest also impact those in poverty (Engle & Black, 2008). These challenges adversely affect the child. A family's income and poverty status are meaningful elements of the cognitive development and behavior of children (Duncan, Brooks-Gunn, & Klebanov, 1994). Notably at school, behavioral issues dramatically affect the learning process for the student. These behavior challenges may be exhibited in the classroom in the form of failure to follow directions, inattention, aggression, avoidance, and withdrawal. According to Moore, Redd, Burkhauser, Kassim Mbwana, and Collins (2009), "Children in poverty have a greater risk of displaying behavior and emotional problems, such as disobedience, impulsiveness, and difficulty getting along with peers" (p. 1). Oftentimes, behavioral supports or medication have few effects on these extreme behaviors due to the lack of routine medication administration, or the absence of structural routines for behavioral management. Lack of focus within the classroom results in the poor skill acquisition and clarity of the content presented. Ackerman and Brown (2006) note their research indicates, "family instability and change in environmental circumstances predict increases in problem behaviors" (p. 123). Children of poverty are often transient and their family dynamics may

change often. Many children struggle to maintain appropriate behaviors as a result of significant changes in their lives.

Once students enter school behind their peers, they typically remain behind throughout their educational careers. The student's deficits become more apparent as the student advances in grades and the gap widens (Engle & Black p. 2008). Some gaps include language processing and vocabulary development, sight word and word attack skills, and social and emotional development. Since schooling can be a struggle for many students in poverty, they feel the added stress of education. Students of poverty have increased attendance problems, teen pregnancy rates, and school dropout rates. Education is the most powerful tool for helping students of poverty rise (Greenstone, et. al., 2013). Without a positive educational experience and successful high school completion, the cycle of poverty often continues for the next generation. Potential dropouts can be predicted as early as first grade and identified with accuracy by third grade (Sparks, 2013; American Psychological Association, 2012). The importance of a positive start to a child's educational career is immeasurable. Children that grow up in poverty experience risks in their homes and community, family stress and illnesses, limited resources and lack psychosocial stimulation (Engle & Black, 2008). One area that impacts children of poverty's academic success is the lack of early literacy exposure.

The following analysis was conducted using the U.S. Census Current Population Survey (CPS) data from October 2007 through October 2008. The data that was analyzed focused on households in poverty. The study reviewed the National Center for Educational Statistics, which included the Common Core of Data, noting the graduation rates. According to Baydu, Kaplan, and Bayar (2013), "while poverty rates increase, graduation rates decrease" (p. 235). Further,

"we conclude that there is a statistically significant relationship between graduation rates and poverty rates in the United States (p<0.05)" (Baydu, Kaplan, & Bayar, 2013, p. 235).

## **Importance of Early Reading Development**

Early exposure to literature can have a lasting impact on a student academically. Research studies note the importance of early reading-skills instruction and the positive impact that this exposure has on children (Butuktaskapu, 2012). Students of poverty often lack opportunities, exposure, and resources related to literature. Although students learn to read at various paces, being exposed to conversational speech, oral storytelling, nursery rhymes, and print materials aid in the development of early reading skills. According to Brown (2014), "learning to read is a developmental process" (p. 35). Reading development includes print concepts, phonological awareness, phonics, word recognition, and fluency. Print concepts refer to how text is organized: left to right and top to bottom. Additionally, the concept of print includes the understanding that letters create words and words are separated by spaces. Brown (2014) found "phonological awareness is the ability to recognize that words are made up of a variety of sound units" (p. 40). Once students have developed this concept then phonics skills begin to emerge. Cheung and Slavin (2013) state "learning to read is a complex task in which many things must go right for a student to become a successful, strategic, and motivated reader" (p. 278). It is important for young children to be afforded the opportunities to establish strong oral language skills prior to entering kindergarten.

According to Brown (2014), "phonics, the understanding that sounds and print letters are connected, is the first step towards conventional reading" (p. 40). Next, children begin to recognize high-frequency words in isolation and in text. These words are often referred to as sight words. After students master basic sight words, it allows for less effort on decoding words and more focus on the comprehension of text. As students practice reading material, fluency

develops. Fluency is a link between decoding and comprehension (Brown, 2014). The process of reading does not come easy to all children. It is advantageous for parents to begin this long journey early in a child's life in order for the child to have maximum success.

Children begin to develop early reading skills at a young age. These skills continue to be fostered as the students are exposed to various types of text. Parents can provide children with literacy support by sharing in dialogue or discussions about the literature (DeBruin-Parecki, 2009). While it is important to read to children, children raised in poverty lack resources like books and other print materials. Additionally, parents or caregivers may have limited literacy awareness. According to Kalb and van Ours (2014) for children, reading is an "early-life intervention that seems to be beneficial for the rest of their lives" (p. 21). The effects of reading to small children can have lasting effects on reading growth, academic success, and future careers. Kalb and van Ours (2014) found "reading to children at age 4-5 frequently has significant positive effects on the reading skills and cognitive skills of children at least up to an age of 10-11" (p. 21). It is apparent that long before children take their first steps into the elementary school setting, initial instruction for young children begins in the home with the first teacher, the parent. Students that are not reading proficiently by third grade are four times more likely to leave school without a diploma when compared to proficient readers (Fiester, 2010). Jumpstart (2009) notes, "The sad truth is that the vast majority of children who start behind, stay behind, leading to an increase in our nation's dropout rate among low-income and minority students" (p. 6). Although it is important to foster these foundational skills so children will be ready for the challenges of elementary school, many families in poverty are unable to meet this need for their child due to roadblocks including the lack of language development opportunities and literacy resources.

### **Interventions for Increased Parent Support**

Parent support is vital in order for students to achieve the success each deserves in the academic setting. For parents living in poverty, accessing and developing meaningful relationships with school personnel can be challenging. Schools must be creative in determining and implementing practices and interventions, which increase parent involvement within the educational process. Examples of successful interventions include but are not limited to effective teacher/parent collaboration, school family partnerships, and family literacy programs.

#### **Teacher/Parent Collaboration**

Typically, parent teacher collaboration is strongest at the elementary-school level and the relationships taper off as the student progresses to middle school and finally high school (Dervarics & O'Brien, 2009). This, however, is not the case with every child. The society of fast-paced living where extracurricular sports or activities, social media, and multiple jobs plaque everyday life and create challenges for parent involvement. When this is coupled with the added demands of the household, which include, providing meals, doing laundry, attending appointments, and child rearing the challenges become greater. Educational needs and academic attention often fail to get the consideration needed. According to Collay (2013), "Communication with parents is essential in teachers' efforts to make sense of students' lives within and beyond the classroom" (p. 74).

Usually, school traditions such as traditional fundraising or PTO meetings limit collaboration between the parents and the teacher but this does not have to be the norm (Collay, 2013). Several measures can be put in place to start building a collaborative relationship among teachers and parents. Student registration at the school or within the student's community is an avenue to begin welcoming parents and foster a community of inclusion. Teachers and parents need to commit to and implement a two-way mode of communication throughout the school

year. According to Graham-Clay (2005), "Conversations may occur during telephone calls, home visits, parent-teacher conferences, open houses, and various school-based community activities" (p. 118). Determining the most meaningful and appropriate mode of communication will involve a discussion with the parent. Teachers and parents need to determine a means for interactions throughout the school year. Some ideas include joining the parent teacher organization, volunteering to read a book to the class, signing up to have lunch with the child, volunteering during class pictures or book fair, or attending a class field trip, or celebration. Technology can provide an avenue to communicate effectively (Graham-Clay, 2005). Teachers and school personnel need to establish strong family relationships. Comer (1995) notes "No significant learning occurs without a significant relationship". This could be achieved by school staff volunteering in the students' neighborhoods or connecting with students and families outside of school like a sporting event. Possibly, teachers could provide a story time, science experiment, or activity at a community center near the child's home.

#### **Home Visits**

Building meaningful relationships with parents does not have to stop at the school door. Home visits can provide teachers with meaningful information about the student's living conditions and avenues for building relationships with families. According to Kronholz (2016), "Montessori pioneered the idea to smooth first-day-of-school jitters for toddlers, and Head Start has long used home visits to teach parenting skills to young mothers." (p.18). Home visits enable teachers to see the students, their parents, and families in a different light. Teachers that take the extra time to make home visits demonstrate to the students and parents that they truly care about the student (Meyer, Mann, & Becker, 2011). The visits allow the teacher to have a better sense of what the child experiences on a day to day basis. This added insight allows the teacher to empathize with conditions outside of the child's control. The home visits may allow

teachers to have a better understanding of a child's behavior (Meyer, Mann, & Becker, 2011). By conducting a home visit, teachers may become aware of conditions within the home that resources can be provided to address the lack of heating, shortage of food, or the absence of clean clothing.

A longitudinal study was conducted with 556 low-income children in one urban and two rural counties in Pennsylvania (Bierman, Heinrichs, Welsh, Nix, & Gest, 2017). The study compared the results of the typical Head Start Program to the Research based Developmentally Informed Program (REDI) which included home visits (Bierman, Heinrichs, Welsh, Nix, & Gest, 2017). The results of the study noted that the home-visit intervention produced benefits for mental health and cognitive skills (Bierman, Heinrichs, Welsh, Nix, & Gest, 2017). According to Bierman, Heinrichs, Welsh, Nix, and Gest (2017), "enriching Head Start classroom and home visiting programs with evidence-based curriculum components in the key areas of social-emotional and language literacy skills can produce complementary and sustained benefits for children" (p. 138). These findings also indicate the need for both classroom-learning and home-learning environments for low-income children (Bierman, Heinrichs, Welsh, Nix, & Gest, 2017).

A study was conducted at John Hopkins University in 2013-14 to determine links between performance and Flamboyan's Family Engagement Partnership. The Flamboyan's Family Engagement Partnership (FEP) aims to "develop the capacity of educators to partner effectively with families so that children succeed" (Flamboyan Foundation, 2018, p. 1). The Family Engagement Partnership Student Outcome Evaluation study, conducted by the John Hopkins University School of Education, included 4,000 students in 12 D.C. public elementary schools. Within this study 2,469 students received a home visit while 2,239 students did not receive a home visit. The study concluded students whose families received a home visit had 24

percent fewer absences than similar students whose families did not receive a visit. Further, those having home visits were more likely to read at or above grade level compared to students who did not receive a home visit (Flamboyan Foundation, 2018, p.1). Home visits can provide an avenue to connect with parents and families in a personal way where positive relationships can be fostered.

# **Family Literacy Program**

Another tactic to help struggling students is the use of family literacy programs. Often, community volunteers can be of help to children that are struggling with reading concepts. Parents can make a meaningful difference with a child's reading success. With the appropriate training, these community volunteers are able to provide guidance and a listening ear to children that are struggling with reading skills. According to DeBruin-Parecki (2009), "it is not only the frequency with which a parent reads to a child that affects the child's success; what that parent does during shared reading and how he or she mediates the shared text is also important" (p. 386). Inviting the parents to be a part of literacy activities at the school can provide an avenue to model reading practices and strategies.

Dearing, Kreider, Simpkins, and Weiss (2006) conducted a longitudinal study with 281 low-income, ethnically-diverse children from kindergarten through fifth grade. The study explored the relationship between parent involvement and literacy acquisition. At the conclusion of the study, the researchers found strong evidence for the value of parent involvement and literacy performance. Dearing, Kreider, Simpkins, and Weiss (2006) note "the present study adds to increasing evidence that family involvement in school among low-income families may be most likely to improve the achievement of children who are at exceptional risk for academic failure because of both low income and low-parent education" (p.661). Family-school relationships are meaningful to the educational process for children.

In an after-school literacy program, a mixed method research study was conducted at a public school in a rural farming area with 22 diverse families, living in poverty, with children aged three to five years (DeBruin-Parecki, 2009). The ages of the adult parents or guardians in the study ranged from 16-83 years with educational levels varying from fourth grade to some community-college experience (DeBruin-Parecki, 2009). The eight-week interactive after-school reading sessions with parent/child groups included transportation, childcare, a nutritious meal, supplies, and a book. The program was focused around the research-based behaviors of the Adult/Child Interactive Reading Inventory or ACIRI (DeBruin-Parecki, 2009). Following the ACIRI behaviors, strategies were taught to participants and then practiced during each weekly session. Utilizing a pretest and posttest assessment of ACIRI behaviors, significant improvements were noted at .01 for both parents and children (DeBruin-Parecki, 2009). A parent's presence in the educational arena can be meaningful and beneficial.

#### **Discussion**

A review of the literature documented that children benefit from environments where education is acknowledged and appreciated. According to Vance (2015), "school organizational systems and belief structures may serve to support or hamper individual achievement" (p. 2). Ongoing oral communication is fostered in young children through two-way communication in the home and school settings. Kalb and van Ours (2014) found that "parents can play an important role in the development of reading skills and cognitive skills of their children by reading to them at a young age" (p. 20). Currently, many students are not yet meeting the established benchmarks or state requirements for basic abilities. Students that fall behind their peers academically may face many challenges throughout their various stages of life. Parent involvement in the early school years may continue to promote school success in later years (Miedel & Reynolds, 2000). Engaging parents in the educational process is critical. The

development of a positive relationship between the home and school can foster community. These relationships are valuable and essential to the education of students. According to Baker (1999), "results suggested that perceptions of a caring, supportive relationship with a teacher and a positive classroom environment were related to school satisfaction by as early as third grade" (p. 57). A parent's connection to the classroom is immeasurable "higher levels of parent trust in teachers significantly predicted increased parent educational involvement" (Santiago, Garbacz, Beattie, & Moore, 2016, p. 1013).

Many parents are not involved with schools due to the ongoing daily demands of life, multiple jobs, and or late work shifts that may prevent parents from engaging with the school or school related tasks like homework. Parents do not have time to embark on the additional time challenges placed on them from the educational arena (Trotman, 2001). When parents are not involved, students may begin to struggle. Devaney and Milstein (1998) explain "school failure may increase among children at risk who lack parental involvement" (p. 131.) Students that struggle academically may drop out of high school. High-school dropouts are costly to society. Individuals that dropout of school many times repeat the cycle of poverty.

Poverty impacts the academic growth and overall health of children due to the many challenges faced, which may include a lack of community resources, lack of nutritious meals, and the stress of day to day living. Violence, conflict, and social unrest impact those in poverty (Engle & Black, 2008). Low educational attainment of individuals also causes many people to remain in poverty. Douglas-Hall and Chau (2007) note "higher education is one of the most effective ways that parents can raise their families' incomes" (p.1).

Early exposure to literature can have lasting impacts on a student academically. Research studies note the importance of early reading skills instruction and the positive impact that this

exposure has on children (Butuktaskapu, 2012). Teachers and school personnel need to establish strong family relationships. Comer (1995) notes "No significant learning occurs without a significant relationship". Teachers and school personnel must learn more about the families they serve and partner with parents to bridge the home school community. According to Kronholz (2016), "Montessori pioneered the idea to smooth first-day-of-school jitters for toddlers, and Head Start has long used home visits to teach parenting skills to young mothers" (p. 18). Home visits enable teachers to see the students, their parents, and families in a different light.

Parents are a child's first teacher and with guidance and help these adults are able to provide support and a listening ear to children that are struggling with reading skills. According to DeBruin-Parecki (2009), "it is not only the frequency with which a parent reads to a child that affects the child's success; what that parent does during shared reading and how he or she mediates the shared text is also important" (p. 386).

# **Chapter Summary**

Chapter Two provided a review of literature which indicated that research is missing about primary caregiver's perceptions of what factors determine parental involvement for urban elementary school children in a subsidized housing development in Central Virginia.

Practitioners often experience helplessness when trying to aid students with low at home support. The rationale for this study is to provide information to promote changes in the practices at the urban elementary school.

### CHAPTER THREE METHODOLOGY

The literature review revealed gaps in the research and contributed to the need for additional research on the topic of parent involvement and perceptions of home-school relationships. Educators need to more successfully bridge and partner with the parent in the educational process. It is important to gain a better understanding of parents' feelings in relation to education. Much of the research indicated reasons many parents of low socio-economic status in urban schools are uninvolved with their child's academics due to poverty, lack of educational resources, lack of the educational understanding on how to help, and lack of time. Research was needed on the lived experiences of parents or caregivers living in a subsidized housing complex in Central Virginia and how their prior experiences affected the involvement they had with their elementary aged students. An overall gap in the research was evident in the area of parent voice in relation to their educational background and how this transferred to their support as a parent of an elementary aged child. As a building administrator, it was important to capture the lived experiences of the parents with similar backgrounds to the researcher's students. During this study, the researcher gathered data to better meet parents' perceptions and needs on the parent/school continuum. The rationale for this study was to gain data to better support families with their child's academic needs and to create a firm bridge between parents and the school.

### **Qualitative Study**

This phenomenological qualitative descriptive study explored the educational perceptions of parents and how their lived experiences determined their involvement with their elementary age child. Qualitative research is designed to dive into the spirit of the topic and aims to discover meaning from an experience (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2016). This research approach was selected to give a voice to the participants and gain an understanding of their story. This approach enabled parents to articulate their past lived educational experience in a

nonthreatening, neutral setting allowing a flow of personal information. This method peeled back the layers of parents' perspectives in relation to education. It was important to gain a clear understanding of where parents were and their perceptions of the school and teachers. The rationale for this study was to gain data to improve practices to better bridge the school community and parents and allow for relationships to be strengthened and for parent involvement to improve.

Schools are constantly trying to improve student success across all academic areas. This is evident by the school improvement plans required by the Virginia Department of Education. Parents are a vital piece to these efforts. Parental support of the educational arena is essential to the student's academic growth and success. In essence, a parent's willingness to provide encouragement, help, and understanding throughout the educational process can boost school attendance, promote homework completion, and create a drive within the student to be successful. Gonzalez-DeHass, Willems, and Doan Holbein (2005) found "students whose parents are involved are more likely to take personal responsibility for their learning" (p. 117). This research study allowed parents to tell their story of education and how their journey laid the framework for their involvement in their own child's education. The rationale for this study was to gain data and improve practices to meet parents where they were in regards to their feelings and needs to create a bridge in the educational process.

# Phenomenology

The phenomenological qualitative descriptive study explored the lived experiences of parents and how this influenced parental academic involvement of their elementary age child's academics. According to Rudestam and Newton (2015), "a phenomenological study usually involves identifying and locating participants who have experienced or are experiencing the phenomenon that is being explored" (p. 123). Phenomenology dates back to Plato, Socrates, and

Aristotle. This type of study flourished in the early twentieth century when influenced by German philosopher, Edmund Husserl (Shosha, 2012). According to Shosha (2012), "Husserl aimed to establish a rigorous and unbiased approach that appears to arrive at an essential understanding of human consciousness and experience" (p. 1). The researcher systematically described the events and experiences of the parents in this study.

The purpose of this type of study is to provide as much clear insight to the phenomenon being examined to ensure that a robust view of the issue is obtained (Cole, 2016). The researcher studied a population within a subsidized housing development and purposefully selected participants that had children attending an urban elementary school in Central Virginia. The research included six parents from a subsidized apartment complex in an urban area of Central Virginia. This sample population was selected because the students were at risk and a better understanding of the current parental involvement was needed. With a better understanding of the participants' situation, informed decisions to promote better relationships and meaningful parent engagement were developed. The research utilized maximum variation heterogeneous purposive sampling. Heterogeneous purposive sampling allows the researcher to use judgment to select participants with diverse characteristics within the population (Cole, 2016). Additionally, the researcher worked to have diversity within this sample in relation to gender, ethnicity, and marital status. The researcher visited the community and engaged in conversations with residents to secure interest.

A phenomenological approach was utilized for this study to give the participants voice and allowed for each to explain their lived experience as it relates to their personal educational experience. According to Smith (2013) phenomenology "leads into analyses of conditions of the possibility of intentionality, condition skills and habits, background and social practices, and

often language, with its special place in human affairs" (p. 5). By gaining insight and understanding of the phenomenon of each parent's lived educational experience, clarity was gained on their practices in relation to their own elementary aged children. This information was utilized to establish practices to better bridge the school community and parents and allow for relationships to be strengthened and for parent involvement to improve.

#### **Research Question**

The research question was:

From parents' perceptions, what dynamics determine educational parent support for urban elementary school children?

The purpose of this study was to determine the educational experiences of parents as lived through their own experience and how these experiences determined their academic parent involvement for their child. The rationale for this study was to gain data and establish practices to better meet parents where they were in relation to the home-school partnership. The study aimed to provide professional educators with information to cultivate opportunities that support each parent's needs in relation to fostering a positive home and school relationship.

### Setting

The participants for this study met two criteria: each resided in the specific urban subsidized housing development and each was the parent of a student attending an urban elementary school in Central Virginia. For the purpose of this study, a parent was defined as the main caregiver of the child this included mother, father, guardian, foster parent, grandmother, grandfather, or another relative. While the backgrounds of each individual varied, they had two commonalities: each lived in an urban subsidized housing area and each had a child that attended an elementary school in the urban school division. This population of parents were of particular interest to the researcher and relevant to the study because the parents in this community have

similar demographic indicators as parents of students that attended the researcher's urban elementary school. Many of the students within this community struggled academically. This particular population was a critical factor in the overall academic school success. As information was analyzed following the interviews, practices were identified to bridge the school community and family.

# Participant/Data Collection

The participants in the study were six parents of elementary school students residing in a subsidized housing development in an urban area of Central Virginia. Maximum variation heterogeneous purposive sampling was utilized to provide a diverse range of cases relevant to a particular phenomenon. Parents were selected for the study based on the following criteria: resident of the local subsidized housing development and parent of elementary aged student in the specific urban school district in Central Virginia. The researcher included African Americans, male, female, married but separated, and single participants in the study in order to have a diverse population. Individual semi-structured Zoom interviews were conducted utilizing loosely structured open-ended questions and probes (Appendix F). Two pilot interviews were conducted with parents from another school within the division.

Prior to seeking out participants, permission to conduct the study was obtained from the superintendent of the local school district (Appendix A). Additionally, permission was obtained from the housing manager and the neighborhood development center's owner (Appendix B and C). Once permission was granted, all of the interviews and one pilot study interview took place by way of Zoom. One of the pilot study interviews was conducted at the neighborhood community center prior to the COVID-19 Pandemic. The participants were provided an electronic copy of the consent form which was signed prior to the start of the interview (Appendix G and H). Participants voluntarily participated in the research study. Once consent

was obtained, the participants talked freely and told their story using their own words, thoughts, and feelings. Each of the participants was given a \$50.00 Walmart gift card in exchange for their time for the interview. The two pilot interviewees were also provided a \$50.00 Walmart gift card. In order for the participants to remain anonymous pseudonyms or common nouns were utilized for information including school names and staff member's names mentioned by the participants and participant's places of work. The six interviews were audio recorded and transcribed by Temi, an audio to text transcription service. Once the interviews were transcribed the researcher reviewed the recording and the transcription to ensure accuracy. Participants were provided an electronic copy of the transcription to ensure it was accurate. Each of the participants were given a \$50.00 Walmart gift card in exchange for their time. The document was reviewed to ensure that the researcher was accurate in obtaining the participant's voice. The demographic information of each participant is noted in Table 1.

**Table 1: Participant Demographic Information** 

Participant Pseudonym	Gender	Race	Age Range	Marital Status	Employment Status	Time at Residence	Level of Educational Completion
James	Male	Black	43-47	Single	Unemployed	14 months	GED
Deborah	Female	Black	28-32	Single	Unemployed	2 years	High School
Tonya	Female	Black	43-47	Separated	Unemployed	6 years	High School
Samantha	Female	Black	28-32	Single	Employed (2 jobs)	6 years	GED/Post-Secondary Career Technical Training
Kelsi	Female	Black	33-37	Separated	Employed	3 years	GED
Wanda	Female	Black	33-37	Single	Employed	3 years	GED

## **Data Analysis**

Once the interviews were transcribed the researcher began the coding process. The researcher utilized the Colaizzi (1978) method of data analysis to code the transcripts. According to Sanders (2003), the Colaizzi method for phenomenological data analysis includes several steps: 1) Read and reread each transcription. Gain a full understanding of each participant. 2) For each transcript, extract specific statements that pertain to the phenomenon. List each separately with the line number and page number. 3) Determine the general meanings from the listed statements. 4) Sort each statement into a category or clusters of themes. 5) Describe the findings of the phenomenon using thick descriptions. 6) Reduce to an essential structure by describing the fundamental structure of the phenomenon. 7) Member check with participants to ensure that the findings are accurate and in line with their lived experience. The researcher coded the transcriptions utilizing the online software Dedoose. This software allowed for qualitative data analysis. Additionally, the program provided a forum to organize the vast amounts of data collected from the six interviews. Finally, the written thematic summary was presented to the individual participant for member checking. Participant readability was not a problem during the interview process so the thematic summary was electronically shared with the participant. Each participant was given an opportunity to review the summary and express any discrepancies. This enabled each participant to ensure that the descriptions gained during the interview accurately reflected the feelings and views held by the participant. Bracketing was utilized by the researcher to acknowledge preconceptions related to the research. This process was necessary to account for situational awareness from the researcher as a parent and building administrator. Tufford and Newman (2010) note that bracketing is the "process whereby the researcher draws awareness to presuppositions regarding the topic" (p.88).

#### Limitations

The purpose of this study was fully explained to each participant. This study was limited to one population of parents of students within a specific urban subsidized housing community. While the characteristics and themes generated in the study may be reflective of other urban populations this cannot be assumed. The study was limited to six parents of one specific living community therefore the transferability to other populations cannot be assumed. Since the researcher served as a building administrator within the school division being studied and may be known to some of the transient students, some parents may have found this concerning and may have withheld valuable information during the Zoom interviews.

Other limitations were this study was conducted by way of Zoom conferencing during the global COVID-19 Pandemic where fears, uncertainties, and anxieties were high. The COVID-19 Pandemic created challenges due to social distancing requirements and University of Lynchburg's suspension of in person interviews in order to maintain student and participant safety. Zoom conferencing did not allow for relational, in person contact with the participants.

At the beginning of each interview session the researcher explained the purpose of the research study and assured the participant that the information obtained from the interview was to improve practices and enhance student learning and success. Additionally, experiences as an administrator and parent may have created bias and limited the researcher's ability to fully remove thoughts, feelings, or beliefs from the study. Every effort was made, by the researcher to acknowledge these thoughts by the use of bracketing. Bracketing was utilized in an effort to remove bias from the study. It is necessary for the researcher to acknowledge preconceptions related to the research.

#### Conclusion

The literature review revealed gaps in relation to the lived experiences of elementary school parents and how their prior lived experiences impacted their practices with their elementary-aged students. The phenomenological qualitative descriptive study explored the educational perceptions of parents and how their lived experiences affects their academic involvement with their elementary-aged child. The study gave a voice to the participants and enabled the researcher to provide meaningful information to the educational setting. The study provided professional educators with information to meet parents where they were on the school continuum. The rationale for this study was to gain data and provide information to other educators in the school division to enable these professionals to cultivate practices to further support parents and students in the educational process and bridge parents and the school.

# **Chapter Summary**

Chapter Three explained the methodology which was used to conduct the research study.

This chapter provided detailed information on the qualitative descriptive study data analysis using Colaizzi's phenomenological method to explain the lived educational experience of parents. Further this chapter detailed the setting, participant confidentiality, and data collection.

#### CHAPTER FOUR RESULTS

Parents are a vital component in the education of elementary aged children. Due to various factors many parents especially those living in poverty are unable to actively participate in the educational process of their children. Some of these reasons include ongoing daily demands of life, multiple jobs, and or late work shifts. Qualitative descriptive methodology was used to study the lived experiences of six parents living in a subsidized housing development in Central Virginia. Zoom conferences with semi-structured questioning stems were used to engage parents in sharing their lived educational experience and aspects of their child's or children's educational experiences.

This study utilized the Colaizzi descriptive phenomenological method to organize and analyze the information obtained from each participant's individual interview. All of the participant's transcriptions were read multiple times. Significant statements were extracted from the transcriptions. Like statements were grouped together and meanings were formulated from the participants' statements. Following the development of 281 formulated meanings, 18 cluster themes were arranged which lead to seven emergent themes. Utilizing the developments from the analysis, the researcher determined a full, inclusive description of the phenomenon. The fundamental structure was shared with each participant for review and validation. This chapter provides the study's results including the formulated meanings, cluster themes, and emergent themes derived from each participant's lived educational experience.

## **Development of Cluster and Emergent Themes**

Following the extensive review of the participant's transcriptions, the significant statements and phrases for the individual participant's transcript were color coded. Dedoose was utilized to further analyze each participant's transcription. Next, 281 formulated meanings (Appendix I) were developed from the significant statements and phrases which lead to 18

cluster themes and seven emergent themes (Appendix J). Using the following tables, seven emergent themes are represented noting the formulated meanings and cluster themes. Tables 2-8 in this chapter represent the seven emergent themes.

The 18 cluster themes were reduced to seven emergent themes: scarcity of time, self-determination, positive influence, transmitting values, parent partners, disengaged caregiver, and adverse situations. The emergent themes were shared focusing on the lived experience of the participant. Excerpts from the participant's transcription showcased each theme.

Table 2 notes the formulated meanings describing the concerns with time and the ability of parents to attend school activities or functions due to work demands. The grouping of the significant statements and formulated meanings lead to the cluster theme: *Time Constraints*.

**Table 2: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Time Constraints** 

Formulated Meanings	Cluster Theme
FM33: Parent expresses challenges with being able to attend school functions due to work. FM34: School activities held during the school day create a barrier for working parents. FM121: Participant noted that some parents are constantly working and do not focus on education. FM211: Participant does not volunteer at the school because her work schedule prevents her from attending school functions during the school hours but she provides needed items as requested by the teacher.	Time Constraints

## **Emergent Theme 1: Scarcity of Time**

Scarcity of time noted that the parents often had to work in order to meet the basic needs of their families. Individuals are faced with different discretionary time constraints based on life circumstances and life choices (Kalenkoski & Hamrick, 2013). Often school events are held during the day or in the evenings when many parents are working. The researcher noticed the scarcity of time when attempting to establish the Zoom interviews. It was difficult for three parents to follow through initially with the agreed upon interview time. It took one month to

connect with one participant who the researcher reached out to and scheduled the interview session with in excess of 8 times. Each time there was an obstacle: a trip, phone was dead, work, family was visiting, and a death of a friend that prevented the interview from happening until finally we connected.

Three parents expressed concerns with scarcity of time.

James described concerns that parents needed to work:

I just think more parents need to be involved in their kid's school, but it's also rough and tough because you know, like, you know, with the economy and things like that nature, you know, sometimes you don't have the time you have to work, you know? P1: L 334-336

# He additionally noted:

You know a lot of things is done with the schools are done during, you know, daytime working hours. So, you know, if you're a daytime work parent it's hard, you know? P1: L 345-346

*Tonya* expressed that parents had to work and did not have the needed time to focus on school work:

Cause a lot of times since I've had kids, my main thing has been to be there for them as far as the education is. You know, you have some households that the parents work, work, work, work, and the kids have lack of education or the parents don't spend [time], they just send them to school. And, you know, they go to school because they

have to. When the education part, when they come home, they're not making sure that their homework is done or, you know, something like that. P3: L 276-281

Due to work, *Kelsi* shared that she could come attend school daytime events:

Well, I don't really like volunteer or anything just because I'm working most of the time,
but I always send stuff when they have class parties or if they need anything specifically.

I always try to send or help out any way that I can. Cause usually when they have
parties, they may ask if you can bring anything or if you're able to volunteer and those
types of things. And if I'm working, then of course I can't be there, but I always try to
send my support some kind of way. P5: L 255-259

Table 3 notes the formulated meanings describing further education and goal setting. The grouping of the significant statements and formulated meanings lead to the cluster theme: *Self-Determination*.

**Table 3: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Self-Determination** 

Formulated Meanings	Cluster Theme
FM115: Parent experienced adverse life experiences which created barriers for her own education advancement. FM117: Participant enrolled in community college to advance her knowledge base but was unable to complete the degree. FM162: Parent continued education at career technical training and education program for young people. FM261: Participant is enrolled in a program that will enable her to graduate. She has wanted to graduate since she stopped attending high school.	Further Education
FM4: Parent dropped out of school, was incarcerated, but pursued GED. FM12: Participant determined when incarcerated he would not return to school so he obtained his GED. FM72: Parent experienced adverse experiences as an adult but persevered and maintained normalcy for children. FM96: Participant established goals for self. FM256: Parent was incarcerated but pursued GED.	Goal Setting

### **Emergent Theme 2: Self-Determination**

Self-determination is defined as "freedom to make your own choices" (Merriam-Webster, 2020). Five parents in the study exhibited self-determination during adverse conditions.

This theme included: further education and goal setting.

*Tonya* shared that she often had life experiences that caused a pause while attaining her educational aspirations. She said:

My mom was diagnosed with ovarian cancer and it was like just a big snowball effect after that. You know, she passed in 2002. I was five months pregnant with my son. I have five kids total. P3: L 236-238

Further she explained her interest in continuing toward this goal. She shared:

I went to school, I went back to a community college in XXX XXX Community College and I started to major in accounting. But I switched over my major to business administration and my minor accounting. But I didn't finish. So I'm looking to go back when everything... I can't do it now but with everything that's been going on. P3: L 259-263

Samantha shared her accomplishment with receiving certification from a career technical school:

And what I did afterwards, cause I went to the XXX XXX as well. P4: L 161

Parents also expressed their desire to create their own goals for their future even when challenges or obstacles were presented in their lives.

James shared that during his incarceration he completed his General Education Diploma, GED. He noted:

I dropped out, got incarcerated and actually got my GED while I was incarcerated. P1: L73-74

Deborah noted that even during trying times she pushed forward. She said:

I've been homeless twice. I did what I was supposed to do as a mom. I still maintained work. I still made sure my kids went to school and daycare. P2: L 214, 224-225

Tonya shared how she had to establish her own goals independently. She shared:

I pretty much had to set my own goals... P3: L 103

While being incarcerated, *Wanda* pursued her General Education Diploma. She stated: I got my GED when I had went to jail in 2010. I started my GED outside and then when I got there, I finished my math. P6: L 248

Table 4 notes the formulated meanings describing positive adult relationships and positive peer relationships. The grouping of the significant statements and formulated meanings lead to the cluster theme: *Positive Influence*.

**Table 4: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Positive Influence** 

Formulated Meanings	Cluster Theme
FM46: Individual relationships are important for student success. FM51: Educators can make a positive impact on a person's life. FM52: Encouragement from an educator is important. FM70: Participant had a positive adult relationship while in high school and could confide in the caring adult. FM101: Participant had a positive adult relationship while in elementary school. FM102: Participant had positive adult relationships while in elementary school. FM103: The adult relationship was meaningful because the parent felt valued. FM105: Participant had a positive adult relationship while in middle school and maintained this relationship	Positive Adult Relationships

for many years. FM110: Parent was motivated by positive adult feedback and supportive comments. FM200: Participant developed a meaningful positive relationship with the principal of the high school whom supported the participant and took a special interest in her. FM201: Participant developed a meaningful positive relationship with the keyboarding teacher in middle school whom cared for the participant and ensured she was on the right track. FM228: Participant had a positive meaningful relationship with her gym teacher who the participant felt was straightforward with the students. FM230: Participant had a positive meaningful relationship with her school counselor whom supported her with her schedule and attendance. FM231: Participant had a positive meaningful relationship with the assistant principal whom participant supported in calming down the participant's brother when he was upset. FM250: Participant bonded with the assistant principal and felt he was supportive of her. FM251: High school coach was positive influence on participant. FM252: High school coach was well loved and pushed participant hard, having a positive influence on her. FM253: High school coach ensured participant was on the right track, having a positive influence. FM254: History teacher created a positive learning environment. FM255: Coach provided a positive message to track team and encouraged participant with conditioning. Also, ensured participant was doing okay at home as well. FM11: Peer relationships during school were important to the participant and

FM11: Peer relationships during school were important to the participant and maintained a positive childhood relationship into adulthood. FM69: Participant had a positive peer relationship while in high school. FM167: Parent had a positive, peer relationship in high school. FM192: Parent feels she did well in school and developed meaningful relationships with peers and maintains some of those relationships currently. FM198: Peer relationships were important to the participant in school. FM232: Participant had a positive start to high school due to peer relationships.

Positive Peer Relationships

### **Emergent Theme 3- Positive Influence**

Positive influence manifested from positive adult relationships and positive peer relationships. During the discussion of positive relationships both adults and peers were noted by several of the participants as being a highlight of their educational experience. Comer (1995) notes "No significant learning occurs without a significant relationship". Healthy relationships had an overall positive impact on the trajectory of the parent. Five participants noted support of a positive adult relationship.

*James* recalled a meaningful relationship with a vice principal that lasted many years following eighth grade. He shared:

I had teachers that I still remember their names from the second grade. I have a vice principal, I still remember from the eighth grade, that's still asking me about, still asked my mother about me 10 and 15 years after I was out of eighth grade. P1: L 474-477

#### James continued:

Yeah, basically that was basically my eighth grade vice principal kind of got to me. Like sat down had a good talk with me. He didn't down me when I was messing up. He didn't try to be like a parent. He just, basically always just told me, Oh, you're smarter than this. You can do better. I know you are, so straighten up. P1: L 482-485

Deborah shared thoughts about her former high school teacher, she noted that the teacher was trustworthy and provided a listening ear during difficult family situations. She said:

Her name was Ms. Wayne. Cause she treated us well, for one, she treated all her students the same. And like, if we needed extra help in certain activities or curriculum.

She helped us. If I had any personal problems at home, I could talk to her. P2: L 192, 196-197, 202

*Tonya* expressed her appreciation for several teachers when she was in elementary school:

One of my favorite teachers, I know for sure her name when I was in fourth grade. Ms.

Sally Vair. I just enjoyed when I got close with my teachers in elementary school. P3: L

119-120

*Tonya* continued to share:

P3: L 143-147

So she was my fourth grade teacher and I was very and my third grade teacher was Ms.

O'Neil and they would, I gravitated to them. P3: L 142-143

*Tonya* added more about the special relationship that she developed with the meaningful teachers. She said:

So what I did enjoy about that was like I could eat lunch with them. Go to the cafeteria and pick up my lunch tray and then go upstairs and eat with them. Just one on one, have some one on one time with them and eat lunch and talk and what the conversations were about that, I don't remember. But I remember those were the times that I did like in school was just having a teacher all to myself without, you know, my other classmates.

Kelsi also had a meaningful positive relationship with an administrator. She expressed: I had a principal at the time, Ms. Samuel. I would say she took a special interest and just was always there for me if I needed anything. That was at XXX High School. P5: L 134-135

Additionally *Kelsi* recalled a supportive middle school teacher:

And I went to XXX Middle [School] and a teacher that stands out there would have to be Ms. Stern. She was a keyboarding teacher and I felt like she just really cared about her students and she went above and beyond just to make sure everybody was on the right track. P5: L 135-138

Wanda was positively impacted by a high school counselor when she experienced difficulties with school attendance. She commented:

Ms. Wyatt, she was the guidance counselor. She always helped when I would miss days or I was having difficulty with my schedule and she did help with that. P6: L 88-90

Wanda added that an assistant principal provided meaningful support. She said:

Dr. Everett, which was the assistant principal. I bonded with him. He was like always supportive of everything I did. He would stay back with me and my friend, Annette, sometimes he'll help us, with our basketball drills or we'll just simply sit back and have a conversation with him, just talk to him. He was always supportive. Say if I was to get in school suspension or something, he would get me up out of it. I'll go sit in his office or he'll give me extra work to do. P6: L 216-220

Wanda shared another positive influence was a beloved coach. She said:

And Coach David Adams. We've actually been knowing him since I was kinda younger, but he always stayed on me when it came to track made sure I was doing the right thing, I was conditioned well. He would give a speech. He would come out of his way to make sure we was okay, making sure we was fine at home, he was always very supportive, no matter wherever we see him at. P6: L 232, 236-239

Five participants spoke of <u>positive peer relationships</u> that were important to the participants' lived educational experience.

James shared:

He's still my best friend. We have been best friends since like, four or five years old. My friend Timothy his kids, I actually call his kids my nieces and nephews right now. P1: L 144, 148-149

Deborah shared a meaningful memory with a special friend:

Well, one of my best friends, I took her to my, I think it was my prom we had a good time.

P2: L 170

Samantha recalled a trustworthy friend from school:

She was like my best friend. We hung out after school. We hung out in school. We could tell each other anything. I will always pick on her because she will always come to my house for snacks. P4: L 200-201

*Kelsi* noted she maintained relationships with several friends from school:

I would probably, just the people that I met and the friends that I made, they stand out the most because a lot of them I'm still in contact with to this day. And a lot of us went from elementary to middle school up to into high school. So I would say that's probably some of the best memories I had was just the friendships I made. But I mean, I have a lot of good memories from school. P5: L120-123

Wanda shared that her positive friendships helped her connect with others and helped her fit in socially. She said:

I loved high school, ninth grade year I had an older cousin already there, older friends.

So it was just like I kind of fitted in. P6: L 107-108

Table 5 notes the formulated meanings describing positive parent support, parent's view of education, shared feelings, and parent educational concerns. The grouping of the significant statements and formulated meanings lead to the cluster theme: *Transmitting Values*.

**Table 5: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Transmitting Values** 

Formulated Meanings	Cluster Theme
FM2: The positive value of education is acknowledged due to parent's background and the parent feels his education was a positive one overall.  FM8: Parent perceived education to be important to his parent and exposed to learning materials in the home. FM10: Participant was raised by a parent that valued education. FM68: Participant's caregiver encouraged school success and participant's parent was knowledgeable of participant's activities and friendships.  FM76: Parents presence plays a vital role in the overall wellbeing of children.  FM89: Parent uses previously learned strategies to support child. FM94:  Participants overall feeling toward personal education is positive and feels her mom provided a stable home life. FM95: Participant had a consistent school and was not transient. FM104: Parent had stable housing for many years. FM118:  Parent took on the role of homeschooling children during COVID-19 pandemic.  FM124: Parent took on the role of teacher during the school shut down due to COVID-19 and exposed her child to chapter books. FM177: Parent supports son by watching educational videos. FM180: Parent participates in educational opportunities as much as possible. FM181: Parent participates in educational opportunities as much as possible. FM186: When not working, parent participated with school even when she had a lack of transportation. FM196: Participant's parents were involved in the participant education and ensured that school work was put first before other things. FM197: Father and older sister were very involved in participant's education and participated minimally. FM212:  Participant attended field day. FM213: Parent supports child with academic work if help is requested by the child.	Positive Parent Support
FM85: Parent values education and wants to see the child graduate and continue education and get a good job. FM120: Participant values a solid education and wants to ensure her children know the value of a solid education. FM126: Parent wants to be involved in every aspect of the child's life including education. Parent values open communication with children. FM134: Parent wants children to graduate from school and pursue a career with a solid financial path. FM135: Parent views school as an extension of the family. FM136: Parent views school as a second family. FM178: Parent feels it is important to be there for the child as much as possible. FM183: Parent wants child to graduate and get all the education he can. FM184: Parent wants school to treat her child as if he was their child. FM217: Parent wants child to do his best in school and focus on learning while in school. FM218: Parent wants child to continue his education at college after	Parent's View of Education

graduating from high school. Parent expresses to the child that if you work hard in school and behave then the child may be awarded a college scholarship. Parent wants child to focus while in school and play and have fun while at home. Parent wants child to go to college after high school. <b>FM219:</b> Parent wants school personnel to do their job and let the parent know if there are any problems and any ways she can help. Parent wants school to keep her child safe and let her know if there are problems. If there are problems parent wants to hear this from the school versus the child. <b>FM220:</b> Parent feels it is important to maintain an open line of communication with the school. <b>FM262:</b> Parent wants to graduate and be a positive role model for children. <b>FM270:</b> Parent wants for the child to do what is needed each day and enjoy elementary school. <b>FM274:</b> Parent expects school personnel to keep kids safe. <b>FM275:</b> Participant wants for there to be two way respect between students/parents and school personnel. <b>FM277:</b> Parent expects school to supervise children and keep them safe.	
FM47: Participant notes you cannot make an individual be involved with their child. It has to be a personal choice. FM50: Educators need to put forth more effort to connect with the students. FM137: Parent notes that some parents are lazy and do not put forth the effort in relation to school support. FM138: Parent feels that schooling will be better for children when discipline and education begin at home. FM139: Participant feels education is a partnership and supportive parenting begins in the home. FM185: Parent indicates that some parents are lazy and others have different reasons for not wanting to participate with the school.	Feelings
FM30: Parent noticed many parents did not focus on education during the school shutdown. FM31: Parent is concerned about the impact COVID-19 will have on the educational progress of children. FM223: Parent expressed concern about the next school year due to the COVID-19 pandemic and she is uncertain of how that is going to pan out. FM264: Parent feels that school can provide better suggestions for parents to support the child. Additionally, positive feedback is needed rather than always providing negative feedback. FM265: Parent feels Chromebooks allow for distractions to children learning content. FM267: Parent has attended a couple of school events but feels that the school often asks for money. The parent feels the school should not ask for money. FM268: Parent has negative feelings toward school and feels there's a lot of negative communication instead of positive communication. FM269: Parent feels communication at the school can be improved. Proactive communication may prevent negative student consequences. FM273: Parent has difficulty trusting school personnel. FM276: Parent feels school personnel's perspective is valued over student's perspective.	Parent Educational Concerns

# **Emergent Theme 4: Transmitting Values**

Although children spend much of their time in the classroom, parents have a distinct role in the education of their child. Parents are one of the major stakeholders that shape the trajectory of their children (Pagano, 2002). The parents' thoughts, feelings, concerns, and actions have an impact on the child. Transmitting values occurs in many ways: conversations, modeling, and

teaching. The following cluster themes: positive parent support, parent's view of education, shared feelings, and parent educational concerns transferred to transmitting values.

James shared positive parent support when he expressed that his mother and stepfather were from a different country and they felt education was important. He said:

My education is pretty good. I was brought up and really believe in education cause my mother is not from this country. P1: L 67-68

He continued to add that he was exposed to learning material at an early age. He said: They were really focused on education. Like I grew up with the encyclopedias in my house, started playing Scrabble, like eight years old, stuff like that. P1: L 114-115

James shared how verbal conversations with his grandson happened often in the home:

Like we basically talk to him like an adult. We don't baby him. We talk to him like an adult. We discipline him when he needs to be disciplined and he's a really good kid. P1:

L 263-265

Deborah explained that her grandmother expected education to come first:

Like my grandma didn't play when it came to homework. She didn't really like, let me hang with a lot of people. That's all. She made sure I did, she made sure I was up to par with my schoolwork. P2: L 147-148

This transferred to the way that *Deborah* supports her children. She said:

I do them like my grandma did me.

So I just teach them what was taught to me. P2: L 397, 399-400

*Tonya* explained her mom provided a stable home life. She said:

So basically the same elementary school I started kindergarten and I finished all the way to sixth grade. And then my high school, 9th to 12th. I finished once I started, so it wasn't a lot of moving around or anything like that. It was like strictly stability that's how I grew up. P3: L 95-98

*Tonya* shared her supportive role during the COVID-19 Pandemic:

It's just been hard because my elementary school kids I've been homeschooling them.

P3: L 263-264

*Tonya* continued:

She's reading, I have her, since they've been out of school and I've been homeschooling them, I've been having her read chapter books. P3: L 335-336

Samantha shared the positive support she provided her child even without reliable transportation she attended school functions when she was not working. She said:

Yeah, cause even before I had a car, if it was a bus or cab, I was still making sure that I could get to school and be a part when I could, if I wasn't working. P4: L 436-437

*Kelsi* explained that her parents supported her education. She said:

They were very involved. They always made me put school first and my parents were the type where you can't go outside until you finished your homework, etc. So they always tried to make sure that I had a good education and that I was doing what I was supposed to be doing while in school. P5: L 103-105

*Kelsi* shared her positive support for her child. She commented:

I did, like, the conferences throughout the year where you come in and then they tell you about your child's progress so far.

But yeah, I've definitely been to just like the conferences and just anything to basically find out my child's progress. I have been to a few of those. P5: L 269-270, 272-273

Examples of the <u>parent's view of education</u> emerged during the interviews.

*Deborah* shared the goals she had for her children:

I want to see them graduate like they supposed to and get a good job. Or if they decided they want to go to college, whatever they want to do. I'm always supporting it. P2: L 363-364

# Tonya shared:

I want them to of course, graduate, finish school move on to further their education and whatever field or profession that they choose to go in and just be successful in life and get a nice paying job, something that they want and not just getting a job because of the money. P3: L 452-454

Samantha noted her hopes for her son. She said:

I mean, he keeps getting all the education that he can, learning new stuff, stuff like that.

Be able to graduate. P4: L 411-412

Kelsi shared her view of education and goals for her child. She commented:

Well, I would like him to go to college being that I didn't go to college directly out of school. I always try to instill in him that if you do good in school and keep your grades up and act accordingly, then it's a possibility that you can have a scholarship and they will pay for you to go to school just off your good grades and good behavior. So I always try to remind him of that. Just while you're in school focus on school, when you're home, then you can play and have fun and be with your friends. But while you're at school, focus on what you need to be doing. It's my goal is for him to finish high school and go on to college. P5: L 314-320

She added her expectations for the school team. She said:

Well, I expect them to definitely do their job and just let me know if there's anything that I can do to help. Well, let me know if there's any problems that they have with my child. And like you say, I entrust them to keep him safe and just make me aware of any incidents, basically. If they know of any problems that are going on, I would prefer to hear from them, as opposed to hearing it from my child. P5: L 333-336

Wanda shared her thoughts regarding the care of her child while at the school. She commented:

Make sure, they either go to breakfast, or make sure they're escorted to the right class. That they're in place, they are visible, that they can see them. And I don't know, just making sure that all the children are safe. P6: L 475-477

Participants shared their <u>feelings</u>. *James* shared his thoughts on the personal decision a parent must make regarding involvement with the child. He said:

I really can't say there's really nothing that you can do to make a person do it if they don't want to do. If they're just there, they have to really want to be parents. They have to really care about their child on their own to be more involved. There's nothing, that nobody could say, nothing that the courts could say, anybody can say to make a parent more involved in their child's life. P1: L 453-456

*Tonya* shared how the school is like a second family. She said:

Basically being a second family, which they have showed me. Like Daughter's teacher, Mrs. Inge. She just went above and beyond and I would thank her, you know until I'm blue in the face. But basically just being a second disciplinary action for them. We're on the same page and everything that I expect and I let them know that I expect for them to do it at home. That's the same thing that I expect for them to do at school. So just having them piggyback.

So that's basically the expectations that I expect for the schools. And everything I'm doing here is done at school and vice versa. P3: L 488-492, 494-495

*Tonya* shared this about her child's school:

To be honest with you, I think they're doing everything in their power that they can do. Like getting to and from school. There's no reason you're not able to get to or from the school for activities and things like that. They, have even as far as parent teacher conferences, they have even went the extra mile instead of me catching the bus or getting all the way out there to XXX Road from here for 15 minutes, a half an hour, or so they would do it over the phone. So that's why I say it's nothing that I would change as far as the school system. I mean, as far as the school is concerned, but you just have a lot of lazy parents, you know, you have a lot of parents who just send the kids to school. First of all, because it is mandated. Second of all, they use it as like a daycare. P3: L 502-508, 510

# Further *Tonya* explained education begins in the home:

It's when it starts at home. It's nothing really that you can actually do as far as the school system is concerned. Like I explained it to my kids, I said from the time that I bring y'all home from the hospital, y'all are my responsibility to teach you guys right from wrong from the time that you're brought home from the hospital up until when it's time for you to go to school. I'm teaching you right from wrong, how you're supposed to act, how to be respectful, how to use your positive manners, how to make right choices and not wrong choices. But you have some parents that don't do that. You know, they leave it up to the school system to do that. And I think that's unfair. P3: L 520-526

Samantha shared this regarding her views:

I mean, I'm not for sure cause every parent has a different reason of why they don't want to come to the school. Some people are just lazy and just don't want to go, you know, so I can't really, I don't know. P4: L 430-431

<u>Parent educational concerns</u> were also shared. *James* mentioned concerns with student performance due to the COVID-19 Pandemic. He said:

And I'm worried about that when this Coronavirus thing ends. What's going to happen to these kids that miss school for the past two or three months? And like what's going to happen? Are they going to graduate to the next grade? Still, never finished and learning what they should have learned in their grade? Are they going to be behind a little bit? P1: L 303-307

Kelsi also noted concerns for the school amidst the pandemic. She shared:

I'm kind of worried about what's going to go on this next year cause I don't know exactly like when they're going to send the kids back to school or how this is going to play out.

So that's kinda my only worry or biggest concern right now is sending him back to school for this upcoming year. P5: 370-373

Wanda shared her concern about Chromebooks being used. She said:

And then like with the schools now, with kids, they don't get textbooks, they get

Chromebooks. So with those Chromebooks, they got the opportunity to get on the

internet and YouTube. And so they're not even focused on what they're supposed to do,

even though they're monitoring what the kids do on those Chromebooks. Half of them not even doing work, they're on social media or YouTube. P6: L 387-390

Table 6 notes the formulated meanings describing educational awareness and parent/school communication. The grouping of the significant statements and formulated meanings lead to the cluster theme: *Parent Partners*.

**Table 6: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Parent Partners** 

Formulated Meanings	Cluster Theme
FM24: Parent exposes grandson to conversations in the home and provides discipline when needed. FM25: Parent engages in homework opportunities with the child. FM26: Parent is aware of the learning opportunities in the classroom. FM28: Parent is aware of the learning concepts and engages in homework opportunities with the child. FM125: Parent provides child access to educational games. FM177: Parent supports son by watching educational videos.	Educational Awareness
FM27: Parent communicates with the child's teachers. FM29: Parent talks with the teacher and is available to support the school team. FM32: Parent attended a few school events involving the child. FM77: Parent uses various formats to engage with teacher. FM78: Home visit was important to family teacher relationship. FM79: Teacher visited family's home to support student's learning. FM80: Parent attends activities at the school. FM82: School maintains open lines of communication. FM87: Parent attends activities at the school. FM88: Parent uses various formats to engage with teacher including Class Dojo. FM129: Communication with the school includes utilizing the Class Dojo app. FM130: Phone calls with the school are important and parent engages with teachers this way. FM179: Parent communicates with the school by using the Class Dojo app. FM181: Parent participates in educational opportunities as much as possible. FM182: Parent has overall positive feelings toward child's school and feels school keeps her informed and school communicates by phone. FM214: Parent communicates with the teachers using an app called Class Dojo. FM263: Parent feels weekly contact with the school personnel is important. FM266: Parent uses the Class Dojo app to communicate with school personnel by phone call.	Parent/School Communication

# **Emergent Theme 5: Parent Partners**

When parents partner with teachers and the school community the students' learning opportunities increase. According to Epstein (2010), "families reinforce the importance of school, homework, and activities that build student skills and feelings of success" (p. 83).

During the interviews, all of the parents mentioned ways in which they partnered with the school team. This theme included educational awareness and parent school communication.

During the interviews, educational awareness surfaced with three participants.

James said:

Knowing what's going on with what they're being taught in their class and you know, really being involved. P1: L 275-276

Tonya said she encouraged her daughter to engage in educational technology. She said: And she loves video games, you know, like getting on there, playing educational games on the computer and stuff like that. P3: L 338-340

#### Samantha commented:

We watch little videos that shows him how to add and stuff like that. P4: L 358

<u>Parent and school communication</u> is essential to the growth of students. All participants included ways they engaged with the school.

James:

You know still going to parent teacher meetings and you know, things of that nature. P1: L 276

He continued that he communicated with staff during afternoon dismissal:

Usually on pickups, things of that nature, go speak to, talk to the teacher when I go to pick him up. Always available no matter what. P1: L 289-290

Deborah:

I have Zoom. Class Dojo. Emails. I'm always talking to their teachers, like three or four times a week. P2: L 319

Then she shared:

And since this [COVID-19 Pandemic] has been going on, so like, I really do appreciate it now. Since they're doing work from home and we switch over some stuff to their laptop, it was kinda like frustrating at first. So, I just got in touch with her teacher and they came over and helped her, spent a little time with her. P2: L 320-323

She added that she engaged in some school events as well:

Some of them, not all of them. Open house and then they had some, little activities, like a relay thing for the kids and the parents. P2: L 327, 331

Tonya:

So basically Class Dojo is the main line as far as knowing what's going on, whether it is behavioral wise or anything else that needs to be communicated between myself and the teacher. P3: L 385-387

She continued with the support she feels from the school:

Pretty much it's everything. I mean, anything that you can think about, it's everything. I mean, when they have the back to school nights, because I don't have my own

transportation. So with this complex over here, they have back to school nights, they actually arrange a bus. P3: L 420-422

Samantha indicated she communicated with:

The [Class] Dojo App. P4: L 370

She continued with events she attended:

It was like family night. Stuff like that, like they had back to school nights, and stuff like that, I don't think they did...so I didn't get to go to all of them, but the ones that I went to, they were just like telling us about what the kids we're doing in the classrooms and stuff like that. Or their little celebrations. They had a little graduation celebration. P4: L 393-396

Samantha shared her feelings regarding the staff at her child's school:

They do pretty good, really. They call me if anything happens or if he's running out of medicine. They make sure I am well aware. They blow up the phone...yeah other than that I really don't have no complaints. P4: L 400-402

Kelsi:

Well, we have an app for the parents and teachers to communicate called Class Dojo. So you can have a direct link to your child's teacher. So I usually communicate with her on there. We just send messages back and forth and it's kind of just like a text message. Basically she'll get it instantly and she can respond instantly. And that's at any time

whether it's school hours or not. So that kind of keeps an open line of communication for us. So if she has any questions for me or anything that I need to know she'll message me and vice versa. P5: L 278-283

#### Further she said:

So I would just say they probably have a nice staff. Whenever I do come, if I've had to take him to school or pick him up from school early, they all know his name or they know him by his name and they just all seem so friendly and nice so I would say they definitely have a good staff. P5: L 290-292

#### Wanda:

We communicate through email or through Class Dojo. P6: L 402

Additionally, she shared this regarding her attendance with school events:

Yeah. Sometimes if I'm not working, I'll go.

I've been to like one PTO meeting. I don't like PTO meetings. I don't know why, but that's probably like the only thing I've been to. Like little fair things they be having at the school, I've done been to a few of those, but other than that, I really don't participate with the school and things because I feel like they always want money for the kids to do something. And I feel like you shouldn't have to keep asking the parents for stuff moneywise when ya'll are the ones planning the stuff for the kids. If it's dealing with the school, I feel like the school system should pay for it. P6: L 406, 410-415

### She added:

I feel like, some parents that have a struggle, like some don't have a car, some of them are low on money, so they can't get certain places. I feel like they can either give out a free tablet or some type of, I don't know, some type of newsletter. Say like some people don't have internet, so they don't really know what's going on. I feel like they should have newsletters that they mail out on their own for parents.

They can have a breakdown, they can read it for their self, oh this is what they're doing today. This is what they're doing this day. This is what they're doing this week. P6: L 491-495, 497-498

# Further she said:

I feel like they should do stuff like this because a lot of parents don't like to talk on the phone to the teachers and stuff. Like I'm one of them. I don't want to sit on the phone and talk to you about my child. So I kinda already know what's going on. And then, basically they're all repeating itself over and over. P6: L 498-501

Table 7 notes the formulated meanings describing lack of caregiver support. The grouping of the significant statements and formulated meanings lead to the cluster theme: *Disengaged Caregiver*.

**Table 7: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Disengaged Caregivers** 

Formulated Meanings	Cluster Theme
FM66: Birth parents were not involved in participant's education but foster parent was. Participant experienced an adverse childhood experience when placed in foster care at age 8. FM113: Parent was raised in a single parent home with an absent father. FM114: Parent feels her relationship with her mother was not as close as she hoped. FM156: Personal issues at home negatively impacted school success.FM158: Home life situation negatively impacted school success.FM160: Participant had an absent father and mother	Lack of Caregiver Support

did not participate in education. **FM166:** Parent felt overwhelmed by the academic expectations and decided to take her GED. Participant did not feel supported by her parent. **FM241:** Participant's parent became unsupportive of the participant. **FM247:** Participant was negatively impacted due to an absent mother. **FM257:** Participant's adverse living arrangement caused her to stop going to school because she would not be at her mother's house and would not have a way to get to school.

# **Emergent Theme 6: Disengaged Caregiver**

The importance of parent involvement and academic achievement is notable (Jeynes, 2005). During the interview sessions, four participants noted the lack of caregiver support.

*Deborah* shared that she was placed in foster care at the age of eight. She indicated that her parents were not involved with her education but her foster parent was.

She said:

Oh, no, not really. My foster parents was. P2: L 130

*Tonya* spoke of her home life without a father:

And as far as family is concerned, it was always just me and my mom. I'm the only child.

P3: L 234-235

Samantha shared things that happened at home impacted her educational focus:

I guess you, they say sometimes, well, what you're going through at home, kind of, makes, reflects on your grades and stuff like that. I feel like that's kind of true. Cause I took my personal issues from home and I just kinda like took it out on school. P4: L 132-134

Samantha explained she had an absent father and a disengaged mother. She said: They didn't, my father was, I had an absent father. And my mom, she just didn't participate in anything really. 4: L 152-153

#### Then she shared:

So right before we were getting ready to go on our Thanksgiving break, I took my GED test, my pretest, and I passed it on the first round. So I was like, yeah, I'm gonna go ahead and just get my GED. I'll go ahead and get that. I can't do this big old biology packet myself. I knew I wasn't gonna have no help from my mom or nothing. P4: L 188-191

Wanda shared how her mother became disengaged in her life. She shared:

But at the same time she stopped being supportive, when it came to the sports. So it was like she stopped coming to my track meets like invitationals. I don't to this day, I don't understand how she was there cheering me on and then the next minute she was gone.

P6: L 135-138

### Further she added:

It was more of well, being that I wouldn't be at my mother's house, how was I going to get to school? Or was she going to make a way for me to get to school every day? And then it was like, I don't know why I didn't get to go or what the situation was. She didn't really show too much interest in it. P6: L 260-262

Table 8 notes the formulated meanings describing negative peer relationships, criminal conduct, barriers, unfavorable circumstances, lack of a stable job, and financial hardships caregiver support. The grouping of the significant statements and formulated meanings lead to the cluster theme: *Adverse Situations* 

**Table 8: Formulated Meaning Cluster Theme- Adverse Situations** 

Formulated Meanings	Cluster Theme
FM3: Parent experienced obstacles during youth but feels his educational experience was a positive one overall. FM63: Parent experienced obstacles during youth which included negative peer relationships. FM65: Parent experienced obstacles during youth which included hanging with the wrong crowd. FM237: Negative peer relationships impacted participants' academic performance and school attendance. FM238: Adverse life experiences and negative peer relationships impacted participant's school attendance resulting in the student being truant. FM242: Negative peer relationships negatively impacted her success with school.	Negative Peer Relationships
<b>FM14:</b> Participant has an extensive history with criminal conduct. <b>FM240:</b> Participant engaged in the adverse behavior of selling drugs while an adolescent.	Criminal Conduct
FM115: Parent experienced adverse life experiences which created barriers for her own education advancement. FM119: Adverse life experiences constantly prevent her from obtaining her educational goals. FM173: Parent engaged in skill development for business but became pregnant with her son and stopped attending classes. FM207: Participant is interested in furthering her education but this is challenging due to home life and work balance. FM259: Participant further education by enrolling in CDL school. She was unable to finish her training because her vehicle broke down.	Barriers
FM145: Parent had a positive experience in early elementary school until participant's parent became very transient beginning in fourth grade. FM150: Participant had difficulty fitting in after transitioning to a new school and got in school suspension. FM157: Middle school grades were impacted adversely by home situation.FM164: Parent dropped out of school in 10th grade. Participant was motivated to get a job and her earn own money. Additionally, parent did not want to transfer to a different high school. FM165: Parent was behind academically and was placed in alternative school to work to catch her up but the parent became frustrated with the excessive biology work packet. FM203: Participant had a discipline issue which resulted in administration recommending for the participant to attend another school. Participant's feelings towards this recommendation were not favorable. FM236: Participant's school attendance was inconsistent and resulted in truancy but she completed her missed work. FM238: Adverse life experiences and negative peer relationships impacted participant's school attendance resulting in the student being truant. FM239: Participant had poor school attendance. FM240: Participant engaged in the adverse behavior of selling drugs while an adolescent. Participant's parent	Unfavorable Circumstances

became unsupportive of the participant. <b>FM244:</b> Participant stopped going to school because family was unable to pay tuition to remain at the school and participant did not want to transfer to a new school. <b>FM245:</b> Participant experienced an adverse life experience when the participant's parent told her she would have to move out of the house due to there not being enough room.	
FM1: The COVID-19 pandemic impacted the parent financially and he is currently unemployed. FM15: Parent experienced difficulty obtaining a job. FM16: Parent has experience with several entry level positions. FM56: Parent is currently laid off due to COVID-19 pandemic. Parent had dependable work prior to the layoff. FM73: Participant had several entry level positions. FM92: Parent is currently unemployed. FM112: Participant had several entry level positions. FM171: After completing the career technical program, job attainment was problematic and the participant did not renew her certification. FM172: Parent had several entry level jobs and two managerial jobs. FM258: Participant had many entry level jobs.	Lack of Stable Job
FM7: Parent experienced obstacles during youth including financial instability resulting in parent looking to the streets for a resolution. FM246: Participant was forced to get a job and fend for herself.	Financial Hardships

# **Emergent Theme 7: Adverse Situations**

Adverse situations were noted by all participants. Many circumstances contributed to these adverse conditions. Adverse situations included the following cluster themes: negative peer relationships, criminal conduct, barriers, unfavorable circumstances, lack of a stable job, and financial hardships.

Three participants noted a <u>negative peer relationship</u>.

James shared:

I started getting into a little trouble in my earlier years, but my education was really good. P1: L 69-70

Deborah noted:

Like any other child, I did things. Got in a little trouble hanging with the wrong crowd.

P2: L119-120

She added:

You know, how you like the, I ain't gonna say a new student, but I used to be that for a little while, but just hanging with the wrong people. Not that I got in like any serious

trouble, but I got in some trouble. P2: L125-126

Wanda explained:

And I want to say, almost maybe 11th grade year, I started getting in the mix with the wrong crowd. I started slacking and I started missing more days. I started being influenced when I should have been more focused back in school. P6: L 119-121

She continued to share:

I have friends that their parents didn't care what they did. So she was probably, maybe a year older than me so she would never go to school. She was always around guys. That wasn't my thing, I was, still a teen, I was being a teenager. She was doing things that grown people would do. So it was just like yeah so, I felt like when I was around her, it was kind of exciting. But at the same time I knew I couldn't do half the stuff that she was doing. And then, she used to how can you say it, when somebody tried to bribe you, like, well don't go to school, you can just come to my house. And I was actually skipping school and stuff until, they started telling my mother I've been missing all of these days.

P6: L 125-131

<u>Criminal conduct</u> was mentioned by two participants.

James commented:

I've been incarcerated a few, a good amount of times. I've probably got about maybe about 20 years under my belt altogether being incarcerated on and off. P1: L 167-169

Wanda shared:

So, I started, I want to say when I was about 15, almost 16, I tried to sell drugs, which I was selling drugs. Nobody knew, my mother was just like, you're not doing that much here to get you know, clothes and stuff. P6: L 133-135

Four participants spoke of <u>barriers</u> in their life.

*Tonya* shared:

My mom was diagnosed with ovarian cancer and it was like just a big snowball effect after that. You know, she passed in 2002. I was five months pregnant with my son. I have five kids total. P3: L 236-238

She continued with:

So it's just been hectic every time I try to, you know, go back to school for myself it's always something that's out of my control that happens. P3: L 264-265

Samantha shared a barrier for her continued education. She said:

Before I had my first son, I was going to school for business. And I was like halfway through, but I had started missing days because I started getting sick, but I didn't know that I was pregnant. P4: L 293-294

*Kelsi* explained a barrier when she tried to further her education. She explained:

That's something that I'm definitely trying to do or I've been thinking about doing.

Just trying to balance having a new baby and working and going to school, but that's

something I've definitely been thinking about. P5: L 198-200

Wanda shared a barrier while she worked to complete her Commercial Driver's License

or CDL certification. She commented:

Yeah I actually went to CDL school. I didn't get to really finish because my vehicle had

broke down the last day of training. P6: L 277

<u>Unfavorable circumstances</u> surfaced with three participants.

Samantha shared that her family was transient which was unfavorable for her education.

She said:

So I had a pretty smooth elementary, up until I want to say I was in the fourth grade.

That's when we started moving around. P4: L 62-63

She continued with:

I had some people that still didn't like me because of how I dressed and how I talked and

stuff like that, or somebody that I hung out with, they probably didn't like, so it was, I

stayed getting in school suspension. P4: L 89-91

The same participant shared when she made the decision to stop attending school:

[I stopped going to school] Going to the 10th grade. Because I wanted a job. I wanted to have my own money and stuff like that. So and I didn't want to transfer schools because we had moved. So they didn't want me to continue at XXX [High School]. They wanted me to go to XXX [High School]. P4: L 173, 177-179

Kelsi explained an unfavorable experience that led to her dropping out of high school: Well, I wanted to finish at XXX [High School], but I had an episode happen in XXX [High School] where I got into a fight. And then they recommended that I go to another school. So that was kinda more so pushing me to do that as opposed to, me wanting to do that.

Yes, I guess at that time, because I hadn't really ever gotten into trouble in school, so I just didn't really understand why they are recommending me to have to do that. So yeah, at that time I was just like maybe this might be a better option. P5: L 147-149, 154-156

Wanda shared her history with truancy. She said:

And sometimes I would exceed the limit so I would have to do truancy, but with me missing those days, you had to do your makeup work. The principal actually had to meet with my mother. We had two meetings they asked her, we just confused on how does she make honor roll, she missed so many days. And I tell them, I make my work up. I still do my work. I might miss a lot of days, but I was still doing my work, doing sports. P6: L 115-119

95

She followed with the reason she decided to drop out of school. She said:

And being that I was still taking 11th grade classes in 12th grade. So that really messed

me up, cause I didn't want to go to the XXX County Schools. So I just completely stopped

going to school. P6: L 144-146

She added another adverse situation:

Once my mother told me, basically I couldn't stay there because there wasn't enough

room, I was forced to go live with one of my friends, which was a grown woman, she was

probably two years older than me. P6: L 146-148

The <u>lack of stable job</u> was shared by four participants.

James said:

I just filed for unemployment. P1: L 53

Deborah explained:

Yes, I'm just on a layoff right now. I work at a college and I've been there two years. P2:

L 37, 41

When asked if employed *Tonya* said:

No ma'am. P3: L67

While discussing her medical administrative, assistant billing and coding specialist

certification Samantha shared she was unable to get a job in that field. She said:

I did not. And when, it was so hard for me to find a job down here for that, because I didn't have any training. I kind of gave up on it. Cause I was like, my year was about to hit. I still hadn't gotten any job in the field and I was like, I'm [not] going to renew it for me to still not get no job in the field. So I just let it expire. P4: L 247-250

Two participants noted financial hardships while in school.

James said:

Well, my childhood high school was basically just getting older. I started hanging in the streets by then. So things like that nature making sure I look good dressed for school. I think a lot of kids are concerned with that. Like if their parents don't have the money, to make them, like to buy them the right kind of outfits, they tend to don't want to go to school. Cause I had that problem at one time. That's what started leading me into the streets, trying to be able to get money so I could buy proper clothes to stay in style to go to school. P1: L 96-101

Wanda spoke of the living arrangement that ended with her mother that caused her to seek employment. She noted:

So that forced me to get a job and start defending for myself. P6: L 148-149

# **Exhaustive Description**

Parents have a special role in partnering with schools to educate children. Just as students have strengths and areas of growth so do parents. The participants in this study had unique stories but many common themes were developed from their lived educational experiences. The participants established goals for themselves throughout their personal

education and following high school. Only two of the participants had a support system to encourage and motivate them to stay the course throughout their educational experience.

Although this support system was absent for four participants self-determination of the participant was evident throughout their experience. Five participants were raised in a single parent home and four of the participant's parents were not engaged in the participant's education. Two participants experienced financial hardships which included the lack of basic needs including clothing and shelter. The disengaged caregiver was a concern as four participants expressed caregiver engagement was lacking during their lived educational experience.

All of the parents in this study revealed that they felt their educational experience was a positive one overall. Additionally, the participant's provided examples of ways in which they had positive experiences in school. During their schooling experience, all of the parents had at least one positive influence. Five participants expressed a positive relationship with their peers. In addition to this, five participants shared a meaningful, positive adult relationship with a teacher, school counselor, administrative staff, or coach. At times, all of the participants experienced at least one adverse situation including negative peer relationships, barriers to educational advancement, criminal conduct, lack of a stable job, financial hardships, or unfavorable circumstances. Although participants were impacted by the adverse situation, self-determination enabled two parents to successfully graduate with a high school diploma and four parents earned a General Education Diploma, GED. Since high school, four of the parents engaged in several entry level positions and participated in on-the-job training while two participants had managerial roles. The work histories are lengthy for the participants. At the time of the study, three of the participants were employed.

The transfer of educational values and expectations from parent to child was noted in all participants. All of the participants partnered with the school in some capacity. Each communicated with the classroom teacher and was available to support the school team. Sometimes, this was due to the participant wanting to provide a different educational experience for their child than they experienced or the parent wanted to continue some aspects of their own personal education with their child. Additionally, all of the participants attended school events involving their child. This ranged from extensive participation including many visits to the school to minimal participation with only a couple of visits to the school. One participant indicated that she did not like to attend school events because the school requested money. Participants expressed their desire for their child(ren) to listen to the adults and focus on learning while at school. The participants stressed the importance of a good education for their child. All of the participants expressed one or more of the following: desire for their child to do their best in school, get good grades, graduate from high school and get a good job or further their education. All of the participants were comfortable communicating with school staff members and they reached out when needed. Additionally, two parents noted that they used Google (when they are unsure of content) to support their child's learning. Three participants noted scarcity of time due to work commitments which prevented the parent from attending school activities.

# **Chapter Summary**

Chapter Four explained the process utilized to determine the results of this study.

Qualitative descriptive methodology was used to study the lived experiences of six parents residing in a subsidized housing development in Central Virginia. Zoom conferences with semi-structured questioning stems allowed parents to share their lived educational experience and aspects of their child's or children's educational experiences. The participants' interview

sessions were audio recorded and transcribed using Temi. After thoroughly reviewing each of the transcriptions each transcribed document was uploaded to Dedoose. The transcriptions were coded. Next, the Colaizzi descriptive phenomenological method was employed to organize and analyze the information obtained from each participant's individual interview. The Colaizzi method was followed to identify the themes which were formulated from the participants' lived educational experience. Like statements were grouped together and meanings were formulated from the participants' statements. Then, 281 formulated meanings were developed and 18 cluster themes were arranged which lead to seven emergent themes. The seven emergent themes included: scarcity of time, self-determination, positive influence, transmitting values, parent partners, disengaged caregiver, and adverse situations. While fully exploring each emergent theme the participants' specific comments were noted as expressed during the individual interview session. Utilizing the developments from the analysis, the researcher determined a full, inclusive description of the phenomenon. Finally, an exhaustive description provided a summary of the data results.

#### CHAPTER FIVE DISCUSSION

#### **Review of the Problem**

Successful school completion is a challenge for children living in poverty. Children often struggle with the academic skills and behavioral norms that are expected within the school environment. Children that grow up in poverty experience challenges from the lack of literature exposure, language development, and educational norms that are encouraged by schools. Children raised in low-income families are at risk of academic struggles, social problems, and poor health which can interfere with educational growth and success (Engle, & Black, 2008). Additionally, Ryan, Fauth, and Brooks-Gunn (2006) note, "growing up in poverty can seriously compromise a young child's readiness to enter school and her performance thereafter" (p. 329).

Many students in an identified urban school division in Central Virginia strive to reach grade level reading and math skills, educational competencies, acquisition of skills, basic life skills, and principles including self-respect, persistence, and perseverance. According to the Virginia Department of Education data (2016), an urban school district within Central Virginia is below the state average for on time graduation. The division had approximately 86% of all students graduate on time in 2016 with only 80% on time graduation for black students (Virginia Department of Education, 2016).

The purpose of this study was to determine the educational experiences of an identified urban elementary school in Central Virginia parents (similar to the researcher's school's parents) as lived through their own experience and how these educational experiences determine their academic parent involvement for their child. Following the examination of parents' educational experiences, insights were gained to enable educators to bridge the home and school communities and determine the support needed to aid families in educating their children. This

chapter reviews the research question, notes the participants' experience in relationship to the literature, summarizes the findings, and explains the recommendations for practice.

### **Research Question**

The purpose of this study was to determine the educational experiences of parents as lived through their own experience and how these educational experiences determine their academic parent involvement for their child. Utilizing a phenomenological approach, the research question was explored. The research question was:

From parents' perceptions, what dynamics determine educational parent support for urban elementary school children?

After gaining insights of the lived educational experience of parents, the researcher determined emergent themes: scarcity of time, self-determination, positive influence, transmitting values, parent partners, disengaged caregiver, and adverse situations.

# **Relationship to the Literature**

# **Scarcity of Time**

Participant responses led to the development of the cluster theme of time constraints and the emergent theme scarcity of time. During the interview sessions half of the participants noted work obligations as a concern regarding attendance at school events. According to Williams and Sanchez (2012), "low income parents may experience *time poverty*" (p. 629). Parents struggled with balancing time to provide the educational support needed for their children because of time constraints. Further, parents noted there does not seem to be enough hours in the day to accomplish all that is needed. The researcher also noticed this when scheduling the interview sessions. Several of the participants had to reschedule due to something that came up which prevented them from participating. It took one month to connect with one participant and more

than eight attempts to schedule an interview. Each time there was an obstacle for the participant: a trip, phone was dead, work, family was over visiting, and a death of a friend that prevented the interview from happening until finally we connected. This study supported the literature in relation to time poverty being a concern for families experiencing poverty. *James* shared the concerns with the economy and work demands. He explained: *I just think more parents need to be involved in their kid's school, but it's also rough and tough because you know, like, you know, with the economy and things like that nature, you know, sometimes you don't have the time you have to work, you know? P1: L 334-336* 

Scarcity of time presents concerns when working parents are unable to support children's homework needs. Parents that work multiple jobs or inconsistent schedules do not have the time for family dinners, consistent bedtimes, or routine homework structures (Egalite, 2016). This can place a challenge on the parent when they feel torn between providing for their family's needs and attending school activities. This study echoed the literature as *Tonya* explained the challenges that working parents experience in relation to homework completion. She said:

Cause a lot of times since I've had kids, my main thing has been to be there for them as far as the education is. You know, you have some households that the parents work, work, work, work, work, and the kids have lack of education or the parents don't spend [time], they just send them to school. And, you know, they go to school because they have to. When the education part, when they come home, they're not making sure that their homework is done or, you know, something like that. P3: L 276-281

Schools benefit when parents are able to offer their time and talents to the educational arena. Not all parents are able to support the schools in this capacity especially those that experience scarcity of time. Parents do not have time to embark on the additional time

challenges placed on them from the educational arena (Trotman, 2001). Often parents are unable to volunteer because they have hourly paying jobs and missing work means losing valuable income. According to LaRocque, Kleiman, and Darling (2011), "For some families competing factors such as employment issues, whereby they have hourly jobs with inadequate health insurance and other benefits, thus not allowing them to participate in the amount and in the ways that their counterparts that have salaried, more stable employment can" (p. 116). This study supports this finding as *Kelsi* shared her concern with volunteering at the school due to the need to work. She shared: *Well, I don't really like volunteer or anything just because I'm working most of the time, but I always send stuff when they have class parties or if they need anything specifically. I always try to send or help out any way that I can. Cause usually when they have parties, they may ask if you can bring anything or if you're able to volunteer and those types of things. And if I'm working, then of course I can't be there, but I always try to send my support some kind of way. P5: L 255-259* 

### **Positive Influence**

The value of a positive influence cannot be underestimated for students. In this study all of the participants spoke of a positive relationship developed during their school years which had a positive influence on their lives. Five participants mentioned a positive peer relationship while in school. Additionally, five participants noted a meaningful adult relationship while in school. Comer (1995) notes "No significant learning occurs without a significant relationship". Teachers make a meaningful difference in the lives of their students. Many provide a supportive network built on trust. This study is supported by the literature. A couple of the participant's significant relationships are recalled. *Deborah* shared a special relationship with a teacher: *Her name was Ms. Wayne. Cause she treated well, for one, she treated all her students the same.* 

And like, if we needed extra help in certain activities or curriculum. She helped us. If I had any personal problems at home, I could talk to her. P2: L192, 196-197, 202

Tonya explained meaningful relationships with her teachers: One of my favorite teachers, I know for sure her name when I was in fourth grade. Ms. Sally Vair. I just enjoyed when I got close with my teachers in elementary school. P3: L 119-120

So she was my fourth grade teacher and I was very and my third grade teacher was Ms. O'Neil and they would, I gravitated to them. P3: L 142-143

So what I did enjoy about that was like I could eat lunch with them. Go to the cafeteria and pick up my lunch tray and then go upstairs and eat with them. Just one on one, have some one on one time with them and eat lunch and talk and what the conversations were about that, I don't remember. But I remember those were the times that I did like in school was just having a teacher all to myself without, you know, my other classmates. P3: L 143-147

# **Transmitting Values**

All of the participants in this study showed an interest in their child's education. The parents spoke of their desires for their children to be successful and graduate from high school. Parents transmit their values to their children in spoken and unspoken ways. According to El Nokali, Bachman, and Votruba-Drzal (2010), "parent involvement typically involves parents' behaviors in home and school settings meant to support their children's educational progress" (p. 989). This study showcases the ways in which their parents engaged in their education and how they furthered this support with their children. *James* shared that his parents supported education within the home: *They were really focused on education. Like I grew up with the encyclopedias in my house, started playing Scrabble, like eight years old, stuff like that. P1: L 114-115* 

Tonya explained that she wanted education to be a priority for her children: My main thing is just pushing education, education, education on them, and basically practicing what I preach if I'm preaching it to them. P3: L 291-292

El Nokali, Bachman, and Votruba-Drzal (2010) note "parent involvement bridges two key contexts in children's early development, namely, the home and the school settings" (p. 989). When parents see the school as a partner in the educational goals everyone benefits. Tonya shared her thoughts on the value of a solid education beginning in the home: It's when it starts at home. It's nothing really that you can actually do as far as the school system is concerned. Like I explained it to my kids, I said from the time that I bring y'all home from the hospital, y'all are my responsibility to teach you guys right from wrong from the time that you're brought home from the hospital up until when it's time for you to go to school. I'm teaching you right from wrong, how you're supposed to act, how to be respectful, how to use your positive manners, how to make right choices and not wrong choices. But you have some parents that don't do that. You know, they leave it up to the school system to do that. And I think that's unfair. P3: L 520-526

*Tonya* continued with her thoughts on the school being a second family:

Basically being a second family, which they have showed me. Like Daughter's teacher, Mrs. Inge. She just went above and beyond and I would thank her, you know until I'm blue in the face. But basically just being a second disciplinary action for them. We're on the same page and everything that I expect and I let them know that I expect for them to do it at home. That's the same thing that I expect for them to do at school. So just having them piggyback.

So that's basically the expectations that I expect for the schools. And everything I'm doing here is done at school and vice versa. P3: L 488-492, 494-495

#### **Parent Partners**

According to Collay (2013), "Communication with parents is essential in teachers' efforts to make sense of students' lives within and beyond the classroom" (p. 74). By communicating regularly the lines of communication remain open. This study shared many ways that the parents communicate with the school community. *Kelsi* noted the main way that she communicates with the school: *Well, we have an app for the parents and teachers to communicate called Class Dojo.* So you can have a direct link to your child's teacher. So I usually communicate with her on there. We just send messages back and forth and it's kind of just like a text message. Basically she'll get it instantly and she can respond instantly. And that's at any time whether it's school hours or not. So that kind of keeps an open line of communication for us. So if she has any questions for me or anything that I need to know she'll message me and vice versa. P5: L 278-283

All six of the participants shared that they correspond with the school team on a regular basis. According to Graham-Clay (2005), "Conversations may occur during telephone calls, home visits, parent-teacher conferences, open houses, and various school-based community activities" (p. 118). Regular communication enables the school team to share information and receive updates regarding the child. Five of the participants shared that the Class Dojo was one of the communication tools used to enrage with the school team. *Tonya* shared that she also uses Class Dojo to communicate with the teacher as well: *So basically Class Dojo is the main line as far as knowing what's going on, whether it is behavioral wise or anything else that needs to be communicated between myself and the teacher. P3: L 385-387* 

Wanda shared that she did not prefer to communicate with school staff by way of phone call and a newsletter would be appreciated. She said: I feel like they should do stuff like this

because a lot of parents don't like to talk on the phone to the teachers and stuff. Like I'm one of them. I don't want to sit on the phone and talk to you about my child. So I kinda already know what's going on. And then, basically they're all repeating itself over and over. P6: L 498-501 She suggested: I feel like, some parents that have a struggle, like some don't have a car, some of them are low on money, so they can't get certain places. I feel like they can either give out a free tablet or some type of, I don't know, some type of newsletter. Say like some people don't have internet, so they don't really know what's going on. I feel like they should have newsletters that they mail out on their own for parents.

They can have a breakdown, they can read it for their self, oh this is what they're doing today. This is what they're doing this day. This is what they're doing this week. P6: L 491-495, 497-498

Effective communication is essential to the home school partnership. Epstein (2010) found "when parents, teachers, students, and others view one another as partners in education, a caring community forms around students and begins its work" (p. 82). Samantha shared her feelings regarding the staff at her child's school: They do pretty good, really. They call me if anything happens or if he's running out of medicine. They make sure I am well aware. They blow up the phone...yeah other than that I really don't have no complaints. P4: L 400-402

El Nokali, Bachman, and Votruba-Drzal (2010) note "if parents are aware of teacher's instructional goals, they may provide resources and support for those learning aims at home" (p. 989). Parents that support their children with homework have an awareness of the school learning goals. All of the participants expressed their willingness to help their child with school work. James shared his awareness: When your child comes in from school, actually sitting down with them and know what homework they have. P1: L 274-275

Devaney and Milstein (1998) state "it is important that the school be viewed by the community as a friendly and positive place where all are welcomed and valued" (p. 138). Schools can provide a welcoming atmosphere by engaging in conversations with parents. *Kelsi* shared her comfort with the school team: *So I would just say they probably have a nice staff. Whenever I do come, if I've had to take him to school or pick him up from school early, they all know his name or they know him by his name and they just all seem so friendly and nice so I would say they definitely have a good staff. P5: L 290-292* 

Another way the school partnered with the parent was through parent meetings. *James* noted the importance of parent meetings: *You know still going to parent teacher meetings and you know, things of that nature.* P1: L 276

He continued that he communicates with staff during afternoon dismissal:

Usually on pickups, things of that nature, go speak to, talk to the teacher when I go to pick him up. Always available no matter what. P1: L 289-290

Bryk and Schneider (2003) explain "Effective urban schools need teachers who not only know their students well but also have an empathetic understanding of their parents' situations and the interpersonal skills needed to engage adults effectively" (p. 44). By knowing the parents and the community challenges, the school can better provide support to enable the parents to engage in school activities. This study found that the school had an understanding relationship with the parents. *Tonya* explained the school's support when she had unreliable transportation: *Pretty much it's everything. I mean, anything that you can think about, it's everything. I mean, when they have the back to school nights, because I don't have my own transportation. So with this complex over here, they have back to school nights, they actually arrange a bus. P3: L 420-*

The caring nature of the school staff was continued during a home visit. Teachers that take the extra time to make home visits demonstrate to the students and parents that they truly care about the student (Meyer, Mann, & Becker, 2011). By learning more about the home and families teachers become clearer on the students' needs. *Deborah* explained a meaningful home visit during the COVID-19 Pandemic: *And since this [COVID-19 Pandemic] has been going on, so like, I really do appreciate it now. Since they're doing work from home and we switch over some stuff to their laptop, it was kinda like frustrating at first. So, I just got in touch with her teacher and they came over and helped her, spent a little time with her. P2: L 320-323* 

## **Disengaged Caregiver**

Four of the participants in this research study expressed concerns with a disengaged caregiver during their lived educational experience. According to Devaney and Milstein (1998), "school failure may increase among children at risk who lack parental involvement" (p. 131). This study supports this finding as the participants shared the difficulty of not having parent support when they were in school. Samantha shared things that happened at home impacted her educational focus: I guess you, they say sometimes, well, what you're going through at home, kind of, makes, reflects on your grades and stuff like that. I feel like that's kind of true. Cause I took my personal issues from home and I just kinda like took it out on school. P4: L 132-134

She added that her parents did not support her academics: They didn't, my father was, I had an absent father. And my mom, she just didn't participate in anything really. P4: L 152-153

Wanda shared her confusion regarding her mom's sudden lack of support: But at the same time she stopped being supportive, when it came to the sports. So it was like she stopped coming to

my track meets like invitationals. I don't to this day, I don't understand how she was there cheering me on and then the next minute she was gone. P6: L 135-138

She followed with what caused her to stop attending school: It was more of well, being that I wouldn't be at my mother's house, how was I going to get to school? Or was she going to make a way for me to get to school every day? And then it was like, I don't know why I didn't get to go or what the situation was. She didn't really show too much interest in it. P6: L 260-262

Further Englund, Luckner, Whaley, and Egeland (2004) note "Parent involvement is an important predictor of children's achievement in school" (p. 723). Samantha explained about pursuing her GED: So right before we were getting ready to go on our Thanksgiving break, I took my GED test, my pretest, and I passed it on the first round. So I was like, yeah, I'm gonna go ahead and just get my GED. I'll go ahead and get that. I can't do this big old biology packet myself. I knew I wasn't gonna have no help from my mom or nothing. P4: L 188-191

## **Adverse Situations**

All of the participants in this study experienced some type of adverse situation. Many times, parents from low-income neighborhoods lack access to the financial and educational resources that middle-class individuals have access to (William & Sanchez, 2012). This may include access to basic needs including a home, shelter, food or clothing. *Deborah* shared a very difficult time in her life in which she remained committed to her children: *I've been homeless twice. I did what I was supposed to do as a mom. I still maintained work. I still made sure my kids went to school and daycare. P2: L 214, 224-225* 

When a student does not complete high school the likelihood of being incarcerated increases.

High-school dropouts are 63 times more likely to be incarcerated than those that complete high

school (Breslow, 2012). Two of the participants' experiences supported this research as they stopped attending high school and were incarcerated. *James* shared: *I dropped out, got incarcerated and actually got my GED while I was incarcerated. P1: L 73-74* 

He continued: I've been incarcerated a few, a good amount of times. I've probably got about maybe about 20 years under my belt altogether being incarcerated on and off. P1: L 167-169 Wanda explained: I got my GED when I had went to jail in 2010. I started my GED outside and then when I got there, I finished my math. P6: L 248

According to Baydu, Kaplan, and Bayar (2013), "while poverty rates increase, graduation rates decrease" (p.235). In the current study, four of the participants stopped attending school. All four of them decided to pursue their GED. The reasons participants decided to stop attending school are varied including: jail time had to be served, the desire to make their own money and not change schools, the desire to not change schools due to a fight, and being behind academically. The participants shared the following:

James: [Getting the GED] It made me kind of really proud of myself, actually. Cause I was about 17. I got locked up to do a year in my county jail and I kind of had the idea that I got out I probably wasn't going to go back to school. P1: L 154-156

Samantha: [I stopped going to school] Going to the 10th grade. Because I wanted a job. I wanted to have my own money and stuff like that. So and I didn't want to transfer schools because we had moved. So they didn't want me to continue at XXX High School. They wanted me to go to XXX High School. P4: L 173, 177-179

Kelsi: Well, I wanted to finish at XXX High School, but I had an episode happen in XXX High School where I got into a fight. And then they recommended that I go to another school. So that was kinda more so pushing me to do that as opposed to, me wanting to do that.

Yes, I guess at that time, because I hadn't really ever gotten into trouble in school, so I just didn't really understand why they are recommending me to have to do that. So yeah, at that time I was just like maybe this might be a better option. P5: L 147-149, 154-156

Wanda: But once I got in I want to say it was almost 12th grade I was still doing the 11th grade classes. My brother's father called the school and let them know they don't live in the XXX area, they live in XXX County, so with that being said, we would have to pay like \$1,200 for first semester and second semester, if I still wanted to go to XXX High School. P6: L 141-144

She continued: And being that I was still taking 11th grade classes in 12th grade. So that really messed me up, cause I didn't want to go to the XXX County Schools. So I just completely stopped going to school. P6: L 144-146

### **Findings**

## **Participant's Personal Education**

Throughout the participant's school experience and following high school the participant established goals for oneself (self-determination). Most participants were raised in a single parent home and some participant's parents were not engaged in the participant's education (disengaged caregiver). All of the participants believed their educational experience was a positive one overall. Additionally, the participants' education had a positive influence on their life. During their schooling experience, the parent had positive peer relationships and positive adult relationships (positive influence). At times, participants experienced one or more of the following: negative peer relationships, barriers to educational advancement, criminal conduct,

lack of a stable job, or unfavorable circumstances (adverse situations). The participants successfully obtained either a high school diploma or a General Education Diploma (self-determination). Since high school, most of the parents engaged in entry level positions and participated in on-the-job training while two participants had managerial roles.

# Participant's Support of Elementary Child(ren)

The parents communicated with the elementary school teacher and were available to support the school team. Additionally, the parents attended school events involving the child (parent partners). While the child was at school, the parents expected the child to listen to the adults and focus on learning. The parents stressed the importance of a good education to their child (transmitting values). The parents wanted their child to do their best in school and graduate from high school and get a good job or further their education (transmitting values). The parents were comfortable communicating with school staff members and reached out when needed (parent partners). For three participants work obligations were noted as a concern regarding school activities attendance (scarcity of time).

### **Recommendations for Practice**

Developing meaningful relationships with students and families requires a dedicated educator to invest time and approach the relationship with support and empathy. For educators, parent connection and engagement are valuable tools to propel a student forward. Trotman (2017) notes ways to increase the presence of urban African-American parents within the school community: establish rapport and develop a history with the family, give parents authority, ask parents about their interests, ask parents to spread the word about activities at the school, allow parents to be teaching partners, and refrain from judging parents. All of this can happen when educators intentionally take the time to learn about their students and families. The COVID-19 Pandemic has caused educators to do just that: slow down and connect with families in different

ways including Zoom conferencing and the use of video clips for academic instruction and messaging to families and students. The following are recommendations from the researcher's perspective after analyzing the participants' lived educational journeys.

Within this study three of the participants noted that they were made to switch schools (for various reasons) late in their educational careers. None of the participants favored this decision and this contributed to each participant's decision to stop attending school. The researcher recommends that the school system work with the family and student during trying times. The student should be given the option of remaining at the school with specific expectations. These expectations may include positive behavior, consistent attendance, and satisfactory grades. The school system and community would benefit from having the student finish school successfully. The school division will receive additional state funding and an improved high school graduation rate. The overall goal is to have students enter the workforce or further their education so they can be self-sufficient members of society.

Another recommendation is for the elementary schools to utilize the Class Dojo App to increase parent communication with school. Within this study, five participants mentioned this as a meaningful way to stay in touch with the teacher or school. The researcher has already employed this at her current school. The Class Dojo app is free and easy to use. This form of communication is instant, yet provides privacy. School personnel and parents are able to send photos, videos, or information by way of text messages. This form of communication seems to meet the needs of a fast paced society and was supported as an effective communication tool with five participants in this study.

Following the COVID-19 Pandemic, it is recommended that school personnel continue to provide in person family engagement activities. Strong relationships and parent partnerships are

needed to propel the students forward with the learning goals. Meaningful connections are made with the students and families during school events. All of the participants mentioned attending events at the school. During the COVID-19 Pandemic, Zoom has been utilized by students and parents to meet in a way that keeps everyone safe. It is recommended that this type of communication remain an option for families after the COVID Pandemic. Zoom has several benefits including it gives the teacher or staff member a glimpse at the student's home. This can provide information to the teachers other forms of communication may not present.

Additionally, Zoom may provide an avenue for parents that might otherwise be unable to attend the school activity, parent/teacher conference, meeting, or event. Zoom can be used to provide parents the opportunity to connect with the school administrators and teachers. For example, the researcher has used Zoom as a platform to hold a Parent Question & Answer session regarding hybrid and remote learning. Currently, the researcher is working with the school literacy team to plan a Reading Strategies Zoom Professional Development for parents. According to DeBruin-Parecki (2009), "it is not only the frequency with which a parent reads to a child that affects the child's success; what that parent does during shared reading and how he or she mediates the shared text is also important" (p. 386). Our literacy team plans to teach parents effective reading strategies using appropriately leveled books with students. Parents will login into Zoom and learn strategies to support at home reading. The parent will be able to practice the reading strategies with their child using the provided reading resources. Following this event, the student will keep the books in the home. This may encourage participation from disengaged caregivers.

In order for the school division to better serve the students and families impacted by adverse situations it is important for the school team to gain awareness of the community

resources available to families. In coordination with the school social worker, school administrators should provide teachers with training on the resources available within the local community. During the first quarter of the school year, it is recommended that administrators work with the school social workers to showcase a Community Resource Fair. Agencies would provide an overview of the community support resource provided by their agency. Teachers and support staff would visit the table exhibits and speak with the representatives from the support agencies in the division. Following this a photo brochure would be created and provided to staff members to provide a summary overview of the community support resources available and contact information for the supporting agency. As teachers build relationships with students and families they can support parents with making connections as needs arise. Throughout this process, the entire community will build relationships and rally together to wrap around that students and families.

# **Limitations of the Study**

This study was limited to one population of participants of students within a specific urban subsidized housing community. While the characteristics and themes generated in the study may be reflective of other urban populations this cannot be assumed. The study was limited to six parents (five African American female participants and one African American male participant) of one specific living community therefore the transferability to other populations cannot be assumed. Since the researcher served as a building administrator within the school division being studied and may be known to some of the transient students, some parents may have found this to be a concern and may have withheld valuable information during the Zoom interviews. Additionally, experiences as an administrator and parent created bias and limited the researcher's ability to fully remove thoughts, feelings, or beliefs from the study.

Another limitation was this study was conducted by way of Zoom conferencing during the global COVID-19 Pandemic where fears, uncertainties, and anxieties were high. The COVID-19 Pandemic created challenges due to social distancing requirements and University of Lynchburg's suspension of in person interviews in order to maintain student and participant safety. Zoom conferencing did not allow for relational, in-person contact with the participants. During the time of the participant's interview, traditional in-person learning had ended for all students in Virginia. This was due to Governor Ralph Northam ordering all schools to close beginning on March 13, 2020 in an attempt to stop the spread of the Coronavirus.

### **Recommendation for Future Research**

Future research regarding the lived experience of parents of urban students may be beneficial to the educators in the specified local school district. First, this study could be replicated following the COVID-19 Pandemic. This may provide parents with the opportunity to share their story in person providing a better opportunity to connect relationally with the researcher.

Second, it may be helpful for administrators to venture into various neighbors and conduct informal chats or a survey to determine ways the parents would like for the school to engage with and provide support to the family. Parents may be willing to share specific information regarding the academic programming, school events, or staff insights that may lead to improved family support.

Another opportunity to further this research is to implement a focus group within the school community. This group would include parents, teachers, community stakeholders, administrators, and support personnel. The purpose of this focus group would be to gather more

data to further assist the researcher in supporting students with academics and social emotional development.

Lastly, it would be insightful to conduct this research study with middle-school and high-school parents. Prior research shows that parent involvement typically tapers off as students progress to higher grade levels. It would be especially interesting to explore if this holds true or if there are significantly varied findings for parents and families that experience the hardships of poverty.

#### Conclusion

Although poverty may place students at a disadvantage, educators and parents working together can improve the odds for student success. This study revealed emergent themes from participants' lived educational experiences including: scarcity of time, self-determination, positive influence, transmitting values, parent partners, disengaged caregiver, and adverse situations. Educators can best support students and families when meaningful relationships are created with the students and the parents very early on. Additionally, parents deserve to have understanding and empathy from those who work in the school system and it cannot be assumed all parents are on a level playing field. Just as each child is different so is their family and with that comes unique strengths and opportunities. Although historically, many students in an identified urban school division in Central Virginia lacked basic reading and math skills, educational competencies, acquisition of skills, basic life skills, and principles including selfrespect, persistence, and perseverance educators and parents communicating effectively and working together can make a difference. Educators that are willing to listen and learn from parents can change the trajectory for the children. Parents are an appreciated and necessary part of educating youth. Leaders practicing meaningful, ongoing communication to establish and

maintain lasting relationships with parents will enhance the academic and social outcomes of students in their schools.

#### REFERENCES

- Ackerman, B. & Brown, E. (2006). Income poverty, poverty co-factors, and the adjustment of children in elementary school. *Advances in Child Development and Behavior*, *34*, 91-129.
- American Psychological Association. (2012). Facing the school dropout dilemma. Retrieved from www.apa.org/pi/families/resources/school-dropout-prevention.pdf
- Baker, J. (1999). Teacher-student interaction in urban at-risk classrooms: Differential behavior, relationship quality, and student satisfaction with school. *The Elementary School Journal*, 100(1), 57-70.
- Baydu, M., Kaplan, O., Bayar, A. (2013). Facing the influence of poverty on graduation rates in public high schools. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 84, 233-237. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.06.541
- Bierman, K., Heinrichs, B., Welsh, J., Nix, R., & Gest, S. (2017). Enriching preschool classrooms and home visits with evidence-based programming: Sustained benefits for low-income children. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *58*(2), 129-137. doi:10.1111/jcpp.12618
- Bloomberg, L & Volpe, M. (2016). Completing your qualitative dissertation: A road map from beginning to end. Los Angeles, California: Sage.
- Breslow, J. (2012). By the numbers: Dropping out of high school. *Frontline: Dropout nation*.

  Retrieved from <a href="https://www.pbs.org/wgbh/pages/frontline/education/dropout-nation/by-the-numbers-dropping-out-of-high-school">www.pbs.org/wgbh/pages/frontline/education/dropout-nation/by-the-numbers-dropping-out-of-high-school</a>
- Brooks-Gunn J. & Duncan G. (1997). The effects of poverty on children. *The future of children*. 7(2), 55-71.
- Brown, C. (2014). Language and literacy development in the early years: Foundational skills

- that support emergent readers. *Language and Literacy Spectrum*, 24, 35-49. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1034914.pdf
- Bryk, A., & Schneider, B. (2003). Trust in schools: A core resource for school reform. *Educational Leadership*, 60(6), 40-45.
- Buyuktaskapu, S. (2012). Effect of family supported pre-reading training program given to children in preschool education period on reading success in primary school. *Educational Sciences, Theory & Practice*, 309-316.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Department of Health and Human Services. What you should know about COVID-19 to protect yourself and others. Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/downloads/2019-ncov-factsheet.pdf
- Cheung, A., & Slavin, R. (2013). Effects of educational technology applications on reading outcomes for struggling readers: A best-evidence synthesis. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 48(3), 277-299. Retrieved from http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.arcane.lynchburg.edu:2048 /eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=6&sid=e01e15ec-c496-43d9-bcdd-429e7ae8a777%40sessionmgr4003&hid=4108
- Class Dojo Inc. (n.d.) Class Dojo: About us. Retrieved from: <a href="https://www.classdojo.com/about/">https://www.classdojo.com/about/</a>
- Cole, N. (2016). Understanding purposive sampling: An overview of the method and its applications. Retrieved from <a href="http://sociology.about.com/od/Types-of-Samples/a/Purposive-Sample.htm">http://sociology.about.com/od/Types-of-Samples/a/Purposive-Sample.htm</a>
- Collay, M. (2013). Teaching is leading. Educational leadership. 71(2), 72-76.
- Comer, J. (2005). Child and adolescent development: The critical missing focus in school

- reform. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 757-763. Retrieved from: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/003172170508601008
- Comer, J. (1995). Lecture given at Education Service Center, Region IV. Houston, TX.
- Dearing, E., Kreider, H., Simpkins, S., & Weiss, H. B. (2006). Family involvement in school and low-income children's literacy: Longitudinal associations between and within families. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *98*(4), 653-664. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.98.4.653
- DeBruin-Parecki, A. (2009). Establishing a family literacy program with a focus on interactive reading: The role of research and accountability. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 36(5), 385-392. doi:10.1007/s10643-008-02993
- Dervaries, C. & O'Brien, E. (2011). Back to school: How parental involvement affects student achievement. Center for Public Education. Retrieved from:

  <a href="http://www.centerforpubliceducation.org/Main-Menu/Public-education/Parent-Involvement/Parent-Involvement.html?css=print">http://www.centerforpubliceducation.org/Main-Menu/Public-education/Parent-Involvement.html?css=print</a>
- Devaney, E., & Milstein, J. (1998). Kids+family+school=success: A kindergarten student and family support program. *Social Work in Education*, 20(2), 131-138. Retrieved from https://lynchburg.illiad.oclc.org/illiad/illiad.dll?Action=10&Form=75&Value=29180
- Douglas-Hall, A., & Chau, M. (2007). Parents' low education leads to low income, despite full-time employment. National Center for Children in Poverty. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.nccp.org/publications/pub\_786.html">http://www.nccp.org/publications/pub\_786.html</a>
- Duncan, G., Brooks-Gunn, J., & Klebanov, P. (1994). Economic deprivation and early childhood development. *Childhood development*. *65*, 296-318.
- Edwards, S., & Edick, N. (2013). Culturally responsive teaching for significant relationships.

- Journal of Praxis in Multicultural Education: 7(1). doi:10.9741/2161-2978.1058
- Egalite, A. (2016). How family background influences student achievement. *Education Next*, 16 (2). Retrieved from <a href="http://educationnext.org/how-family-background-influences-student-achievement/">http://educationnext.org/how-family-background-influences-student-achievement/</a>
- El Nokali, N., Bachman, H., & Votruba-Drzal, E. (2010). Parent involvement and children's academic and social development in elementary school. *Child Development*, 81(3) 988-1005.
- Engle, P., & Black, M. (2008). The effect of poverty on child development and educational outcomes. Retrieved from <a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1196/annals.1425.023/epdf">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1196/annals.1425.023/epdf</a>
- Englund, M., Luckner, A., Whaley, G., Egeland, B. (2004). Children's achievement in early elementary school: Longitudinal effects on parental involvement, expectations, and quality of assistance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 96(4) 723-730.
- Epstein, J. (n.d.) Family engagement resource: Epstein's framework of six types of involvement.

  Retrieved from <a href="http://www.nationalpirc.org/cgi-bin/pirc/engagement-resources.cgi?sr=218">http://www.nationalpirc.org/cgi-bin/pirc/engagement-resources.cgi?sr=218</a>
- Epstein, J. (2010). School/family/community partnerships: Caring for the children we share.

  \*Phi Delta Kappan\*, 92(3), 81-96. Retrieved from http://eds.b.ebscohost.com.arcane.

  lynchburg.edu:2048/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=5&sid=6c28e3fe-d122-4c6b-bf59-855ce749b706%40sessionmgr113&hid=112
- FanBoyan Foundation. (2018). Improving family engagement. Retrieved from <a href="http://flamboyanfoundation.org/focus/family-engagement/">http://flamboyanfoundation.org/focus/family-engagement/</a>
- FanBoyan Foundation. (2018). John Hopkins University FEP student outcomes evaluation.

- Retrieved from <a href="http://flamboyanfoundation.org/focus/family-engagement/fep-student-outcome-evaluation/">http://flamboyanfoundation.org/focus/family-engagement/fep-student-outcome-evaluation/</a>
- Fernald, A., Marchman, V., & Weisleder, A. (2013). SES differences in language processing skill and vocabulary are evident by 18 months. *Developmental Science*, 16(2), 234–248. doi: 10.1111/desc.12019
- Fiester, L. (2010). Early warning! Why reading by the end of third grade matters. Baltimore, Maryland: Annie E. Casey Foundation.
- Gonzalez-DeHass, A., Willems, P., & Doan Holbein, M. (2005). Examining the relationship between parental involvement and student motivation. *Educational Psychology Review*, 17(2), 99-123. doi:10.1007/s10648-005-3949-7
- Gorski, P. (2008). The myth of the culture of poverty. *Educational Leadership*, 65(7). 32-36.

  Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/apr08/vol65/num07/The-Myth-of-the-Culture-of-Poverty.aspx
- Graham-Clay, S. (2005). Communicating with parents: Strategies for teachers. *School Community Journal*, 16(1), 117-129. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ794819.pdf
- Greenstone, M., Looney, A., Patashnik, J., & Yu, M. (2013). Thirteen economics facts about social mobility and the role of education. Hamilton Project Policy Memo. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.brookings.edu/research/thirteen-economic-facts-about-social-mobility-and-the-role-of-education/">https://www.brookings.edu/research/thirteen-economic-facts-about-social-mobility-and-the-role-of-education/</a>
- Henderson, A. & Mapp, K. (2002). A new wave of evidence: The impact of school, family, and

- community connections on student achievement. Retrieved from https://www.sedl.org/connections/resources/evidence.pdf
- Henrichson, C. & Delaney, R. (2012). The price of prison: What incarceration costs taxpayers.

  \*Vera Institute of Justice.\* Retrieved from <a href="https://storage.googleapis.com/vera-web-assets/downloads/Publications/price-of-prisons-what-incarceration-costs-taxpayers/legacy\_downloads/price-of-prisons-updated-version-021914.pdf">https://storage.googleapis.com/vera-web-assets/downloads/Publications/price-of-prisons-what-incarceration-costs-taxpayers/legacy\_downloads/price-of-prisons-updated-version-021914.pdf</a>
- Ireland, K. (2014). The definition of parent involvement. Retrieved from http://www.livestrong.com/article/75306-definition-parent-involvement/
- Jeynes, W. H. (2005). A meta-analysis of the relation of parental involvement to urban elementary school student academic achievement. Urban Education, 40(3), 237-269. Retrieved from <a href="http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.843.5835&">http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.843.5835&</a> rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Jumpstart. (2009). America's early childhood. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.oregon.gov/osl/LD/youthsvcs/reading.healthy.families/Research/AmericasE">https://www.oregon.gov/osl/LD/youthsvcs/reading.healthy.families/Research/AmericasE</a> <a href="mailto:arlyChildhoodLiteracyGap.pdf">arlyChildhoodLiteracyGap.pdf</a>
- Kalb, G., & van Ours, J. (2014). Reading to young children: A head-start in life? *Economics of Education Review*, 40 1-24. doi:10.1016/j.econedurev.2014.01.002
- Kalenkoski, C. & Hamrick, K. (2013). How does time poverty affect behavior? A look at eating and physical activity. *Applied Economic Perspective and Policy*, 35 (1) 89-105. doi:10.1093/aepp/pps034
- LaRocque, M., Kleiman, I., & Darling, S. (2011). Parental involvement: The missing link in school achievement. *Preventing School Failure*. 55(3), 115-122. doi:10.1080/10459880903472876

- Leithwood, K. & Patrician, P. (2015). Changing the educational culture of the home to increase student success at school. *Societies*. (5), 664-685. doi: 10.3390/soc5030664
- Lester, S. (1999). An introduction to phenomenological research. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.rgs.org/NR/rdonlyres/F50603E0-41AF-4B15-9C84-BA7E4DE8CB4F/0/Seaweedphenomenologyresearch.pdf">https://www.rgs.org/NR/rdonlyres/F50603E0-41AF-4B15-9C84-BA7E4DE8CB4F/0/Seaweedphenomenologyresearch.pdf</a>
- Martucci, R., Dealey, E., Chase, K., Miller, D., & Lopez, N. (2016). 5 ways to start the year off right with your kid's teacher. Time Inc, Lifestyle Group. 53-54.
- Matuszny, R., Banda, D., & Coleman, T. (2007). A progressive plan for building collaborative relationships with parents from diverse backgrounds. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 39(4), 24-31. Retrieved from http://eds.b.ebscohost.com.arcane.lynchburg.edu:2048/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=16&sid=3a05955c-ac7e-4afe-94264fbe815001bc%40 sessionmgr115&hid=108
- Merriam-Webster. (2020). Self-determination. Retrieved from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/self-determination
- Meyers, J., Mann, M., & Becker, J. (2011). A five-year follow up: Teachers' perceptions of the benefits of home visits for early elementary children. *Early childhood education journal*, 39(3), 191-196. doi:10.1007/s10643-011-0461-1
- Miedel, W. & Reynold, A. (2000). Parent involvement in early intervention for disadvantaged children: Does it matter? *Journal of School Psychology*, *37*(4). 379-402. Retrieved from <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-4405(99)00023-0">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-4405(99)00023-0</a>
- Minke, K., & Anderson, K. (2005). Family-school collaboration and positive behavior support.

  \*\*Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions\*, 7(3), 181-185. Retrieved from http://eds.b.ebscohost.com.arcane.lynchburg.edu:2048/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=8&s

- id=3a05955c-ac7e-4afe-9426-4fbe815001bc%40sessionmgr115&hid=108
- Moody, J. (2016). Most local school divisions see increase in on-time graduation rates in 2016.

  The news and advance. Retrieved from

  <a href="https://www.newsadvance.com/news/local/most-local-school-divisions-see-increase-in-on-time-graduation/article\_b63327e2-94d0-11e6-83a8-3f1c0f362dfc.html">https://www.newsadvance.com/news/local/most-local-school-divisions-see-increase-in-on-time-graduation/article\_b63327e2-94d0-11e6-83a8-3f1c0f362dfc.html</a>
- Moore, K., Redd, Z., Burkhauser, M., Mbwana, K., & Collins, A. (2009). Children in poverty:
  Trends, consequences, and policy options. *Child Trends Research Brief*. Retrieved from <a href="https://childtrends-ciw49tixgw5lbab.stackpathdns.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/2009">https://childtrends-ciw49tixgw5lbab.stackpathdns.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/2009</a>
  -11ChildreninPoverty.pdf
- Pagano, M., Hirsch, B. Deutsch, N. & McAdams, D. (2003) The transmission of values to school-age and young adult offspring. *Journal of Feminist Family Therapy*, *14*(*3-4*), 13-36, doi: 10.1300/J086v14n03\_02
- Parke, R., & Clarke-Stewart, K. (2002). Effects of parental incarceration on young children.

  Retrieved from <a href="https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/60691/410627-">https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/60691/410627-</a>

  Effects-of-Parental-Incarceration-on-Young-Children.PDF
- Payne, A., Whitehurst, G., & Angell, A. (1994). The role of home literacy environment in the development of language ability in preschool children from low-income families. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 9 (3-4), 427-440.
- Payne, R. (2005). A framework for understanding poverty. Highlands, Texas: aha! Process, Inc.
- Pena, D. C. (2000). Parent involvement: Influencing factors and implications. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 1 (42). 42-54.
- Rudestam, K., & Newton, R. (2015). Surviving your dissertation: A comprehensive guide to content and process. Los Angeles, California: Sage Publication

- Ryan, R., Fauth, R., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2006). Childhood poverty: Implications for school readiness and early childhood education. *Handbook of Research on the Education of Young Children*. 323-346.
- Santiago, R., Garbacz, A., Beattie, T., & Moore, C. (2016). Parent-teacher relationships in elementary school: An examination of parent-teacher trust. *Psychology in the Schools*. 53(10), 1003-1017. doi:10.1002/pits.21971
- Saunders, (2003). Application of Colaizz's method: Interpretation of an auditable decision trail by a notice researcher. *Contemporary Nursing*, *14*(3), 292-304.
- Shosha, G. (2012). Employment of Colaizzi's strategy in description phenomenology: A reflection of a researcher. *European scientific journal*. 8(27), 31-43. Retrieved from <a href="http://eujournal.org/index.php/esj/article/viewFile/588/657">http://eujournal.org/index.php/esj/article/viewFile/588/657</a>
- Smith, D. (2016). Phenomenology. *The Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy*. Retrieved from https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2016/entries/phenomenology/
- Sparks, S. (2013). Dropout indicators found for first graders. *Education Week*, 32(37) Retrieved from <a href="www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2-13/07/29/37firstgrade.h32.html?tkn=YRXFxf2U7fneiqZz7tQQsojrJgXCEYZRzZxk&cm">www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2-13/07/29/37firstgrade.h32.html?tkn=YRXFxf2U7fneiqZz7tQQsojrJgXCEYZRzZxk&cm</a>
  <a href="p=ENL-EU-NEWS1">p=ENL-EU-NEWS1</a>
- Trotman, M. (2001). Involving the African American parent: Recommendations to increase the level of parent involvement within African American families. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 70(4), 275-285. doi:10.2307/3211280
- Tufford, L. & Newman, P. (2010). Bracketing in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*. 11(1), 80-96. doi:10.1177/1473325010368316
- United States Census Bureau. (2013). Incomes and poverty: Persons in poverty-percent.

- https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/lynchburgcityvirginia,US/IPE120216#viewtop
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2015). *The Condition of Education 2015* (NCES 2015-144), Reading Performance. Retrieved from <a href="http://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=147">http://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=147</a>
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2015). Parent and family involvement in education: From the national household education surveys program of 2012. Retrieved from <a href="http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2013/2013028rev.pdf">http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2013/2013028rev.pdf</a>
- Vance, N. (2015). Privilege and disadvantage in U.S. education. *Research starters: Sociology* (Online Edition).
- Virginia Department of Education. (2016). Class of 2016 School Divisions Four Year Cohort

  Report. Retrieved from

  <a href="http://www.doe.virginia.gov/statistics\_reports/graduation\_completion/cohort\_reports/index.shtml">http://www.doe.virginia.gov/statistics\_reports/graduation\_completion/cohort\_reports/index.shtml</a>
- Virginia Department of Education (2019). The Standards & SOL-Based Instructional Resources.

  Retrieved from http://www.doe.virginia.gov/testing/sol/standards\_docs/
- Vosler-Hunter, R.W. (1989). Changing roles, changing relationships: Parent and professional collaboration on behalf of children with emotional disabilities. *Portland State University, Research and Training Center on Family Support and Children's Mental Health*.

  Retrieved from <a href="https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED332414.pdf">https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED332414.pdf</a>
- Wakefield, S. & Garcia-Hallett, J. (2017). Incarceration effects on families. *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Criminology*. doi:10.1093/acrefore/9780190264079.013.232 O
- William, T., & Sanchez, B. (2012). Parent involvement (and uninvolvement) at an inner-city

high school. *Urban education*, 47(3), 625-652. Retrieved from http://uex.sagepub.com/content/47/3/625

York, T., Gibson, C., Rankin, S. (2015). Defining and measuring academic success. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation*, 20(5), 1-20. Retrieved from <a href="http://pareonline.net/getvn.asp?v=20&n=5">http://pareonline.net/getvn.asp?v=20&n=5</a>

#### **APPENDICES**

Appendix A: Letter to the Superintendent

Date

Dear [Superintendent],

I am writing to request permission to conduct a phenomenological research study with 8 parents or guardians of 8 students in Lynchburg Public Schools. The title of my research study is "Peeling Back the Layers- Perceptions of Parents of Urban Elementary Students."

The purpose of this study is to determine the educational experiences of parents as lived through their own experiences and how these experiences determine their academic parent involvement for their child. Basically, I want to know about the parent's educational experience and how this relates to their child's education. The information gained from this study will enable the researcher to cultivate practices to further support parents and students in the educational process and bridge parents and the school.

In order to participate in this study the participants must meet the following criteria:

- Live in the Specific Housing Development
- Have at minimum of one K-5 school aged child enrolled in the urban elementary school

Once consent is obtained from the participant, each will participate in a maximum one hour-and-a-half audio recorded face to face interview. Following the completion of the interview each parent will be given a \$50.00 Walmart gift card for their participation. Member checking is necessary to ensure the participant's voice is accurately portrayed. Once the interview is transcribed, each participant will review the interview. Following this session, participants will be given an additional \$50.00 Walmart gift card.

If permission to conduct this study is granted, the parent stories will be instrumental to better meeting parents where they are in relation to education in Central Virginia.

Thank you in advance for your consideration of my request.

Sincerely,

Kellie Baldwin University of Lynchburg Ed. D Candidate

132

Appendix B: Letter to the Housing Manager

Date

Good afternoon [Housing Manager],

Thank you for speaking with me this afternoon. I am writing to seek permission to be on the XXX property to speak with parents regarding my research study. I am conducting my research through the University of Lynchburg. The individuals that I plan to speak with include parents of children that attend XXX and live in the XXX. While speaking with parents, I plan to obtain contact information (name, address, contact number, and email) to reach back out to the individuals regarding their interest in being a research participant. When I confirm the specific date I will be on the property I will provide you with that information.

Thank you for your consideration.

Kellie Baldwin

EdD Candidate

University of Lynchburg

133

Appendix C: Letter to the XXX Development Center Manager

Date

Good afternoon (Sir),

Thank you for speaking with me this afternoon. I am writing to seek permission to conduct eight 60-90 minute interview sessions at the Jubilee Family Development Center. The interviews are part of the educational research study I am conducting through the University of Lynchburg. The individuals that I plan to interview live in the XXX. Once participants are secured I will be back in touch to confirm the interview session times.

Thank you for your consideration.

Kellie Baldwin

**EdD Candidate** 

University of Lynchburg

134

Appendix D: Email Message to Participant

Date

Dear Participant:

I appreciate your interest in my research study "Peeling Back the Layers- Parents Perceptions of Urban Elementary Students." This research study will be vital to educators as practices are cultivated to provide a supportive educational experience for children in Central Virginia.

I would like to set up a time to interview you to discuss your educational journey. Please let me know of a couple of dates and times within the next two weeks that will work for your schedule. I plan to meet with you by way of Zoom. The audio recorded interview will take no longer than one hour-and-a-half.

I have attached the Informed Consent Agreement to this email. If you would like to participate please type your name in the form.

Thank you for your interest.

Sincerely,

Kellie Baldwin

University of Lynchburg

Ed. D Candidate

# Appendix E: Interview Questions and Probing Stems for Participants

# **Demographic Questions**

- 1. What is your name?
- 2. Do you live in XXX Housing Development?
- 3. How long have you lived at your current address?
- 4. Do you have an elementary aged child?
- 5. Please tell me the names and ages of all of your children.
- 6. What is your current age range: 18-22, 23-27, 28-32, 33-37, 38-42, 43-47, 48-52, 53-57, 58-62, 63-67, 68-72, 73+
- 7. Are you currently employed? If so, where? How long have you worked there?
- 8. What is your race?
- 9. Are you single, married, separated, or divorced?

## Participant's Personal Educational Background

- 1. Tell me about your educational journey. Begin with the earliest educational experience you can remember.
- 2. Describe your pre-school, elementary, middle, and high school experiences.
- 3. Explain how your parents/guardians contributed to (added to) or hindered (held back) your education.
- 4. What memories do you have of your schooling experience?
- 5. When you were in school, did you have an individual you formed a bond with? Tell me about that relationship.
- 6. Did you graduate from high school or obtain a GED?
- 7. Since high school explain what your life has been like. Include job experience, family situations, and further skill or schooling you have developed?
- 8. What has been the impact of your schooling on your job situation and life?

### **Current Involvement with Elementary Child's Education**

- 1. Tell about your child's current education status (grade, strengths, and weaknesses).
- 2. What does parent involvement mean to you?
- 3. In what ways do you participate in or communicate with school personnel or school activities?
- 4. Share the strengths and weaknesses of your child's school.
- 5. Explain your expectations for your child's school success. What are your hopes and dreams for your child in relation to schooling?
- 6. What are your expectations of the school and the faculty members?
- 7. What are suggestions you could offer to improve parent/guardian involvement with your child's school?

- 8. Describe your comfort level and thoughts on your skills related to supporting your child's education.
- 9. Do you have any additional information you would like to add to this interview?

### Appendix F: Informed Consent Agreement (In Person)

Please read this consent agreement or listen carefully as it is read to you before you decide to participate in the research study. You are being given a copy of what you read or what is read to you – keep your copy.

**Project Title:** Peeling Back the Layers: Perceptions of Parents

**Purpose:** The purpose of this study is to determine the educational experiences of parents as lived through their own experience and how these experiences determine their academic parent involvement for their child. Basically, I want to know about your educational experience and how this relates to your child. The information gained from this study will help me improve practices to further support parents and students in the educational process and bridge parents and the school.

Participation: You are being asked to participate in this study because you:

- 1. Live in the Specific Housing Development
- 2. Have at minimum one K-5 school aged child enrolled in the urban elementary school

This study will take place in an agreed upon location. You will be asked to share your educational journey and questions related to your academic involvement with your child.

**Time Required:** Your participation is expected to take no more than one-and-a-half hours.

**Risks & Benefits:** The potential benefits and risks associated with this study are the opportunity to share your lived educational experience. This opportunity could be instrumental in aiding educators develop an action plan to better meet parents where they are in relation to education in Central Virginia. The interview will be conducted casually and participants will not be forced to discuss areas of their story that they wish to keep private. If participants experience anxiety due the nature of sharing their story, participants should share that with the researcher, the interview can be terminated. Confidentiality will be maintained throughout the study so that participants feel free to share their personal experience, which could help educators.

**Compensation:** Participants and pilot interviewees will be compensation with a \$50.00 Walmart gift card at the conclusion of the interview sessions. Additionally, participants will be compensation with an additional \$50.00 gift card following the member checking session. This will be a session for the participant to review the interview and ensure it reflects their feelings.

**Voluntary Participation:** Please understand that participation is completely voluntary. You have the right to refuse to participate and/or answer any question(s) for any reason, without penalty. You also have the right to withdraw from the research study at any time without penalty. If you want to withdraw from the study please tell the researcher or a member of the research team who is present during your participation. The researcher reserves the right to end your participation for falsifying information. You will not be penalized if you do not participate.

**Confidentiality:** Your individual privacy will be maintained throughout this study by members of the research team. In order to preserve the confidentiality of your responses, we will keep your interview information maintained in a file that is password protected.

Whom to Contact with Questions: If you have any questions or information about this research, please contact me, Kellie Baldwin baldwin_k@lynchburg.edu You can also contact my faculty resea	, at
Principal Investigator (PI) for this project and is supervising my w	ork on the study, Dr. Mary
Ann Mayhew at <u>mayhew.m@lynchburg.edu</u> . The University of Ly	•
Board (IRB) for Human Subjects Research has approved this proje not stamp approval on the informed consent/assent documents; how assigned to approved studies. The approval number for this study	wever, an approval number is
You may contact the IRB Director, Dr. Alisha Walker Marciano, the	hrough the Office of the Vice
President and Dean for Academic Affairs at Lynchburg College at	
hs@lynchburg.edu with any questions or concerns related to this re	esearch study.
<b>Agreement:</b> I understand the above information and have had all participation in this research study answered. By signing below, I in the research study described above and verify that I am 18 years	voluntarily agree to participate
Signature of Participant	Date
Printed Name of Participant	
Signature of Researcher	Date

Printed Name of Researcher

### Appendix G: Informed Consent Agreement (Zoom)

# (This form will be shared with the participant by way of Google and electronically signed.)

Please read this consent agreement (or listen carefully if it is being read to you) before you decide to participate in the research study. Please keep a copy for your records.

**Project Title:** Peeling Back the Layers: Perceptions of Parents of Urban Elementary Students

**Purpose:** The purpose of this study is to determine the lived educational experiences of parents and how these experiences determine their academic parent involvement for their child. The researcher wants to know about your educational experience and how this relates to your child. The information gained from this study will help me improve practices to further support parents and students in the educational process and bridge parents and the school.

**Participation:** As a participant in this study, you will be asked to share your educational journey and questions related to your academic involvement with your child. Open ended questions will be posed by way of the Zoom Cloud Meeting app.

You are being asked to participate in this study because you:

- 1. Live in the Specific Housing Development
- 2. Have at minimum one K-5 school aged child enrolled in the urban elementary school

This interview will take place by way of the Zoom Cloud Meeting app. The interview session will be recorded.

**Time Required:** Your participation is expected to take no more than three hours. The interview session by way of the Zoom Cloud Meeting app is expected to last no more than one and one half hours. The member checking session (review the interview and ensure it reflects your feelings) is expected to take no more than one and one half hours and is completed independently after receiving the electronic version of the transcriptions.

**Voluntary Participation:** Please understand that participation is completely voluntary. You have the right to refuse to participate and/or answer any question(s) for any reason, without penalty. You also have the right to withdraw from the research study at any time without penalty. If you want to withdraw from the study please tell the researcher or a member of the research team who is present during your participation.

**Potential Risks:** The interview will be conducted casually and you will not be forced to discuss areas of your story that you wish to keep private. If you experience anxiety due to the nature of sharing your story, you should share that with the researcher, the interview can be terminated. Additionally, you can contact the Community Access Network at 434-220-3366 if counseling support is needed. This company supports individuals with and without insurance.

Confidentiality will be maintained throughout the study (by the usage of pseudonyms) so that you feel free to share your personal experience, which could help educators. Your participation

in the study will remain anonymous and the researcher will not share information regarding the interview. The audio recordings and transcriptions will be maintained in an electronic file that is password protected and knowledgeable only to the researcher.

**Potential Benefits:** The potential benefits associated with this study is that you will have the opportunity to share your lived educational experience. The information gained from this study will help the researcher improve practices to further support parents and students in the educational process and bridge parents and the school.

**Compensation:** If you participate you will be compensation with a \$50.00 Walmart gift card at the conclusion of the interview session. Additionally, you will be compensated with an additional \$50.00 gift card following the member checking session. The member checking session (review the interview and ensure it reflects your feelings) is expected to take no more than one and one half hours and is completed independently after receiving the electronic version of the transcriptions. The participants will be given the opportunity to make the researcher aware of any concerns. If you are a pilot interview (practice interviews with two individuals from another housing development) you will be compensated with a \$50.00 Walmart gift card at the conclusion of the interview session. A member checking session will not be utilized.

**Confidentiality:** Your individual privacy will be maintained throughout this study by members of the research team. In order to preserve the confidentiality of your responses, the researcher will keep your interview information maintained in an electronic file that is password protected and only accessible by the researcher.

Whom to Contact with Questions: If you have any questions or would like additional information about this research, please contact me, Kellie Baldwin, at baldwin\_k@lynchburg.edu You can also contact my faculty research sponsor, who is the Principal Investigator (PI) for this project and is supervising my work on the study, Dr. Mary Ann Mayhew at mayhew.m@lynchburg.edu. The University of Lynchburg Institutional Review Board (IRB) for Human Subjects Research has approved this project. This IRB currently does not stamp approval on the informed consent/assent documents; however, an approval number is assigned to approved studies. The approval number for this study is LHS1920039. You may contact the IRB Director, Dr. Alisha Walker Marciano, through the Office of the Vice President and Dean for Academic Affairs at Lynchburg College at 434.544.8266 or <a href="mailto:irb-hs@lynchburg.edu">irb-hs@lynchburg.edu</a> with any questions or concerns related to this research study.

**Agreement:** I understand the above information and have had all of my questions about participation in this research study answered. By signing below I voluntarily agree to participate in the research study described above and verify that I am 18 years of age or older.

Signature of Participant	Date
Printed Name of Participant _	

Signature of Researcher	Date
Printed Name of Researcher	

# Appendix H: Significant Statements

In the table below are the significant statements that were extracted from the six participant's interview transcriptions. Each significant statement is identified by the participant number (P) and line number (L). The formulated meanings (FM) are listed beside the significant statements.

Significant Statements	Formulated Meanings	
Participant 1- James		
1. I just filed for unemployment. P1: L 53	FM1: The COVID-19 pandemic impacted the parent financially and he is currently unemployed.	
2. My education is pretty good. I was brought up and really believe in education cause my mother is not from this country. P1: L 67-68	FM2: The value of education is acknowledged due to the parent's background and the parent feels his education was a positive one overall.	
3. I started getting into a little trouble in my earlier years, but my education was really good. P1: L 69-70	FM3: Parent experienced obstacles during youth but feels his educational experience was a positive one overall.	
4. I dropped out, got incarcerated and actually got my GED while I was incarcerated. P1: L 73-74	FM4: Parent dropped out of school, was incarcerated, but pursued GED.	
5. English is always my favorite class. P1: L 85	FM5: Parent enjoyed English while in school.	
6. Then I started getting into stuff, like art class. Like just basic drawing, like I do tattoos. P1: L 85-86, 90	FM6: Visual arts opportunities while in school were appreciated.	
7. Well, my childhood high school was basically just getting older. I started hanging in the streets by then. So things like that nature making sure I look good dressed for school. I think a lot of kids are concerned with that. Like if their parents don't have the money, to make them, like to buy them the right kind of outfits, they tend to don't want to go to school. Cause I had that problem at one time. That's what started leading me into the streets, trying to be able to get money so I could buy proper clothes to stay in style to go to school. P1: L 96-101	FM7: Parent experienced obstacles during youth including financial instability resulting in parent looking to the streets for a resolution.	
8. They were really focused on education. Like I grew up with the encyclopedias in my house, started playing Scrabble, like eight years old, stuff like that. P1: L 114-115	FM8: Parent perceived education to be important to his parent and he was exposed to learning materials in the home.	
9. They was really big on education, my mother and my stepfather at the time. Cause my stepfather raised me from like four P1: L 115	FM9: Parent was raised by mother and step-father.	
10. She was actually a kindergarten teacher, I think kindergarten or first grade teacher when she was back to her country. P1: L 121-122	FM10: Participant was raised by a parent that valued education.	
11. He's still my best friend. We have been best friends since like, four or five years old. My friend Timothy his kids, I actually call his kids my nieces and nephews right now. P1: L 144, 148-149	FM11: Peer relationships during school were important to the participant and he maintained a positive childhood relationship into adulthood.	
12. [Getting the GED] It made me kind of really proud of myself, actually. Cause I was about 17. I got		

locked up to do a year in my county jail and I kind of had the idea that I got out I probably wasn't going to go back to school. P1: L 154-156	FM12: Participant determined when incarcerated he would not return to school so he obtained his GED.
13. I was in the top five, everybody that took the GED when I took it, I think I got like a 296 or 305. Something like that. I was really proud of myself. P1: L 161-162	FM13: Parent is proud of his success on the GED.
14. I've been incarcerated a few, a good amount of times. I've probably got about maybe about 20 years under my belt altogether being incarcerated on and off. P1: L 167-169	FM14: Participant had an extensive history with criminal conduct.
15. And the job market in New York is very tough. P1: L 185-186	FM15: Parent experienced difficulty obtaining a job.
16. Mostly construction work or warehouse work. I drive forklifts. I can do roofing. P1: L 197	FM16: Parent has experience with several entry level positions.
17. I've never really went to school or took any classes for it. P1: L 203	FM17: Parent has not participated in further skill development or education.
18. Everything I basically learned as far as I have learned on the job doing construction, driving heavy equipment, driving forklifts. I've learned that on job sites. P1: L 206-207	FM18: Participants had no formal education instead; on-the job-training.
19. Influenced me as far as like, I still like to read. People told me I have a great penmanship, which I think a lot of kids nowadays don't have. P1: L 211-212	FM19: Parent enjoys reading and has good penmanship.
20. I really do believe in education like it's a plus. I'm not too big on nowadays the college thing, but as far as your basic education. Get through learn how to read and write, know your math, know, some type of history. P1: L 213-215	FM20: Participant does not feel a college education is necessary to obtain a positive life experience.
21. I think nowadays in the world you got a lot of millionaires out here now and well educated people that actually didn't go to college. P1: L 217-218	FM21: Financial stability can be obtained without a college education.
22. I know that millionaires and a lot of people have started their own businesses, things of that nature. There's better opportunities out here nowadays. I think without the college experience, you know, I think going through life alone, it's almost like a college experience. You learn a lot. P1: L 227-230	FM22: Entrepreneurships are a possibility without a college education. Life itself is an educational experience.
23. He teaches me things on the laptop. He teaches me things on the tablet. Kids nowadays are a whole lot smarter than they were when I was coming up. I think he is smarter with technical stuff. P1: 237-239, 244	FM23: Parent feels his grandson is learning concepts at an earlier age than he did.
24. Like we basically talk to him like an adult. We don't baby him. We talk to him like an adult. We discipline him when he needs to be disciplined and he's a really good kid. P1: L 263-265	FM24: Parent exposes grandson to conversations in the home and provides discipline when needed.

	·
25. When your child comes in from school, actually sitting down with them and know what homework they have. P1: L 274-275	FM25: Parent engages in homework opportunities with the child.
26. Knowing what's going on with what they're being taught in their class and you know, really being involved. P1: L 275-276	FM26: Parent is aware of the learning opportunities in the classroom.
27. You know still going to parent teacher meetings and you know, things of that nature. P1: L 276	FM27: Parent communicates with the child's teachers.
28. Like I said, know what they're learning, knowing what they bring home to do and not just send them to a corner and telling them to do their own work. Sitting down with them and actually helping them do it. P1: L 277-279	FM28: Parent is aware of the learning concepts and engages in homework opportunities with the child.
29. Usually on pickups, things of that nature, go speak to, talk to the teacher when I go to pick him up. Always available no matter what. P1: L 289-290	FM29: Parent talks with the teacher and is available to support the school team.
30. And that's like, even right now, I've noticed, you know, literally XXX XXX [Housing Complex] right now. There's a lot of parents that I know. They had the situation where parents could connect to the internet to find out what their kids' schooling would still be, you know, like give them their schoolwork and stuff like that. And I know there's a lot of parents out here weren't even involved with it. A lot of parents won't even dealing with still trying to take their kid's classes. It was just kids go outside, play like. P1: L 299-303	FM30: Parent noticed many parents did not focus on education during the school shutdown.
31. And I'm worried about that when this Coronavirus thing ends. What's going to happen to these kids that miss school for the past two or three months? And like what's going to happen? Are they going to graduate to the next grade? Still, never finished and learning what they should have learned in their grade? Are they going to be behind a little bit? P1: L 303-307	FM31: Parent is concerned about the impact COVID-19 will have on the educational progress of children.
32. I've been to like one or two of the little what is it like concerts or plays, you know, things that they do like that. P1: L 333-334	FM32: Parent attended a few school events involving the child.
33.I just think more parents need to be involved in their kid's school, but it's also rough and tough because you know, like, you know, with the economy and things like that nature, you know, sometimes you don't have the time you have to work, you know? P1: L 334-336	FM33: Parent expresses challenges with being able to attend school functions due to work.
34. You know a lot of things is done with the schools are done during, you know, daytime working hours. So, you know, if you're a daytime work parent it's hard, you know? P1: L 345-346	FM34: School activities held during the school day create a barrier for working parents.
35. I think more teachers in my opinion really need to get into teaching because they want to teach. P1: L 357-558	FM35: Parent expressed a desire for teachers to want to be teachers.

36. I do feel that they need to get paid more. I'm really	
in agreement with that. P1: L 358-359	FM36: Parent feels teachers are underpaid.
37. I'm a firm believer in civil employees, teachers like people that's training your kids' minds don't even get paid as much as somebody that knows how to bounce a basketball and that's terrible, you know? P1: L 359-361	FM37: Participant expressed concern about the priority of sports in society and the financial benefits vs. teachers' compensation.
38. I know how it was, you know I went to school where we had metal detectors. P1: L 369-370	FM38: Parent attended school where student and staff safety was a concern.
39. A little bit of discipline. Somebody that's going to be somewhat strict and not let them do whatever he want to do. Cause you need that. Cause kids get a little loose when they are not around their parents. P1: L 401-402	FM39: Parent expects schools to promote discipline and have expectations similar to home.
40. Good education. Attention to children. Not just attention to the children that are like messing up in class, but attention to the kids that are really going further too. P1: L403-404	FM40: Parent expects school to provide a high quality education and notes children may be mistaken as having poor behaviors when really they are not being challenged.
41. Because I felt like myself even, I used to get frustrated a lot in class because when something was taught the first time, I caught onto it. And for the kids that didn't catch on to it, the first time it used to frustrate me because now I feel like I'm sitting in class, wasting my time. P1: L404-407	FM41: Parent expressed his frustration with not being challenged in school.
42. I started doing things and playing around and messing around. So it seemed like I was a bad kid, but I really wasn't. I was just bored because you wasn't giving me nothing else to challenge myself with. P1: L 407-409	FM42: Participant acted out due to boredom.
43. I think they really need to focus on each more child. P1: L 413	FM43: Parent feels educators need to be more child focused.
44. Focus on each child more and know that child's strengths as an individual instead of as a group, you know. P1: L 413, 417-418	FM44: Parent feels educators need to focus on the individual strengths of the child.
45. I mean, staying with good grades. Actually liking to go to school, which my grandson does. He loves to go to school. P1: L 425-426	FM45: Parent expects child to maintain good grades and enjoy going to school.
46. Like I said, it's just like focus on the kids. And try to get to know each one of them individually. P1: 432	FM46: Individual relationships are important for student success.
47. I really can't say there's really nothing that you can do to make a person do it if they don't want to do. If they're just there, they have to really want to be parents. They have to really care about their child on their own to be more involved. There's nothing, that nobody could say, nothing that the courts could say, anybody can say to make a parent more involved in their child's life. P1: L 453-456	FM47: Participant notes you can not make an individual be involved with their child. It has to be a personal choice.
48. Probably teachers reaching out more and not just when a child does something wrong or a negative. When a child does something good. P1: L 461-462	FM48: Teacher communication is essential. This includes positive communication.

49. Most teachers, definitely aren't in it for the pay. They have to be in there for the love of teaching. P1:	FM49: Teachers are not in the profession due to pay and
L 473-474	they have a love of teaching.
50. But you know, put a little bit more effort. P1: 474	FM50: Educators need to put forth more effort to connect with the students.
51. I had teachers that I still remember their names from the second grade. I have a vice principal, I still remember from the eighth grade, that's still asking me about, still asked my mother about me 10 and 15 years after I was out of eighth grade. P1: L 474-477	FM51: Educators can make a positive impact on a person's life.
52. Yeah, basically that was basically my eighth grade vice principal kind of got to me. Like sat down had a good talk with me. He didn't down me when I was messing up. He didn't try to be like a parent. He just, basically always just told me, Oh, you're smarter than this. You can do better. I know you are, so straighten up. P1: L 482-485	FM52: Encouragement from an educator is important.
53. Yeah, I'm very comfortable. P1: L 492	FM53: Parent is comfortable with school content.
54. I'm getting a little too old here, but I'm comfortable with a lot of stuff. P1: L 497-498	FM54: Parent is comfortable with school content.
55. I mean, right now I'm thinking about going back to school, like to become a youth counselor. P1: L 515-516	FM55: Parent wants to further his education.
Participe	ant 2- Deborah
56. Yes, I'm just on a layoff right now. I work at XXX [University] and I've been there two years. P2: L 37, 41	FM56: Parent is currently laid off due to COVID-19 pandemic. Parent had dependable work prior to the layoff.
57. I used to like going to school. I think I liked it more when I got into middle school. P2: L 64	FM57: Parent feels her educational experience was a positive one overall.
58. I liked all my classes. P2: L 74	FM58: Parent feels her educational experience was a positive one overall.
59. And that, and I did like when I used to go to a trade school. Cause I went to trade school for food service. I did like that. I went there for like four years.  I would leave my school, to go to vo-tech and then	
come back from vo-tech and go back to my school. P2: L 82-83, 87-88	FM59: Parent engaged in formal skill instruction while in high school.
60. We used to make/bake cakes, a whole bunch of stuff, fruit trays. We also had where the students on the campus could order food and we would take it to them. P2: L 96-97	FM60: Parent engaged in formal skill instruction while in high school
61. I'm a server there. P2: L106	FM61: Parent continued some variation of the skill development in her job.
62. High school was okay. P2: L 119	FM62: Participant had mixed feelings about high school experience.

63. Like any other child, I did things. Got in a little trouble hanging with the wrong crowd. P2: L119-120	FM63: Parent experienced obstacles during youth which included negative peer relationships.
64. My favorite part of high school was my prom and my ring dance. And when I graduated. P2: L 120	FM64: Parent has favorable memories from high school activities.
65. You know, how you like the, I ain't gonna say a new student, but I used to be that for a little while, but just hanging with the wrong people. Not that I got in like any serious trouble, but I got in some trouble. P2: L125-126	FM65: Parent experienced obstacles during youth which included hanging with the wrong crowd.
66. Oh, no, not really. My foster parents was. P2: L	FM66: Birth parents were not involved in participant's education but foster parent was. Participant experienced an adverse childhood experience when placed in foster care at age 8.
67. Yes, I stayed with them until I got grown. P2: L	FM67: Participant remained in foster care from age 8 until adulthood.
68. Like my grandma didn't play when it came to homework. She didn't really like, let me hang with a lot of people. That's all. She made sure I did, she made sure I was up to par with my schoolwork. P2: L 147-148	FM68: Participant's caregiver encouraged school success and participant's parent was knowledgeable of participant's activities and friendships.
69. Well, one of my best friends, I took her to my, I think it was my prom we had a good time. P2: L 170	FM69: Participant had a positive peer relationship while in high school.
70. Her name was Ms. Wayne. Cause she treated us well, for one, she treated all her students the same. And like, if we needed extra help in certain activities or curriculum. She helped us. If I had any personal problems at home, I could talk to her. P2: L192, 196-197, 202	FM70: Participant had a positive adult relationship while in high school and could confide in the caring adult.
71. I graduated in 2008. P2: L 210	FM71: Parent graduated from high school.
72. I've been homeless twice. I did what I was supposed to do as a mom. I still maintained work. I still made sure my kids went to school and daycare. P2: L 214, 224-225	FM72: Parent experienced adverse experiences as an adult but persevered and maintained normalcy for children.
73. I worked at a Restaurant. I worked at a nursing home. This is my second time back at XXX [University]. I've worked at one temp service. P2: L 237-238	FM73: Participant had several entry level positions.
74. No, ma'am. P2: L 253	FM74: Participant has not engaged in education opportunities following high school.
75. Cause for one, I can get a good job anywhere. I just really haven't. I don't know. I just like where I'm at. And I'm still around food. Even though I'm not cooking it. P2: L 268-269	FM75: Participant feels prior education provides opportunity for positive work engagements.
76. It means a lot, because for one, a child should at least have one or the other of their parents in their life	FM76: A parent's presence plays a vital role in the overall well-being of children.

to help them. Cause that actually can mess a child up, not having their parents in their life. P2: L 314-315	
77. I have Zoom. Class Dojo. Emails. I'm always talking to their teachers, like three or four times a week. P2: L 319	FM77: Parent uses various formats to engage with teacher.
78. So, I've had two of my daughter's teachers come visit her. P2: L 320	FM78: Home visit was important to family teacher relationship.
79. And since this [COVID 19- Pandemic] has been going on, so like, I really do appreciate it now. Since they're doing work from home and we switch over some stuff to their laptop, it was kinda like frustrating at first. So, I just got in touch with her teacher and they came over and helped her, spent a little time with her. P2: L 320-323	FM79: Teacher visited family's home to support student's learning.
80. Some of them, not all of them. Open house and then they had some, little activities, like a relay thing for the kids and the parents. P2: L 327, 331	FM80: Parent attends activities at the school.
81. Well, for one the teachers at XXX [Elementary School], they do care about the students and they don't leave a student out for nothing. P2: L 337-338	FM81: Parent values school and feels the children are important to the staff.
82. And they keep in contact with the student's parents. Even if it's good or bad. P2: L 338-339	FM82: School maintains open lines of communication.
83. I just liked the school they go to. P2: L 339	FM83: Parent has a positive feeling about the child's school.
84. For them to go to school and listen and learn. I hope they stay focused. P2: L 354, 363	FM84: Parent expects child to listen to the adults and remain focused on learning.
85. I want to see them graduate like they supposed to and get a good job. Or if they decided they want to go to college, whatever they want to do. I'm always supporting it. P2: L 363-364	FM85: Parent values education and wants to see the child graduate and continue education and get a good job.
86. To make sure they get from, from point A to point B, make sure they get to school safe. To make sure that they take care of my kids, because when they leave home, they're in the school's hands. P2: L 370-371	FM86: Parent entrust school personnel to keep the child safe.
87. But like I said, like they have different things for the parents to come to and see how, see what their kids are doing. P2: L 378-379	FM87: Parent attends activities at the school.
88. And then you could always get in contact with your child's teacher, because there's Class Dojo and there's emails for like the ones that can't make it to the school. You can call cause I know a couple of times I couldn't make it to the school for the meeting. So they just did it over the phone. P2: L 383-386	FM88: Parent uses various formats to engage with teacher including Class Dojo.
89. I do them like my grandma did me. So I just teach them what was taught to me. P2: L 397, 399-400	FM89: Parent uses previously learned strategies to support child.

90. I would message one of her teachers and tell her, well, Daughter tried to do what she could and I tried to help her and we couldn't figure it out. Could you help us with this problem? P2: L 422-423	FM90: Parent is comfortable reaching out to school for support.
91. Yes. Their teachers love them! P2: L 429	FM91: Parent feels teachers care deeply for the children.
Partici	pant 3- Tonya
92. No ma'am. P3: L 67	FM92: Parent is currently unemployed.
93. I know for sure I did go to Head Start. If I'm not mistaken, Ms. Earl and Ms. Burch, that I remember, those were my kindergarten teachers' names. P3: L 87, 88-89	FM93: Early access to educational opportunities and childhood education was memorable.
94. It was pretty good my mom really had stability. P3: L 95	FM94: Participants overall feeling toward personal education is positive and feels her mom provided a stable home life.
95. So basically the same elementary school I started kindergarten and I finished all the way to sixth grade. And then my high school, 9th to 12th. I finished once I started, so it wasn't a lot of moving around or anything like that. It was like strictly stability that's how I grew up. P3: L 95-98	FM95: Participant had a consistent school and was not transient.
96. I pretty much had to set my own goals P3: L 103	FM96: Participant established goals for self.
97. So as far as education wise I know she graduated high school. But at the same time, it wasn't like she was strict on me. P3: L 104-105	FM97: Participant's parent graduated high school and does not feel childhood was strict.
98. But I actually wished that I would've had that strictness. P3: L 107	FM98: Participant feels it would have been beneficial to have a more firm parenting.
99. I did graduate high school, but at the same time, he educational background wasn't there as strong as I wanted it to be because her education background was like high school. And she really didn't reinforce that on me like I wish she would have. P3: L 108-111	FM99: Participant graduated from high school but participant feels her parents educational background wasn't as strong as it could have been due to her parent having a high school education. Participant feels it would have been beneficial to have education more of a focus.
100. So in turn because I didn't have that, that's what I enforce on my kids, is their education and show them and let them know how important education is for you to get further in life. P3: L 111-112	FM100: Participant wants her children to have what she did not have a strong focus on education.
101. One of my favorite teachers, I know for sure her name when I was in fourth grade. Ms. Sally Vair. I just enjoyed when I got close with my teachers in elementary school. P3: L 119-120	FM101: Participant had a positive adult relationship while in elementary school.
102. So she was my fourth grade teacher and I was very and my third grade teacher was Ms. Owen and they would, I gravitated to them. P3: L 142-143	FM102: Participant had positive adult relationships while in elementary school.

103. So what I did enjoy about that was like I could eat lunch with them. Go to the cafeteria and pick up my lunch tray and then go upstairs and eat with them. Just one on one, have some one on one time with them and eat lunch and talk and what the conversations were about that, I don't remember. But I remember those were the times that I did like in school was just having a teacher all to myself without, you know, my other classmates. P3: L 143-147	FM103: The adult relationship was meaningful because the parent felt valued.
104. It is weird because where I was going to school at the apartment complex that I lived in, I lived there for 26 years. P3: L 153-154	FM104: Parent had stable housing for many years.
105. But middle school, my eighth grade teacher, I know for sure math teacher, her name was Ms. Gray. I would reach out to her and at once I used to have her phone number like years ago. So at the time after I had already graduated high school. I would still go back and she was still there and I would go back and you know and see and visit her and stuff like that.  P3: L 155-156, 157, 158-159 161-162	FM105: Participant had a positive adult relationship while in middle school and maintained this relationship for many years.
106. I've been trying to search and everything for her on Facebook, but I haven't been able to find her so, yeah. P3: L172-173	FM106: Participant would like to reconnect with this positive influence.
107. My best I could actually say my best year was 10th grade year. I was an A/B student honor roll all throughout the year. P3: L 178-179	FM107: Parent feels her 10th grade year was a success.
108. Pretty much all through school I was always shy, timid, and, you know, just stayed to myself and a lot of that, I still am. But because of life experiences, I'm more voiceful and you know, more opinionated because I felt as if because I didn't have that when I was in high school that either I was looked past or people thought that I was conceited, stuck up, passive and everything because I didn't talk much. And I was just, it was basically cause I was just shy and I didn't really want to bring much attention to myself. P3: L 179-184	FM108: Participant liked to keep to herself and did not want to stand out.
109. I didn't have no self-esteem about myself. Being picked on, called names, and stuff like that so that was another reason why I just clammed up and stayed in my shell. But growing up, anybody that really showed interest in me, and just gave me encouraging words and to lift me up as a person or what have you, and to make me feel better, I just gravitated to them But that really meant a lot to me as a child growing up because I looked at it as if they didn't have to. P3: L 197-200, 201-202	FM109: Participant experienced unfavorable treatment as a student but was motivated by positive feedback and supportive comments.
110. So they went out the box out of their comfort zone to comfort me and make me feel better by giving me encouraging words. So Ms. Gray, my eighth grade	FM110: Parent was motivated by positive adult feedback and supportive comments.

math teacher at the end of the school year, I had a yearbook. But she had signed my yearbook and I can't remember exactly what she had signed, but it was something that really made me feel good. It was, you know, encouraging words and everything. P3: L 205-207, 209-211	
111. When I started high school, I say probably my 9th and 10th grade year, I still was going to visit her and stuff like that.  So I would always go whenever I had time to go visit her and, you know, sit down, and talk to her and stuff like that. P3: L 214-215, 217-218	FM111: Parent was motivated by positive feedback and supportive comments.
112. Actually, my first job was when I was 16. And then I started working at Restaurant while I was in 10th grade. But after that, when I graduated, that's when I started working at the daycare center. P3: L 229-231	FM112: Participant had several entry level positions.
113. And as far as family is concerned, it was always just me and my mom. I'm the only child. P3: L 234-235	FM113: Parent was raised in a single parent home with an absent father.
114. Me and my mom's relationship wasn't as close netted as it should have been untilI see, cause I got married, had my 19 year old daughter. P3: L 235-236	FM114: Parent feels her relationship with her mother was not as close as she hoped.
115. My mom was diagnosed with ovarian cancer and it was like just a big snowball effect after that. You know, she passed in 2002. I was five months pregnant with my son. I have five kids total. P3: L 236-238	FM115: Parent experienced adverse life experiences which created barriers for her own education advancement.
116. Pretty much on-the-job training. I did some reception work. I have worked at Tax Prep as a receptionist, a caregiver, cashier, customer service. P3: L 257-258	FM116: Participant had several entry level positions.
117. I went to school, I went back to a community college in XXX XXX Community College and I started to major in accounting. But I switched over my major to business administration and my minor accounting. But I didn't finish. So I'm looking to go back when everything I can't do it now but with everything that's been going on. P3: L 259-263	FM117: Participant enrolled in community college to advance her knowledge base but was unable to complete the degree. The COVID-19 pandemic impacts the participant's ability to go back to college currently.
118. It's just been hard because my elementary school kids I've been homeschooling them. P3: L 263-264	FM118: Parent took on the role of homeschooling children during COVID-19 pandemic.
119. So it's just been hectic every time I try to, you know, go back to school for myself it's always something that's out of my control that happens. P3: L 264-265	FM119: Adverse life experiences constantly prevent her from obtaining her educational goals.
120. Basically, especially when it comes to my kids, pressing education on them and just being there. P3: L 276	FM120: Participant values a solid education and wants to ensure her children know the value of a solid education.
121. Cause a lot of times since I've had kids, my main thing has been to be there for them as far as the	FM121: Participant noted that some parents are constantly working and do not focus on education.

education is. You know, you have some households that the parents work, work, work, work, work, and the kids have lack of education or the parents don't spend [time], they just send them to school. And, you know, they go to school because they have to. When the education part, when they come home, they're not making sure that their homework is done or, you know, something like that. P3: L 276-281	
122. But because I didn't have that when my mom didn't really go about doing that for me, I don't, I think the reason why is because she didn't think that her education was where it should have been for her to push it on me.  Because the area, wasn't being strict on me I'm being like that with my kids, because I don't want to be too lenient. P3: L 281-283, 286-287	FM122: Participant does not feel her parent focused on education because her mother's education was not at the level it should be. Parent wants to ensure children value education and make it a priority.
123. My main thing is just pushing education, education, education on them, and basically practicing what I preach if I'm preaching it to them. P3: L 291-292	FM123: Parent wants to ensure children value education and make it a priority.
124. She's reading, I have her, since they've been out of school and I've been homeschooling them, I've been having her read chapter books. P3: L 335-336	FM124: Parent took on the role of teacher during the school shut down due to COVID-19 and exposed her child to chapter books.
125. And she loves video games, you know, like getting on there, playing educational games on the computer and stuff like that. P3: L 338-340	FM125: Parent provides child access to educational games.
126. Being involved in every area of your child's life, whether it's school. Just letting them know that they're there. I have an open door policy. P3: 345-346	FM126: Parent wants to be involved in every aspect of the child's life including education. Parent values open communication with children.
127. So I have told them, especially my older ones, I have told them that the foundation of any relationship is communication. Just like the foundation of a building. If you don't have that, it's not going to stand. So I let them know, you can come and talk to me about anything. P3: L349-352	FM127: Parent feels communication is essential to all relationships.
128. So just being there for them and letting them know that they don't have to fret or they don't have to be afraid as far as coming to talk to me. Whether it's good or bad or just, you know, anything. Because a lot of kids out here, they don't have that. And the statistics of suicide and younger kids is getting and percentage rate is getting higher and higher and I don't want them to be one of those statistics. So I try to be involved with them. Daughter and Daughter, if they have afterschool programs or, you know, little functions at school at the elementary school, I'm there each and every time and, you know, just try to do	FM128: Parent is concerned about the number of suicides for adolescents. Parent participates in educational
stuff with them. P3: L 359-365  129. So basically Class Dojo is the main line as far as knowing what's going on, whether it is behavioral wise or anything else that needs to be communicated between myself and the teacher. P3: L 385-387	opportunities as much as possible.  FM129: Communication with the school includes utilizing the Class Dojo app.

130. They will call me, let me know what was going on. Let me speak to her if she is willing to, so they didn't go straight to, okay, your child is showing behavioral problems let me suspend her from school. P3: L 394-396	FM130: Phone calls with the school are important and parent engages with teachers this way.
131. The administrators are very excellent They were A, they were A plus with me this school year. P3: L 405-406, 414-415	FM131: Parent values the administrators.
132. Pretty much it's everything. I mean, anything that you can think about, it's everything. I mean, when they have the back to school nights, because I don't have my own transportation. So with this complex over here, they have back to school nights, they actually arrange a bus. P3: L 420-422	FM132: School arranges transportation for parents so this will not be a barrier.
133. I expect for them to go to school, do what is told of them. Basically respect, show their manners because that's what they're taught here at home. And I'm trying to also teach them what I'm teaching then at home, they are to carry that everywhere they go. And I think they're slowly but surely trying to realize that at school. Put things back where it belongs, you get it, put it back. Cause that's, what's taught to them at home. Clean up behind yourselves, you get up from the table, you know, don't leave it. P3: L 440-445	FM133: Parent wants children to follow the same expectations as home at school.
134. I want them to of course, graduate, finish school move on to further their education and whatever field or profession that they choose to go in and just be successful in life and get a nice paying job, something that they want and not just getting a job because of the money. P3: L 452-454	FM134: Parent wants children to graduate from school and pursue a career with a solid financial path.
135. Oh, just to monitor, you know, have my kid's best interest at heart. P3: L 466	FM135: Parent views school as an extension of the family.
136. Basically being a second family, which they have showed me. Like Daughter's teacher, Mrs. Inge. She just went above and beyond and I would thank her, you know until I'm blue in the face. But basically just being a second disciplinary action for them. We're on the same page and everything that I expect and I let them know that I expect for them to do it at home. That's the same thing that I expect for them to do at school. So just having them piggyback. So that's basically the expectations that I expect for the schools. And everything I'm doing here is done at school and vice versa. P3: L 488-492, 494-495	FM136: Parent views school as a second family.
137. To be honest with you, I think they're doing everything in their power that they can do. Like getting to and from school. There's no reason you're not able to get to or from the school for activities and things like that. They, have even as far as parent teacher conferences, they have even went the extra mile instead of me catching the bus or getting all the way out there to XXX Road from here for 15 minutes,	FM137: Parent notes that some parents are lazy and do not put forth the effort in relation to school support.

a half an hour, or so they would do it over the phone. So that's why I say it's nothing that I would change as far as the school system. I mean, as far as the school is concerned, but you just have a lot of lazy parents, you know, you have a lot of parents who just send the kids to school. First of all, because it is mandated. Second of all, they use it as like a daycare. P3: L 502-508, 510	
138. And they are not spending that quality time. So it's pretty much out of the school systems hands if it's not being done at home. Just because you have kids doesn't mean that you know how to parent. And parenting to me, that will make the school system a whole lot better, is if and when it starts from at home. P3: L 513-516	FM138: Parent feels that schooling will be better for children when discipline and education begin at home.
139. It's when it starts at home. It's when it starts at home. It's nothing really that you can actually do as far as the school system is concerned. Like I explained it to my kids, I said from the time that I bring y'all home from the hospital, y'all are my responsibility to teach you guys right from wrong from the time that you're brought home from the hospital up until when it's time for you to go to school. I'm teaching you right from wrong, how you're supposed to act, how to be respectful, how to use your positive manners, how to make right choices and not wrong choices. But you have some parents that don't do that. You know, they leave it up to the school system to do that. And I think that's unfair. P3: L 520-526	FM139: Participant feels education is a partnership and supportive parenting begins in the home.
140. Yes, actually, I do feel comfortable. Like I stated earlier, I see the difference because all my schooling has been done in the Northern part of Virginia. That is a big difference as far as educational point of views, the Northern part of Virginia is, they are more advanced when it comes to education and how you speak. P3: L 532-533, 537-538  141. As far as education is concerned, giving them that same outlook and how to use the words correctly and not be looked at as like not being intelligent or	FM140: Parent is proud of her education and is comfortable communicating with school staff members. Parent feels the education she obtained in the northern part of Virginia outweighs the education locally.
illiterate and those types of things. P3: L 542-544 FM141: Education and correct grammar are important.  Participant 4- Samantha	
Excerpt	Formulated Meanings
142. Well, I recently just started at Clothing Distribution Center about a month ago and I have been working at Restaurant for almost a year. P4: L 35-36	FM142: Participant is employed at a clothing distribution store and a local fast food restaurant.

143. Well, I know in preschool I was very into everything. P4: L 59	FM143: Participant had early exposure to education.
144. The first grade was pretty good for me. I was ahead of my class. We learned. I liked the way they teach there. They're very helpful. They work together. P4: L 59-60	FM144: Participant feels elementary education overall was positive and she was at the top of the class in first grade.
145. So I had a pretty smooth elementary, up until I want to say I was in the fourth grade. That's when we started moving around. P4: L 62-63	FM145: Parent had a positive experience in early elementary school until participant's parent became very transient beginning in fourth grade.
146. Cause when I came here to City, I was in some advanced classes. P4: L 64	FM146: Parent feels she was well prepared when moving to a new school and participated in advanced classes.
147. Elementary school was pretty good. I still got in trouble for being loud. I kind of stayed in trouble a lot. P4: L 77, 77-78	FM147: Parent has positive feelings toward specific school but feels she was in trouble at school.
148. Well, you know, being new, coming new to a school, you know, you're going to have people they want to pick on you. P4: L 83-84	FM148: Challenges with being transient include difficulty making friends.
149. So I mean, when I first got there, I didn't have any friends. I didn't really talk to anybody. That was kind of my motto just to like see, absorb, you know, see who was cool, who was troublemakers and stuff like that. So yeah, so once I kinda got the hang of the school and, you know, the teachers and all of that stuff I think that's when I kind of opened up more. And I mean, I made some friends. P4: L 85-89	FM149: Challenges with being transient include difficulty making friends. Participant kept to herself after transitioning to a new school.
150. I had some people that still didn't like me because of how I dressed and how I talked and stuff like that, or somebody that I hung out with, they probably didn't like, so it was, I stayed getting in school suspension. P4: L 89-91	FM150: Participant had difficulty fitting in after transitioning to a new school and got in school suspension.
151. My grades were good. It wasn't honor roll, but like A, B, C type thing. Mostly A's and B's a couple of C's. P4: L 96-97	FM 151: Participant maintained good grades
152. So that was a pretty good school. P4: L 116	FM152: Positive feelings toward a specific school.
153. But when I went to XXX Middle [School], it was more buckled down. P4: L 125-126	FM153: Participant focused more on academics once in middle school.
154. I did band my first year of XXX [Middle School]. I played a clarinet for the first half of the school year. And then I went to the bass clarinet. P4: L 127, 131	FM154: Participant participated in fine arts.
155. My grades, they stayed kind of stayed steady. P4: L 131-132	FM155: Parent maintained positive grades.
156. I guess you, they say sometimes, well, what you're going through at home, kind of, makes, reflects on your grades and stuff like that. I feel like that's kind of true. Cause I took my personal issues from	FM156: Personal issues at home negatively impacted school success.

home and I just kinda like took it out on school. P4: L 132-134	
157. So my grades, they kind of, they won't the best. They wasn't as good as they were when I was in elementary school. P4: L 134-135	FM157: Middle school grades were impacted adversely by home situation.
158. And it wasn't because I couldn't do it. It was just because I didn't want to do it because of what I was going through at home. P4: L 136-137	FM158: Home situation negatively impacted school success.
159. My grades were pretty fair there. The teachers, they were nice. I could say my favorite subject, I can say would be history and math. Those were the main good grades I got was history and math. I was in advanced algebra my ninth grade year. P4: L 140-142	FM159: Grades were fair in school and the teachers were nice. History and math were favorite subjects in high school.
160. They didn't, my father was, I had an absent father. And my mom, she just didn't participate in anything really. P4: L 152-153	FM160: Participant had an absent father and mother did not participate in education.
161. So me graduating and getting my GED instead of just completely dropping out of school. I think I'm proud of myself for that. P4: L 159-161	FM161: Participant is proud of her success obtaining GED.
162. And what I did afterwards, cause I went to the career technical school as well. P4: L 161	FM162: Parent continued education at career technical training and education program for young people.
163. So I think I might not have had the best experience in school. But I'm proud of some of the things, I actually I did show, I did chorus my seventh grade year. And I made it to state nationals as a soprano. I think that was one of the exciting things that I could have ever done because I didn't even really think that I could sing, for real. But I actually made it out of a whole lot of people. P4: 161-165	FM163: Parent feels educational experience was not positive overall but there were some positive aspects to her educational career.
164. [I stopped going to school] Going to the 10th grade. Because I wanted a job. I wanted to have my own money and stuff like that. So and I didn't want to transfer schools because we had moved. So they didn't want me to continue at XXX [High School]. They wanted me to go to XXX [High School]. P4: L 173, 177-179	FM164: Parent dropped out of school in 10th grade. Participant was motivated to get a job and earn her own money. Additionally, parent did not want to transfer to a different high school.
165. And it was like, I hadn't been to school the first semester and they wanted me to start, well most of the first semester, and starting back as far as I did, it was kind of hard for me to catch up. So they put me in an alternative school at first. Just so I, cause they was like if I catch up, I can graduate with my class and stuff like that. So I was all for it until I had my biology packet and my biology packet was really, really, really thick.  And I had to get it done within a month and I was getting ready to turn 17. And they told me that once I turned 17, I could go ahead and take my GED. P4: L179-183, 187-188	FM165: Parent was behind academically and was placed in alternative school to work to catch her up but the parent became frustrated with the excessive biology work packet.

166. So right before we were getting ready to go on	
our Thanksgiving break, I took my GED test, my pretest, and I passed it on the first round. So I was	
like, yeah, I'm gonna go ahead and just get my GED. I'll go ahead and get that. I can't do this big old biology packet myself. I knew I wasn't gonna have no help from my mom or nothing. P4: L 188-191	FM166: Parent felt overwhelmed by the academic expectations and decided to take her GED. Participant did not feel supported by her parent.
167. She was like my best friend. We hung out after school. We hung out in school. We could tell each other anything. I will always pick on her because she will always come to my house for snacks. P4: L 200-201	FM167: Parent had a positive, peer relationship in high school.
168. I had some teachers that were out, I could say I didn't have any problems out of, I didn't really have problems out of my female teachers. I had problems out of my male teachers. I would get kicked out of class. Don't get me wrong I did my work like I was supposed to, it was just, I liked to talk and be funny. I was like the class clown. P4: L 216-219	FM168: Parent felt a better connection with female teachers. Parent reports she completed her work but was the class clown and often got in trouble in class.
169. Yeah, I had to go to the office and I'd get in school suspension or Saturday school or something like that or suspended. P4: L 232-233	FM169: Parent received negative consequences for class conduct.
170. Career Technical School. I was 19, I think, oh yeah 19, 20. I went for medical administrative, assistant billing and coding specialist. I actually graduated. I got that certificate. P4: L 238-239	FM170: Participant enrolled in a career technical training and education program for young people at age 19. She graduated from the program with a certification.
171. I did not. And when, it was so hard for me to find a job down here for that, because I didn't have any training. I kind of gave up on it. Cause I was like, my year was about to hit. I still hadn't gotten any job in the field and I was like, I'm [not] going to renew it for me to still not get no job in the field. So I just let it expire. P4: L 247-250	FM171: After completing the program, job attainment was problematic and the participant did not renew her certification.
172. I was a manager at Restaurant on and off for two years. Before that I was at Clothing Distribution Store doing what I'm doing now which is in production. And before that I've had a whole lot of jobs. I worked at the XXX Factory doing production work. So production and fast food and management is kind of my go to, I guess. I've been a manager twice. My first time being a manager, I was a manager at Restaurant. P4: L 276-279	FM172: Parent had several entry level jobs and two managerial jobs.
173. Before I had my first son, I was going to school for business. And I was like halfway through, but I had started missing days because I started getting sick, but I didn't know that I was pregnant. P4: L 293-294	FM173: Parent engaged in skill development for business but became pregnant with her son and stopped attending classes.
174. I do want to still do business but what I've always wanted to do was be a chef. So they have a online culinary class that I can take that, I want to take after I get me a laptop. P4: L 298-299	FM174: Parent would like to attend culinary arts schools but needs a laptop to enroll.

175. Well, it's made me realize that either with your high school diploma or your GED, you could still get a good job. It all depends on how you apply yourself. Like the dedication, you know, will you go above and beyond for your job and stuff like that. Like some jobs they put you in positions, whether you have your GED or your high school diploma, where you have to pick, and if you have a family, you don't want to always pick your job over your family because, you know, especially if you're all they have. P4: L 307-308, 316-319	FM175: Parent feels GED enabled her to secure jobs but some jobs are very demanding and require a person to choose the job or the family.
176. And I feel like they've done a good job with him. P4: L 331-332	FM176: Participant has overall positive feelings towards son's school experience.
177. We watch little videos that shows him how to add and stuff like that. P4: L 358	FM177: Parent supports son by watching educational videos.
178. I guess being involved as much as possible, helping as much as possible, just being there for the child. P4: L 366	FM178: Parent feels it is important to be there for the child as much as possible.
179. The [Class] Dojo App. P4: L 370	FM179: Parent communicates with the school by using the Class Dojo app.
180. When he went to XXX [Early Learning Center], I tried to be there as much as possible, for the little things that they had going on with the family, like family night and stuff like that. P4: L 378-380	FM180: Parent participates in educational opportunities as much as possible.
181. It was like family night. Stuff like that, like they had back to school nights, and stuff like that, I don't think they didso I didn't get to go to all of them, but the ones that I went to, they were just like telling us about what the kids we're doing in the classrooms and stuff like that. Or their little celebrations. They had a little graduation celebration. P4: L 393-396	FM181: Parent participates in educational opportunities as much as possible.
182. They do pretty good, really. They call me if anything happens or if he's running out of medicine. They make sure I am well aware. They blow up the phoneyeah other than that I really don't have no complaints. P4: L 400-402	FM182: Parent has overall positive feelings toward child's school and feels school keeps her informed and school communicates by phone.
183. I mean, he keeps getting all the education that he can, learning new stuff, stuff like that. Be able to graduate. P4: L 411-412	FM183: Parent wants her child to graduate and get all the education he can.
184. They would treat him like he was theirs. That they wouldn't do nothing to my kid that they wouldn't want done to theirs. P4: L 421	FM184: Parent wants the school to treat her child as if he was their child.
185. I mean, I'm not for sure cause every parent has a different reason of why they don't want to come to the school. Some people are just lazy and just don't want to go, you know, so I can't really, I don't know. P4: L 430-431	FM185: Parent indicates that some parents are lazy and others have different reasons for not wanting to participate with the school.

	·
186. Yeah, cause even before I had a car, if it was a bus or cab, I was still making sure that I could get to school and be a part when I could, if I wasn't working. P4: L 436-437	FM186: When not working, parent participated with school even when she had a lack of transportation.
187. I would reach out to the teacher or the principal if there is a problem. P4: L 463	FM187: Parent is comfortable reaching out to school for support when needed.
Partici	ipant 5- Kelsi
188. At Restaurant. It'll be three years in October. P5: L 34, 38	FM188: Participant is employed at a local restaurant.
189. I do remember going to nursery school. P5: L 57	FM189: Participant had early exposure to education.
190. I used to really love school, as a child. P5: L 59-60	FM190: Participant feels education overall was positive as a child.
191. I remember most of my teachers. I loved all of my teachers that I had in elementary school. A lot of them still were teaching up until recently. But, yeah, I kind of remember certain things, I guess there's nothing really, that stands out more than the other, but I definitely remember all of my teachers. P5: L 69-71	FM191: Participant has positive feelings towards teachers but nothing in particular stands out.
192. Academically, I did very well at school. Socially, I think I did pretty well as well. I had a lot of friends that I'm still friends with now from knowing them from elementary, middle school, etc. P5: L 76-77	FM192: Parent feels she did well in school and developed meaningful relationships with peers and maintains some of those relationships currently.
193. Math was a struggle. I was in band for a little while, trying to play the clarinet. Let's see. I loved English and science. I would say those are probably my favorite classes in middle school. But I did things like scrapbooking and stuff like that. I was on the step team as well. P5: L 84-86	FM193: Math was problematic for the participant, participant participated in fine arts, favorite subjects were English and science. Participant engaged in extracurricular activities including the step team.
194. XXX [High School], it was okay. It was a different experience being in high school. Everybody's getting older and doing different things. I think everybody kind of, all my friends kind of went on their own separate journeys by that time. P5: L 91-93	FM194: In high school participant, experienced separation from friends as each went their own direction.
195. It wasn't as fun for me, I would say as probably elementary or middle school cause the work becomes more serious. Then you have to get a little more serious, but I enjoyed XXX [High School], I did. P5: L 93-95	FM195: High school experience was not as fun as elementary and middle school. The demands of the school work became more intense but participant enjoyed high school overall.
196. They were very involved. They always made me put school first and my parents were the type where you can't go outside until you finished your homework, etc. So they always tried to make sure that I had a good education and that I was doing what I was supposed to be doing while in school. P5: L 103-105	FM196: Participant's parents were involved in the participant education and ensured that school work was put first before other things.

197. Yeah, absolutely. And my sister, the one that you met before, we are about 11 years age difference. So she came to a lot of things just because she was already out of school by that time. So she was involved in a lot of my school activities and my father as well. He used to come to a lot of things. At that time, my mother lived in City, Maryland, so she would come when she could, when she was in town visiting. But mostly my father and my sister, they kind of did like the extra-curricular stuff, going to like my dances or performances or stuff like that. P5: L 110-115	FM197: Father and older sister were very involved in participant's education and participated in school activities with the participant but Mom lived out of town and participated minimally.
198. I would probably, just the people that I met and the friends that I made, they stand out the most because a lot of them I'm still in contact with to this day. And a lot of us went from elementary to middle school up to into high school. So I would say that's probably some of the best memories I had was just the friendships I made. But I mean, I have a lot of good memories from school. P5: L120-123	FM198: Peer relationships were important to the participant in school.
199. So many, honestly, I used to really love our cafeteria at XXX [High School]. That was one of my favorite parts was going to lunch, actually, just the way that they had the cafeteria set up. It was different areas where you can pick different types of foods. So that was one of the things I really liked about XXX [High School]. And it was a really nice school as well, as far as how it was built and everything. P5: L 125-128	FM199: Participant enjoyed lunch time while in high school.
200. I had a principal at the time, Ms. Samuel. I would say she took a special interest and just was always there for me if I needed anything. That was at XXX High School. P5: L 134-135	FM200: Participant developed a meaningful positive relationship with the principal of the high school whom supported the participant and took a special interest in her.
201. And I went to XXX Middle [School] and a teacher that stands out there would have to be Ms. Stern. She was a keyboarding teacher and I felt like she just really cared about her students and she went above and beyond just to make sure everybody was on the right track. P5: L 135-138	FM201: Participant developed a meaningful positive relationship with the keyboarding teacher in middle school whom cared for the participant and ensured she was on the right track.
202. Yes, I obtained a GED. P5: L 143	FM202: Participant obtained her GED. She decided to pursue her GED in 11th grade.
203. Well, I wanted to finish at XXX [High School], but I had an episode happen in XXX [High School] where I got into a fight. And then they recommended that I go to another school. So that was kinda more so pushing me to do that as opposed to, me wanting to do that.  Yes, I guess at that time, because I hadn't really ever gotten into trouble in school, so I just didn't really understand why they are recommending me to have to do that. So yeah, at that time I was just like maybe this might be a better option. P5: L 147-149, 154-156	FM203: Participant had a discipline issue which resulted in administration recommending for the participant to attend another school. Participant's feelings towards this recommendation were not favorable.

204. Oh well, I was taking classes or whatever so it was other people that were in there doing it as well. I kinda liked it, honestly, because I felt like it was more one-on-one because you have less students to focus on as opposed to being in a whole full classroom. So I felt like I was able to actually learn and focus more and concentrate a little bit better being in that, as opposed to being at XXX [High School]. P5: L 161-164	FM204: Participant had a positive experience while pursuing her GED. The class sizes were smaller, attention was more individualized, and her concentration and focus were better in this environment.
205. I was actually a server and a shift leader at Restaurant at the time when I had my son. P5: L 176	FM205: Participant obtained a shift leader position at a restaurant.
206. Yes, I was also a manager at Supermarket for a little while and I just kind of resigned from that position cause I couldn't really dedicate the time that was needed for that. And I did a little bit of retail as well. P5: L 183-184	FM206: Participant was a manager of a supermarket but this position was very demanding time wise and the participant resigned.
207. That's something that I'm definitely trying to do or I've been thinking about doing.  Just trying to balance having a new baby and working and going to school, but that's something I've definitely been thinking about. P5: L 198-200	FM207: Participant is interested in furthering her education but this is challenging due to home life and work balance.
208. I would say it influenced my life positively. Definitely. It made me become more open and I guess friendly, just a people person. I think I developed a lot of my social skills, just being in school, in some of the, like step team and the band I was in, just certain things I did. P5: L 204-206	FM208: Participant feels education had a positive influence on life and school opportunities developed her social skills.
209. It made me more open, definitely. P5: L 212	FM209: Participant feels her educational opportunity made her more open.
210. Parent involvement to me, well, just being there for my child and just making sure, well, both of them actually, but just being there and making sure that they know that they can talk to me about anything and that I'm always going to be there to help them with any type of problems that they may have. And I just try to be active and my son he's not into sports or anything right now, but if he was, I would definitely try to be there for his games and just be a support system to him. P5: L 247-251	FM210: Parent values open communication with children and is there to help them with any problem. Parent wants to support many aspects of son's life.
211. Well, I don't really like volunteer or anything just because I'm working most of the time, but I always send stuff when they have class parties or if they need anything specifically. I always try to send or help out any way that I can. Cause usually when they have parties, they may ask if you can bring anything or if you're able to volunteer and those types of things. And if I'm working, then of course I can't be there, but I always try to send my support some kind of way. P5: L 255-259	FM211: Participant does not volunteer at the school because her work schedule prevents her from attending school functions during the school hours but she provides needed items as requested by the teacher.
212. Just maybe like field day or something like that if that counts? P5: L 263	FM212: Participant attended field day.

213. I did, like, the conferences throughout the year where you come in and then they tell you about your child's progress so far.  But yeah, I've definitely been to just like the conferences and just anything to basically find out my child's progress. I have been to a few of those. P5: L 269-270, 272-273	FM213: Participant attended conferences to discuss the academic progress of child.
214. Well, we have an app for the parents and teachers to communicate called Class Dojo. So you can have a direct link to your child's teacher. So I usually communicate with her on there. We just send messages back and forth and it's kind of just like a text message. Basically she'll get it instantly and she can respond instantly. And that's at any time whether it's school hours or not. So that kind of keeps an open line of communication for us. So if she has any questions for me or anything that I need to know she'll message me and vice versa. P5: L 278-283	FM214: Parent communicates with the teachers using an app called Class Dojo.
215. Well, I mean as far as that I can tell my son really enjoyed all his teachers. I know his teacher he has last year, he was very upset that school was kind of cut short and he didn't get to have the full year with her. Cause he really liked his teachers since he's been at XXX [Elementary School]. P5: L 287-290	FM215: Parent feels child enjoys his teachers and child was upset when in person learning ended due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
216. So I would just say they probably have a nice staff. Whenever I do come, if I've had to take him to school or pick him up from school early, they all know his name or they know him by his name and they just all seem so friendly and nice so I would say they definitely have a good staff. P5: L 290-292	FM216: Parent feels the school staff is nice and knows her child by name.
217. Well, I definitely hope that he does his best. I try to teach him that if you need help with anything you know that's what your teachers are there for. And also teach him to be respectful in class and make sure he's paying attention and listening so he can be learning when he's supposed to learn while he's in school. P5: L 307-310	FM217: Parent wants child to do his best in school and focus on learning while in school.
218. Well, I would like him to go to college being that I didn't go to college directly out of school. I always try to instill in him that if you do good in school and keep your grades up and act accordingly, then it's a possibility that you can have a scholarship and they will pay for you to go to school just off your good grades and good behavior. So I always try to remind him of that. Just while you're in school focus on school, when you're home, then you can play and have fun and be with your friends. But while you're at school, focus on what you need to be doing. It's my goal is for him to finish high school and go on to college. P5: L 314-320	FM218: Parent wants child to continue his education at college after graduating from high school. Parent expresses to the child that if you work hard in school and behave then the child may be awarded a college scholarship. Parent wants child to focus while in school and play and have fun while at home. Parent wants her child to go to college after high school.
219. Well, I expect them to definitely do their job and just let me know if there's anything that I can do to help. Well, let me know if there's any problems that	FM219: Parent wants school personnel to do their job and let the parent know if there are any problems and any ways she can help. Parent wants school to keep her child safe and

they have with my child. And like you say, I entrust them to keep him safe and just make me aware of any incidents, basically. If they know of any problems that are going on, I would prefer to hear from them, as opposed to hearing it from my child. P5: L 333-336	let her know if there are problems. If there are problems parent wants to hear this from the school versus the child.
220. I mean suggestions, I would say, just talking to, just keeping a line of contact with your teachers and with your child, just communication would probably be the best thing. I know some parents, you know, probably can't physically do as much or be there as much as they would like, but I feel like just having an open communication with your child and your child's teachers is definitely helpful. P5: L 341-344	FM220: Parent feels it is important to maintain an open line of communication with the school.
221. I feel pretty comfortable. P5: L 348	FM221: Parent is comfortable contacting the school for support.
222. Honestly Google. And if I can't directly ask the teacher or getting contact with the teacher at that very moment, then I just Google and try to refresh my memory on stuff. Google's been my best friend. P5: L 358-359	FM222: If the parent is unable to contact the teacher she uses Google to refresh her memory on educational concepts.
223. I'm kind of worried about what's going to go on this next year cause I don't know exactly like when they're going to send the kids back to school or how this is going to play out. So that's kinda my only worry or biggest concern right now is sending him back to school for this upcoming year. P5: 370-373	FM223: Parent expressed concern about the next school year due to the COVID-19 pandemic and she is uncertain of how that is going to pan out.
Participant 6- Wanda	
224. I'm working through Employment Agency, for XXX Inn. P6: L 34	FM224: Participant is employed by an employment agency.
225. I remember starting school when I was about two or three. I went to Head Start. I went to Daycare and I went to XXX X XXX [Early Learning Center]. P6: L 51-52	FM225: Participant had early exposure to educational opportunities.
226. I remember Ms. Young. She was my kindergarten teacher and she was my, I want to say my fifth grade teacher.  She was so nice to us, I remember her, she used to give us little snacks. She was always just so sweet to us. P6: L 69-70, 70-71	FM226: Participant has positive memories of her early educational experience including a positive meaningful relationship with her teacher.
227. And then I was in, I want to say eighth grade, that's when I started trying to run track. P6: 79-80	FM227: Participant participated in extracurricular activities.
228. Ms. White, which was my gym teacher. I loved her. She was always a cool teacher. She had to let you know when you're doing right or wrong. She never sugarcoated anything. She was always cool. P6: 86-87	FM228: Participant had a positive meaningful relationship with her gym teacher who the participant felt was straightforward with the students.
229. Ms. Bell, she was my gym teacher. She was so nice. P6: 87-88	FM229: Participant had a positive meaningful relationship with her gym teacher.

230. Ms. Wyatt, she was the guidance counselor. She always helped when I would miss days or I was having difficulty with my schedule and she did help with that. P6: L 88-90	FM230: Participant had a positive meaningful relationship with her school counselor whom supported her with her schedule and attendance.
231. I was trying to think of another teacher, but I can't remember myMs. Newman. She was an assistant principal So she was always the principal to come get me to talk to my brother, get him to calm down. So she was like a favorite principal that I had. P6: L 94-95, 98-99	FM231: Participant had a positive meaningful relationship with the assistant principal whom participant supported in calming down the participant's brother when he was upset.
232. I loved high school, ninth grade year I had an older cousin already there, older friends. So it was just like I kind of fitted in. P6: L 107-108	FM232: Participant had a positive start to high school due to peer relationships.
233. And then I started doing sports. So I was starting to be well known. I ran track, I played basketball. I had a few friends that I hung with. Everybody knew me. I was always on the XXX Spotlight every Friday, getting recognized for doing sports. P6: L 108-110	FM233: Participant was involved in extracurricular activities and was well known for her success with sports receiving school recognition each week.
234. My teachers, I had a few good teachers that I liked. I'm trying to think of which teacher I want to name. There's like so many that I've really liked. P6: L 110-111	FM234: Participant has positive relationships with several teachers.
235. But it was, high school was a good experience for me. I wanted to go to school every day, but I had a difficulty where I would miss days. P6: L 112-113	FM235: Participant feels high school was a good experience and she wanted to be at school each day.
236. And sometimes I would exceed the limit so I would have to do truancy, but with me missing those days, you had to do your makeup work. The principal actually had to meet with my mother. We had two meetings they asked her, we just confused on how does she make honor roll, she missed so many days. And I tell them, I make my work up. I still do my work. I might miss a lot of days, but I was still doing my work, doing sports. P6: L 115-119	FM236: Participant's school attendance was inconsistent and resulted in truancy but she completed her missed work.
237. And I want to say, almost maybe 11th grade year, I started getting in the mix with the wrong crowd. I started slacking and I started missing more days. I started being influenced when I should have been more focused back in school. P6: L 119-121	FM237: Negative peer relationships impacted participants' academic performance and school attendance.
238. I have friends that their parents didn't care what they did. So she was probably, maybe a year older than me so she would never go to school. She was always around guys. That wasn't my thing, I was, still a teen, I was being a teenager. She was doing things that grown people would do. So it was just like yeah so, I felt like when I was around her, it was kind of exciting. But at the same time I knew I couldn't do half the stuff that she was doing. And then, she used to how can you say it, when somebody tried to bribe you, like, well don't go to school, you can just come to my house. And I was actually skipping school and	FM238: Adverse life experiences and negative peer relationships impacted participant's school attendance resulting in the student being truant.

stuff until, they started telling my mother I've been missing all of these days. P6: L 125-131	
239. And I was actually skipping school and stuff until, they started telling my mother I've been missing all of these days. P6: L 130-131	FM239: Participant had poor school attendance.
240. So, I started, I want to say when I was about 15, almost 16, I tried to sell drugs, which I was selling drugs. Nobody knew, my mother was just like, you're not doing that much here to get you know, clothes and stuff. P6: L 133-135	FM240: Participant engaged in the adverse behavior of selling drugs while an adolescent.
241. But at the same time she stopped being supportive, when it came to the sports. So it was like she stopped coming to my track meets like invitationals. I don't to this day, I don't understand how she was there cheering me on and then the next minute she was gone. P6: L 135-138	FM241: Participant's parent became unsupportive of the participant.
242. So I don't know. I wouldn't say that toll on that it was just the environment I was in and the people I was in. P6: L 138-139	FM242: Negative peer relationships negatively impacted her success with school.
243. But once I got in I want to say it was almost 12th grade I was still doing the 11th grade classes. My brother's father called the school and let them know they don't live in the City area, they live in XXX County, so with that being said, we would have to pay like \$1,200 for first semester and second semester, if I still wanted to go to XXX [High School]. P6: L 141-144	FM243: Participant was behind academically while in the 12th grade. Participant moved and would have to pay tuition to remain at current school.
244. And being that I was still taking 11th grade classes in 12th grade. So that really messed me up, cause I didn't want to go to the XXX County Schools. So I just completely stopped going to school. P6: L 144-146	FM244: Participant stopped going to school because family was unable to pay tuition to remain at the school and participant did not want to transfer to a new school.
245. Once my mother told me, basically I couldn't stay there because there wasn't enough room, I was forced to go live with one of my friends, which was a grown woman, she was probably two years older than me. P6: L 146-148	FM245: Participant experienced an adverse life experience when the participant's parent told her she would have to move out of the house due to there not being enough room.
246. So that forced me to get a job and start defending for myself. P6: L 148-149	FM246: Participant was forced to get a job and fend for herself.
247. Yeah, cause I will look around and she's not even at my track meet, especially at the big ones where every school was there. Those are the ones that I always wanted her to be at. P6: L 162-163	FM247: Participant was negatively impacted due to an absent mother.
248. She was just more of, if the teacher reached out to her, that's when she talk to the teacher, if the teacher doesn't reach out, she doesn't reach out. As far as I track meets and stuff went, basketball games, she never came to my basketball games. My uncle did, my mother was more of she would come to the track meet. P6: L 180-183	FM248: Participant's parent only engaged with school personnel if the school reached out. Participant's uncle supported the participant by coming to school sporting events.

249. When we used to do volunteer work, we volunteer for certain people. They would come to the school or they'll let us volunteer on Saturdays at certain places. I remember doing stuff like that and helping people. I was always into helping people and to this day I still do that.  The volunteer work, dealing with different students, I was attached to this guy named Shaun. He was cripple. He was handicapped in a wheelchair. I used to love coming to the school to see him. P6: L 191-193, 198-199, 202	FM249: Participant enjoyed volunteer opportunities presented in school. Positive peer relationships encouraged school attendance.
250. Dr. Everett, which was the assistant principal. I bonded with him. He was like always supportive of everything I did. He would stay back with me and my friend, Annette, sometimes he'll help us, with our basketball drills or we'll just simply sit back and have a conversation with him, just talk to him. He was always supportive. Say if I was to get in school suspension or something, he would get me up out of it. I'll go sit in his office or he'll give me extra work to do. P6: L 216-220	FM250: Participant bonded with the assistant principal and felt he was supportive of her.
251. Coach Gill, even though he was kind of mean when it came to basketball, but he was a good coach. P6: L 220-221	FM251: High school coach was a positive influence on participant.
252. Coach King, which was the track coach. I love him to death. He was like always hard on us, but he made sure we got to the state championship every year. P6: L 221-223	FM252: High school coach was well loved and pushed participant hard, having a positive influence on her.
253. Coach Burton was the head coach for track. He will always come to the class to check on me, make sure I'm doing my work and he might get me out of class and come down and sit with them for a little while and talk to me, make sure I'm on the right track. P6: L 223-225	FM253: High school coach ensured participant was on the right track, having a positive influence.
254. I want to say her name was Ms. Bowen. She just passed away last year. She was my US History teacher. She was very nice. Fun to be around. P6: L 227-228	FM254: History teacher created a positive learning environment.
255. And Coach Dan Adams. We've actually been knowing him since I was kinda younger, but he always stayed on me when it came to track made sure I was doing the right thing, I was conditioned well. He would give a speech. He would come out of his way to make sure we was okay, making sure we was fine at home, he was always very supportive, no matter wherever we see him at. P6: L 232, 236-239	FM255: Coach provided a positive message to track team and encouraged participant with conditioning. Also, ensured participant was doing okay at home as well.
256. I got my GED when I had went to jail in 2010. I started my GED outside and then when I got there, I finished my math. P6: L 248	FM256: Parent was incarcerated but pursued GED.
257. It was more of well, being that I wouldn't be at my mother's house, how was I going to get to school? Or was she going to make a way for me to	FM257: Participant's adverse living arrangement caused her to stop going to school because she would not be at her mother's house and would not have a way to get to school.

	,
get to school every day? And then it was like, I don't know why I didn't get to go or what the situation was. She didn't really show too much interest in it. P6: L 260-262	
258. I've had fast food jobs. I tried to be a PCA. I did companion aid. I worked for a cleaning company. What else have I done? Work for a housekeeping, did housekeeping. I worked for call centers where I worked with, like Insurance Company. I worked for Insurance in XXX, Virginia through like Aerospace and Defense Company. P6: L 270-272	FM258: Participant had many entry level jobs.
259. Yeah I actually went to CDL school. I didn't get to really finish because my vehicle had broke down the last day of training. P6: L 277	FM259: Participant further her education by enrolling in CDL school. She was unable to finish her training due to her vehicle broke down.
260. So hopefully by next year, I can try to work back on my CDL. P6: L 285	FM260: Participant wants to re enroll in the CDL program in the future.
261. Well, I'm actually right now I'm in a program with the XXX XXX Academy.  So they give me the opportunity to get my high school diploma being that I can get my gown, the cap and gown, the diploma, I can get my ceremony. It's actually something I've been wanting to do, most of my life since I left high school cause I didn't get to graduate. P6: L 289, 292-295	FM261: Participant is enrolled in a program that will enable her to graduate. She has wanted to graduate since she stopped attending high school.
262. So this right now's giving me the opportunity to walk across the stage, do what I've always wanted to do. And I'm also setting an example for my children, cause you know, they complain about it. I don't want to go to school. I don't want to do this and in turn I tell them like, you're going to need that education. A GED, is fine, but you need your high school diploma, as well. So this right here is me getting my opportunity to do what I have always wanted to do and besides that setting an example for my children. It's okay to walk across that stage and get that diploma. After you get that diploma, what you do with your life is on you. But what I want you to do is finish getting your education. P6: L 298-304	FM262: Parent wants to graduate and be a positive role model for children.
263. I feel like a parent should be involved at least once weekly with the child and with the teacher, see where their child was standing at academically, how they're acting in class as well as while they're in school, see what they're struggling in. P6: L 377-379	FM263: Parent feels weekly contact with the school personnel is important.
264. See what you can, say if your child was struggling in math, try to get the teacher to see if they can either get a tutor or get you some practice work where you can sit down with your child every day and do some type of activity to help them with what they're struggling in. Instead of always calling the parent, Oh, your child did this and then we recommend this. It's never, the positive stuff it's always a negative. P6: L 379-383	FM264: Parent feels that school can provide better suggestions for parents to support the child. Additionally, positive feedback is needed rather than always providing negative feedback.

265. And then like with the schools now, with kids, they don't get textbooks, they get Chromebooks. So with those Chromebooks, they got the opportunity to get on the internet and YouTube. And so they're not even focused on what they're supposed to do, even though they're monitoring what the kids do on those Chromebooks. Half of them not even doing work, they're on social media or YouTube. P6: L 387-390	FM265: Parent feels Chromebooks allow for distractions to children learning content.
266. We communicate through email or through Class Dojo. P6: L 402	FM266: Parent uses the Class Dojo app to communicate with school personnel.
267. Yeah. Sometimes if I'm not working, I'll go. I've been to like one PTO meeting. I don't like PTO meetings. I don't know why, but that's probably like the only thing I've been to. Like little fair things they be having at the school, I've done been to a few of those, but other than that, I really don't participate with the school and things because I feel like they always want money for the kids to do something. And I feel like you shouldn't have to keep asking the parents for stuff money-wise when ya'll are the ones planning the stuff for the kids. If it's dealing with the school, I feel like the school system should pay for it. P6: L 406, 410-415	FM267: Parent has attended a couple of school events but feels that the school often asks for money. The parent feels the school should not ask for money.
268. I don't know. Cause I really don't like that school. Like not at all. It's just, I don't know. They are more of, instead of telling the positive, they are more of telling the negative, what's wrong. P6: L 420-421	FM268: Parent has negative feelings toward child's school and feels there's a lot of negative communication instead of positive communication.
269. I mean it's a whole lot, but I feel like with their communication, they can do better at that. So they'll let the child do something instead of calling the parent right then and there they'll let it escalate to where they can't control it anymore. So that's something else, that's a problem because any parent will want to know what's going on with their child immediately, especially, if you know it is going to affect them being at school. P6: L 425-429	FM269: Parent feels communication at the school can be improved. Proactive communication may prevent negative student consequences.
270. I want my child to be able to get an education, both of them, to get their education, go to school everyday, do what they need to do. Just enjoy life, enjoy the elementary days while they can. P6: L 434-435	FM270: Parent wants for the child to do what is needed each day at school and enjoy elementary school.
271. I tell all my kids that like school is not a joke. And I used to think it was a joke. P6: 437	FM271: Parent stresses importance of a good education.
272. My mother and my aunt, all of them used to tell me, you're gonna miss those days. You're gonna need that education. And to this day now, I understand why they did like, Oh you gotta stay in school, you gotta do what you supposed to do. P6: 437-440	FM272: Participant's mom and aunt told participant that education is needed.
273. Depends on what faculty member it is. Cause there's a few that I like and a few I don't like, but	FM273: Parent has difficulty trusting school personnel.

other than that, I don't know. Just, it's hard to say. Cause I don't really trust people like that. P6: 445-446	
274. First making sure that the driver is a good driver, he's making sure these kids are okay at all times. P6: 451	FM274: Parent expects school personnel to keep kids safe.
275. And I have to let him know that one day, when I got on the bus, I said, look, if you want respect, you have to give it whether these are children or not. You can't talk to people's kids any kind of way. So that's stuff that we have to deal with as parents, when we go to the bus stop with the grumpy bus driver who feels the need to say whatever he wants to a child and thinking that the child is not going to say nothing back. P6: L 456-458, 464-466	FM275: Participant wants for there to be two way respect between students/parents and school personnel.
276. So that's another thing where the school messes up and where they'll take the bus driver's side instead of figuring out what really happened or not asking them, why your camera's not working? P6: L 468-470	FM276: Parent feels school personnel's perspective is valued over student's perspective.
277. Make sure, they either go to breakfast, or make sure they're escorted to the right class. That they're in place, they are visible, that they can see them. And I don't know, just making sure that all the children are safe. P6: L 475-477	FM277: Parent expects school to supervise children and keep them safe.
278. I feel like, some parents that have a struggle, like some don't have a car, some of them are low on money, so they can't get certain places. I feel like they can either give out a free tablet or some type of, I don't know, some type of newsletter. Say like some people don't have internet, so they don't really know what's going on. I feel like they should have newsletters that they mail out on their own for parents.	
They can have a breakdown, they can read it for their self, oh this is what they're doing today. This is what they're doing this day. This is what they're doing this week. P6: L 491-495, 497-498	FM278: Paper copies of the school newsletters may be a good communication tool for parents that do not have the internet.
279. I feel like they should do stuff like this because a lot of parents don't like to talk on the phone to the teachers and stuff. Like I'm one of them. I don't want to sit on the phone and talk to you about my child. So I kinda already know what's going on. And then, basically they're all repeating itself over and over. P6: L 498-501	FM279: Parent does not prefer communicating with school personnel by phone call.
280. Oh yeah. If they ask me for help, I help them, and if they don't ask me for help, I don't help them. P6: L 510	FM280: Parent supports child with academic work if help is requested by the child.
281. I usually Google. P6: L 525	FM281: The parent uses Google to refresh her memory on educational concepts.

## Appendix I: Development of Clusters and Emergent Themes Development of Cluster and Emergent Themes

Formulated Meanings	Cluster Theme	<b>Emergent Themes</b>
FM33: Parent expresses challenges with being able to attend school functions due to work. FM34: School activities held during the school day create a barrier for working parents. FM121: Participant noted that some parents are constantly working and do not focus on education. FM211: Participant does not volunteer at the school because her work schedule prevents her from attending school functions during the school hours but she provides needed items as requested by the teacher.	Time Constraints	Scarcity of Time
FM115: Parent experienced adverse life experiences which created barriers for her own education advancement. FM117: Participant enrolled in community college to advance her knowledge base but was unable to complete the degree. FM162: Parent continued education at career technical training and education program for young people. FM261: Participant is enrolled in a program that will enable her to graduate. She has wanted to graduate since she stopped attending high school.	Further Education	Self-Determination
FM4: Parent dropped out of school, was incarcerated, but pursued GED. FM12: Participant determined when incarcerated he would not return to school so he obtained his GED. FM72: Parent experienced adverse experiences as an adult but persevered and maintained normalcy for children. FM96: Participant established goals for self. FM256: Parent was incarcerated but pursued GED.	Goal Setting	
FM46: Individual relationships are important for student success. FM51: Educators can make a positive impact on a person's life. FM52: Encouragement from an educator is important. FM70: Participant had a positive adult relationship while in high school and could confide in the caring adult. FM101: Participant had a positive adult relationship while in elementary school. FM102: Participant had positive adult relationships while in elementary school. FM103: The adult relationship was meaningful because the parent felt valued. FM105: Participant had a positive adult relationship while in middle school and maintained this relationship for many years. FM110: Parent was motivated by positive adult feedback and supportive comments. FM200: Participant developed a meaningful positive relationship with the principal of the high school whom supported the participant and took a special interest in her. FM201: Participant developed a meaningful positive relationship with the keyboarding teacher in middle school whom cared for the participant and ensured she was on the right track. FM228: Participant had a positive meaningful relationship with her gym teacher	Positive Adult Relationships	Positive Influence

who the participant felt was straightforward with the students. FM230: Participant had a positive meaningful relationship with her school counselor whom supported her with her schedule and attendance. FM231: Participant had a positive meaningful relationship with the assistant principal whom participant supported in calming down the participant's brother when he was upset. FM250: Participant bonded with the assistant principal and felt he was supportive of her. FM251: High school coach was positive influence on participant. FM252: High school coach was well loved and pushed participant hard, having a positive influence on her. FM253: High school coach ensured participant was on the right track, having a positive influence. FM254: History teacher created a positive learning environment. FM255: Coach provided a positive message to track team and encouraged participant with conditioning. Also, ensured participant was doing okay at home as well.		
FM11: Peer relationships during school were important to the participant and maintained a positive childhood relationship into adulthood. FM69: Participant had a positive peer relationship while in high school. FM167: Parent had a positive, peer relationship in high school. FM192: Parent feels she did well in school and developed meaningful relationships with peers and maintains some of those relationships currently. FM198: Peer relationships were important to the participant in school. FM232: Participant had a positive start to high school due to peer relationships.	Positive Peer Relationships	
FM2: The positive value of education is acknowledged due to parent's background and the parent feels his education was a positive one overall. FM8: Parent perceived education to be important to his parent and exposed to learning materials in the home. FM10: Participant was raised by a parent that valued education. FM68: Participant's caregiver encouraged school success and participant's parent was knowledgeable of participant's activities and friendships. FM76: Parents presence plays a vital role in the overall wellbeing of children. FM89: Parent uses previously learned strategies to support child. FM94: Participants overall feeling toward personal education is positive and feels her mom provided a stable home life. FM95: Participant had a consistent school and was not transient. FM104: Parent had stable housing for many years. FM118: Parent took on the role of homeschooling children during COVID-19 pandemic. FM124: Parent took on the role of teacher during the school shut down due to COVID-19 and exposed her child to chapter books. FM177: Parent supports son by watching educational videos. FM180: Parent participates in educational opportunities as much as possible. FM181: Parent participates in educational opportunities as much as possible. FM186: When not working, parent participated with school even when she had a lack of transportation.	Positive Parent Support	Transmitting Values

	1	
FM196: Participant's parents were involved in the participant education and ensured that school work was put first before other things. FM197: Father and older sister were very involved in participant's education and participated in school activities with the participant but Mom lived out of town and participated minimally. FM212: Participant attended field day. FM213: Participant attended conferences to discuss the academic progress of child. FM280: Parent supports child with academic work if help is requested by the child.		
FM85: Parent values education and wants to see the child graduate and continue education and get a good job. FM120: Participant values a solid education and wants to ensure her children know the value of a solid education. FM126: Parent wants to be involved in every aspect of the child's life including education. Parent values open communication with children. FM134: Parent wants children to graduate from school and pursue a career with a solid financial path. FM135: Parent views school as an extension of the family. FM136: Parent views school as a second family. FM178: Parent feels it is important to be there for the child as much as possible. FM183: Parent wants child to graduate and get all the education he can. FM184: Parent wants school to treat her child as if he was their child. FM217: Parent wants child to do his best in school and focus on learning while in school. FM218: Parent wants child to continue his education at college after graduating from high school. Parent expresses to the child that if you work hard in school and behave then the child may be awarded a college scholarship. Parent wants child to focus while in school and play and have fun while at home. Parent wants child to go to college after high school. FM219: Parent wants school personnel to do their job and let the parent know if there are any problems and any ways she can help. Parent wants school to keep her child safe and let her know if there are problems. If there are problems parent wants to hear this from the school versus the child. FM220: Parent feels it is important to maintain an open line of communication with the school. FM262: Parent wants to graduate and be a positive role model for children. FM270: Parent wants for the child to do what is needed each day and enjoy elementary school. FM274: Parent expects school personnel to keep kids safe. FM275: Participant wants for there to be two way respect between students/parents and school personnel. FM277: Parent expects school to supervise children and keep them safe.	Parent's View of Education	
FM47: Participant notes you cannot make an individual be involved with their child. It has to be a personal choice. FM50: Educators need to put forth more effort to connect with the students. FM137: Parent notes that some parents are lazy and do not put forth the effort in relation to school support. FM138: Parent feels that schooling will be better for children when discipline and education begin at home. FM139: Participant feels education is a partnership and	Feelings	

supportive parenting begins in the home. <b>FM185:</b> Parent indicates that some parents are lazy and others have different reasons for not wanting to participate with the school.		
FM30: Parent noticed many parents did not focus on education during the school shutdown. FM31: Parent is concerned about the impact COVID-19 will have on the educational progress of children. FM223: Parent expressed concern about the next school year due to the COVID-19 pandemic and she is uncertain of how that is going to pan out. FM264: Parent feels that school can provide better suggestions for parents to support the child. Additionally, positive feedback is needed rather than always providing negative feedback. FM265: Parent feels Chromebooks allow for distractions to children learning content. FM267: Parent has attended a couple of school events but feels that the school often asks for money. The parent feels the school should not ask for money. FM268: Parent has negative feelings toward school and feels there's a lot of negative communication instead of positive communication. FM269: Parent feels communication at the school can be improved. Proactive communication may prevent negative student consequences. FM273: Parent has difficulty trusting school personnel. FM276: Parent feels school personnel's perspective is valued over student's perspective.	Parent Educational Concerns	
FM24: Parent exposes grandson to conversations in the home and provides discipline when needed. FM25: Parent engages in homework opportunities with the child. FM26: Parent is aware of the learning opportunities in the classroom. FM28: Parent is aware of the learning concepts and engages in homework opportunities with the child. FM125: Parent provides child access to educational games. FM177: Parent supports son by watching educational videos.	Educational Awareness	Parent Partners
FM27: Parent communicates with the child's teachers. FM29: Parent talks with the teacher and is available to support the school team. FM32: Parent attended a few school events involving the child. FM77: Parent uses various formats to engage with teacher. FM78: Home visit was important to family teacher relationship. FM79: Teacher visited family's home to support student's learning. FM80: Parent attends activities at the school. FM82: School maintains open lines of communication. FM87: Parent attends activities at the school. FM88: Parent uses various formats to engage with teacher including Class Dojo. FM129: Communication with the school includes utilizing the Class Dojo app. FM130: Phone calls with the school are important and parent engages with teachers this way. FM179: Parent communicates with the school by using the Class Dojo app. FM181: Parent participates in educational opportunities as much as possible. FM182: Parent has overall positive feelings toward child's school and feels school keeps her informed and school communicates by phone. FM214:		

Parent communicates with the teachers using an app called Class Dojo. <b>FM263:</b> Parent feels weekly contact with the school personnel is important. <b>FM266:</b> Parent uses the Class Dojo app to communicate with school personnel. <b>FM279:</b> Parent does not prefer communicating with school personnel by phone call.		
FM66: Birth parents were not involved in participant's education but foster parent was. Participant experienced an adverse childhood experience when placed in foster care at age 8. FM113: Parent was raised in a single parent home with an absent father. FM114: Parent feels her relationship with her mother was not as close as she hoped. FM156: Personal issues at home negatively impacted school success. FM158: Home life situation negatively impacted school success. FM160: Participant had an absent father and mother did not participate in education. FM166: Parent felt overwhelmed by the academic expectations and decided to take her GED. Participant did not feel supported by her parent. FM241: Participant's parent became unsupportive of the participant. FM247: Participant was negatively impacted due to an absent mother. FM257: Participant's adverse living arrangement caused her to stop going to school because she would not be at her mother's house and would not have a way to get to school.	Lack of Caregiver Support	Disengaged Caregiver
FM3: Parent experienced obstacles during youth but feels his educational experience was a positive one overall. FM63: Parent experienced obstacles during youth which included negative peer relationships. FM65: Parent experienced obstacles during youth which included hanging with the wrong crowd. FM237: Negative peer relationships impacted participants' academic performance and school attendance. FM238: Adverse life experiences and negative peer relationships impacted participant's school attendance resulting in the student being truant. FM242: Negative peer relationships negatively impacted her success with school.	Negative Peer Relationships	Adverse Situations
FM14: Participant has an extensive history with criminal conduct. FM240: Participant engaged in the adverse behavior of selling drugs while an adolescent.	Criminal Conduct	
FM115: Parent experienced adverse life experiences which created barriers for her own education advancement. FM119: Adverse life experiences constantly prevent her from obtaining her educational goals. FM173: Parent engaged in skill development for business but became pregnant with her son and stopped attending classes. FM207: Participant is interested in furthering her education but this is challenging due to home life and work balance. FM259: Participant further education by enrolling in CDL school. She was unable to finish her training because her vehicle broke down.	Barriers	

FM145: Parent had a positive experience in early elementary school until participant's parent became very transient beginning in fourth grade. FM150: Participant had difficulty fitting in after transitioning to a new school and got in school suspension. FM157: Middle school grades were impacted adversely by home situation.FM164: Parent dropped out of school in 10th grade. Participant was motivated to get a job and her earn own money.  Additionally, parent did not want to transfer to a different high school. FM165: Parent was behind academically and was placed in alternative school to work to catch her up but the parent became frustrated with the excessive biology work packet. FM203: Participant had a discipline issue which resulted in administration recommending for the participant to attend another school. Participant's feelings towards this recommendation were not favorable. FM236: Participant's school attendance was inconsistent and resulted in truancy but she completed her missed work. FM238: Adverse life experiences and negative peer relationships impacted participant's school attendance resulting in the student being truant. FM239: Participant had poor school attendance. FM240: Participant engaged in the adverse behavior of selling drugs while an adolescent. Participant's parent became unsupportive of the participant. FM244: Participant stopped going to school because family was unable to pay tuition to remain at the school and participant did not want to transfer to a new school. FM245: Participant experienced an adverse life experience when the participant's parent told her she would have to move out of the house due to there not being enough room.	Unfavorable Circumstances	
FM1: The COVID-19 pandemic impacted the parent financially and he is currently unemployed. FM15: Parent experienced difficulty obtaining a job. FM16: Parent has experience with several entry level positions. FM56: Parent is currently laid off due to COVID-19 pandemic. Parent had dependable work prior to the layoff. FM73: Participant had several entry level positions. FM92: Parent is currently unemployed. FM112: Participant had several entry level positions. FM171: After completing the career technical program, job attainment was problematic and the participant did not renew her certification. FM172: Parent had several entry level jobs and two managerial jobs. FM258: Participant had many entry level jobs.	Lack of Stable Job	
<b>FM7:</b> Parent experienced obstacles during youth including financial instability resulting in parent looking to the streets for a resolution. <b>FM246:</b> Participant was forced to get a job and fend for herself.	Financial Hardships	